

### OECD Environment Working Papers No. 223

Climate change mitigation scenarios for financial sector target setting and alignment assessment: A stocktake and analysis of their Paris consistency, practicality, and assumptions

Jolien Noels, Coline Pouille, Raphaël Jachnik, Marcia Rocha

https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/bcd25b82-en







### For Official Use

English - Or. English 26 September 2023

### **ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE**

# Climate change mitigation scenarios for financial sector target setting and alignment assessment: A stocktake and analysis of their Paris-consistency, practicality and assumptions

### **Environment Working Paper No. 223**

By Jolien Noels (1), Coline Pouille (1), Raphaël Jachnik (1) and Marcia Rocha (1)

(1) OECD Environment Directorate

OECD Working Papers should not be reported as representing the official views of the OECD or its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed are those of the authors.

Authorised for publication by Jo Tyndall, Director, Environment Directorate

Keywords: Climate change mitigation scenarios, investment, finance, climate alignment assessments, net zero target setting, greenhouse gas emissions.

JEL Codes: G23, G24, Q54, Q56.

Contacts: Jolien Noels (jolien.noels@oecd.org) Coline Pouille (coline.pouille@oecd.org) Raphaël Jachnik (raphael.jachnik@oecd.org) Marcia Rocha (marcia.rocha@oecd.org)

JT03527284

### OECD ENVIRONMENT WORKING PAPERS

OECD Working Papers should not be reported as representing the official views of the OECD or of its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed are those of the author(s). Working Papers describe preliminary results or research in progress by the author(s) and are published to stimulate discussion on a broad range of issues on which the OECD works.

This series is designed to make available to a wider readership selected studies on environmental issues prepared for use within the OECD. Authorship is usually collective, but principal author(s) are named. The papers are generally available only in their original language – English or French – with a summary in the other language.

Comments on Working Papers are welcomed, and may be sent to:

OECD Environment Directorate 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France or by email: <u>env.contact@oecd.org</u> OECD Environment Working Papers are published on <u>www.oecd.org/environment/workingpapers.htm</u> as well as on the OECD iLibrary (<u>www.oecdilibrary.org</u>)

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

Note by Republic of Türkiye: The information in this document with reference to "Cyprus" relates to the southern part of the Island. There is no single authority representing both Turkish and Greek Cypriot people on the Island. Türkiye recognises the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC). Until a lasting and equitable solution is found within the context of the United Nations, Türkiye shall preserve its position concerning the "Cyprus issue".

Note by all the European Union Member States of the OECD and the European Union: The Republic of Cyprus is recognised by all members of the United Nations with the exception of Turkey. The information in this document relates to the area under the effective control of the Government of the Republic of Cyprus.

### © OECD (2023)

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of OECD as source and copyright owner is given.

All requests for commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to rights@oecd.org.

# Abstract

This paper analyses climate change mitigation scenarios used in the financial sector for setting climaterelated targets and assessing alignment with the Paris Agreement. Based on three analytical dimensions reflecting perspectives of different stakeholders, the analysis highlights that: (i) only very few of analysed scenarios fulfil all criteria of the Paris-consistency framework relied on for this study; (ii) current limited geographical and sectoral granularity requires financial sector users to make further assumptions to address gaps; (iii) users do not always have sufficient information on uncertainties relating to scenario assumptions and feasibility. The paper identifies opportunities for improved design and use of climate change mitigation scenarios for target setting and alignment assessments in the financial sector. Scenario providers could improve the sectoral and geographical coverage and granularity of scenarios, more comprehensively disclose climate outcomes of scenarios, and propose harmonised sets of underlying assumptions. Financial sector users should apply a Paris-consistency framework when selecting scenarios and could consider the relevance of relying on more than one scenario. Climate policy makers can contribute to the granularity of global scenarios by developing national sector-specific scenarios, and help reduce scenario uncertainty by providing climate policy certainty and specificity in their jurisdiction.

**Keywords**: Climate change mitigation scenarios, investment, finance, climate alignment assessments, net-zero target setting, greenhouse gas emissions.

JEL Codes: G23, G24, Q54, Q56.

# Résumé

Ce rapport analyse les scénarios d'atténuation du changement climatique utilisés dans le secteur financier pour fixer des objectifs liés au climat et évaluer l'alignement avec l'Accord de Paris. L'analyse est basée sur trois dimensions reflétant les perspectives de différentes parties prenantes, et met en évidence que: (i) très peu des scénarios analysés remplissent l'ensemble des critères de cohérences avec l'Accord de Paris utilisés pour cette étude; (ii) la granularité géographique et sectorielle limitée actuelle oblige les utilisateurs du secteur financier à formuler des hypothèses supplémentaires pour combler les lacunes; (iii) les utilisateurs ne disposent pas toujours d'informations suffisantes sur les incertitudes liées aux hypothèses et à la faisabilité des scénarios. Le rapport identifie des possibilités pour améliorer la conception et l'utilisation des scénarios d'atténuation du changement climatique pour la fixation d'objectifs liés au climat et les évaluations d'alignement dans le secteur financier. Les fournisseurs de scénarios pourraient améliorer la couverture sectorielle et géographique et la granularité des scénarios, divulguer de manière plus complète les résultats climatiques des scénarios et proposer des ensembles harmonisés d'hypothèses sous-jacentes. Les utilisateurs du secteur financier devraient appliquer un cadre de cohérence avec l'Accord de Paris lors de la sélection des scénarios, et pourraient envisager de s'appuyer sur plus d'un scénario. Les responsables de politiques climatiques peuvent contribuer à la granularité des scénarios mondiaux en élaborant des scénarios sectoriels nationaux, et aider à réduire l'incertitude des scénarios en apportant certitude et spécificité en matière de politique climatique au sein de leur juridiction.

**Mots-clés**: Scénarios d'atténuation du changement climatique, investissement, financement, évaluations de l'alignement sur le climat, fixation d'un objectif net zéro, émissions de gaz à effet de serre.

Codes JEL: G23, G24, Q54, Q56.

# Acknowledgments

This work is the result of a collaboration between the Finance, Investment and Global Relations (FIG) division (Finance for Climate Action team) and the Climate, Biodiversity and Water (CBW) division (Climate Quantitative Assessment team), within the OECD Environment Directorate. The paper was authored by Jolien Noels, Coline Pouille, Raphaël Jachnik and Marcia Rocha, under the supervision of Krzysztof Michalak, Acting Head of the FIG Division, and Walid Oueslati, Acting Head of the CBW Division.

This work is part of the Programme of Work and Budget of the OECD Environment Policy Committee (EPOC) on sustainable finance, and more specifically on "Assessing the consistency of finance with climate mitigation and resilience policy goals: definitions, data, methodologies and their applications". The analysis contributes to the body of work of the Research Collaborative on Tracking Finance for Climate Action, an OECD-led technical research platform to advance and share knowledge for improving the tracking and assessment of climate-relevant finance, including to inform finance-related discussions under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).

The study benefited from:

- Feedback, comments and/or suggestions from OECD colleagues: Aimée Aguilari Aber, Geraldine Ang, Joseph Cordonnier, Jane Ellis, Edoardo Falchi, Sirini Jeudy-Hugo, Hugh Miller, Michael Mullan, Deger Saygin, Elia Trippel, Toon Vandyck, Robert Youngman (Environment Directorate), Juan Pavajeau Fuentes, Catriona Marshall (Directorate for Financial and Enterprise Affairs), Giorgio Gualberti (Development Co-operation Directorate), Pieter Parmentier, Cécile Seguineaud (Directorate for Science, Technology and Innovation).
- Oral feedback and written comments from OECD member countries on both an initial scoping note and a complete draft.
- Data inputs, consultations and reviews with the following providers of climate change mitigation scenarios: the International Energy Agency (IEA), the University of Technology of Sydney's Institute for Sustainable Futures (UTS-ISF), the European Commission's Joint Research Centre (JRC), the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (NGFS).
- Oral feedback or written review, in personal capacity, from the following experts: Franck Lecocq (CIRED), Joeri Rogelj (Grantham Institute/Imperial College London), Dia Desia (HSBC), Nicholas Dodd and George Harris (Rocky Mountain Institute), Jesica Andrews (UNEP FI).

# **Table of contents**

Abstract	3
Résumé	4
Acknowledgments	5
Executive summary	9
1 Introduction 1.1. Context and concepts 1.2. Objectives and scope	<b>11</b> 12 16
<ul> <li>2 Climate change mitigation scenarios in scope and analytical approach</li> <li>2.1. Climate change mitigation scenarios used in financial sector climate target setting and alignment assessment</li> <li>2.2. Analytical perspectives and dimensions</li> </ul>	18 18 22
3 Are climate change mitigation scenarios consistent with the Paris Agreement? 3.1. Framework to assess the Paris consistency of climate change mitigation scenarios 3.2. Application of the Paris consistency framework to scenarios in use in the financial sector 3.3. Implications for the use of scenarios in finance	25 25 27 34
<ul> <li>4 Are climate change mitigation scenarios fit-for-purpose for use in the financial sector?</li> <li>4.1. Considerations relating to the applicability of climate change mitigation scenarios for use in the financial sector</li> <li>4.2. Sectoral scope and granularity</li> <li>4.3. Geographical scope and granularity</li> <li>4.4. Emissions scope and granularity</li> <li>4.5. Temporal scope and granularity</li> <li>4.6. Implications for the use of scenarios in the financial sector</li> </ul>	36 36 42 47 48 49
<ul> <li>5 What are the characteristics of mitigation strategies and assumptions of climate change mitigation scenarios?</li> <li>5.1. Overview of key dimensions of mitigation strategies and assumptions</li> <li>5.2. Mitigation strategies in climate scenarios and associated feasibility considerations</li> <li>5.3. Underlying assumptions and uncertainties in mitigation scenarios</li> <li>5.4. Implications for the use of scenarios in finance</li> </ul>	51 51 54 58 63

### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 7

<ul> <li>6 Conclusions and recommendations</li> <li>6.1. Bridging information gaps: current practices and challenges</li> <li>6.2. Potential actions for improved scenario design and use for the financial sector</li> </ul>	66 66 68
References	71
Annex A. Description and objectives of scenarios used in climate-related analyses in the financial sector	82
Annex B. Scope and granularity of emissions pathways and underlying model resolution of scenario models currently relied on in climate-related analyses in the financial sector	84
Annex C. Additional figures and tables	88

### Tables

Table 2.1. Main global climate change mitigation scenarios for below 2°C used by climate alignment assessments of finance	20
Table 3.1. Considerations and criteria for assessing the Paris consistency of global climate change mitigation	
scenarios	26
Table 3.2. Key temperature and emissions outcomes of climate change mitigation scenarios	29
Table 3.3. Synthesis of the assessment of scenarios based on five criteria reflecting the Paris Agreement	
objectives	30
Table 4.1. Overview of sectoral scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways and model	37
Table 4.2. Overview of geographic scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways	42
Table 4.3. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of publicly-disclosed emissions pathways	47
Table 4.4. Overview of temporal scope and granularity of publicly-disclosed emissions pathways	48
Table 5.1. Feasibility assessment of scenarios' mitigation strategies	57
Table 5.2. Policy assumptions in selected climate change mitigation scenarios	60
Table A A.1. Description and objective of scenarios in use in finance alignment assessments	82
Table A B.1. Sectoral scope and granularity for emissions pathways	84
Table A B.2. Geographic scope and granularity of models used	86
Table A B.3. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways	87
Table A B.4. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways	87
Table A C.1. Socio-economic assumption sources	88
Table A C.2. CCS and CDR options represented by models	88
Table A C.3. IPCC framework for assessment of the feasibility of mitigation scenarios	88

### Figures

Figure 2.1. Main global GHG or $CO_2$ emissions pathways from scenarios used in climate-alignment assessments of finance with scope differences	21
Figure 2.2. Dimensions for analysing climate change mitigation scenarios used in climate-alignment	
assessments of finance	23
Figure 3.1. Reference envelopes of scenarios that fulfil Paris-consistency criteria	27
Figure 3.2. Relative weight of GHG emissions per source and gas type	31
Figure 3.3. Paris consistency of global climate change mitigation scenarios	32
Figure 3.4. Year of net-zero CO <sub>2</sub> and net-zero GHG emissions in scenarios used in alignment assessments of	
finance and in Paris-consistent envelopes	34
Figure 4.1. Industry sub-sectoral energy-related CO <sub>2</sub> emissions pathways across scenarios	38
Figure 4.2. Translation of economic sector NACE classification to Climate Policy Relevant Sectors	40
Figure 4.3. Illustration of Scope considerations for a reporting company	40

Figure 4.4. Geographically granular GHG emissions pathways for China, France, South Africa, US Figure 5.1. Summary of dimensions for the assessment of mitigation strategies and assumptions of climate	45
change mitigation scenarios	53
Figure 5.2. Mitigation strategies across scenarios	55
Figure 5.3. Socio-economic assumptions in selected scenarios	59
Figure 5.4. Carbon prices in selected scenarios	61
Figure 5.5. Assumptions on capital costs for solar PV in the EU	62
Figure A C.1. Sectoral CO <sub>2</sub> emissions pathways across scenarios Figure A C.2. UTS-ISF OECM NZE industrial sub-sector emissions pathways	89 90

### **Boxes**

Box 1.1. Scenarios, pathways and models	14
Box 2.1. Further considerations for using mitigation scenarios for risk management and stress testing	24
Box 3.1. Anthropogenic emissions sources of different GHGs	31
Box 4.1. Using mitigation scenarios as input to non-GHG metrics of climate change mitigation performance	41
Box 4.2. Individual sector emissions pathways: example for the steel sector	41
Box 4.3. Global scenarios and national scenarios	44
Box 4.4. Granularity across scenario dimensions	47
Box 5.1. Mitigation scenarios and sustainability goals	58

# **Executive summary**

**Climate change mitigation scenarios are a key forward-looking input for a range of financial sector climate-related analyses and assessments.** These include setting climate-related targets, developing climate transition plans, and designing metrics to assess progress towards alignment with a low greenhouse gas emissions pathway, as called for by Article 2.1c of the Paris Agreement. This in turn can inform assessments of progress towards the goals of the Paris Agreement, including UNFCCC Global Stocktakes. Although not the focus of this study, these scenarios are also used to assess the potential impact of the climate transition on financial activities, i.e. analysis of climate-related transition risks and opportunities, as well as stress testing at both the institution level and from a macroprudential perspective.

Climate change mitigation scenarios were not initially designed for use in the financial sector, but evidence shows that many climate-related metrics and analyses in the financial sector rely on and are highly sensitive to the choice and characteristics of such scenarios. In turn, the inaccurate use of mitigation scenarios can contribute significantly to unintended incentives, environmental integrity concerns, and greenwashing risks in methodologies and metrics used to assess and report the climate change mitigation performance of the financial sector.

This paper aims to inform climate change mitigation scenario providers, financial sector participants and stakeholders, and climate policymakers on how they may contribute to improved use of scenarios in climate-related target setting and alignment assessments in the financial sector. To do so, the analysis takes stock of a selection of climate change mitigation scenarios commonly used for these purposes and qualified as net zero, 1.5°C or below 2°C by scenario providers. The four providers of these scenarios are: the European Commission's Joint Research Centre (JRC), the Sydney University of Technology's Institute for Sustainable Futures (UTS-ISF), the International Energy Agency (IEA), and the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (NGFS).

The analysis identifies common practices and gaps by investigating the scenarios' consistency with the Paris Agreement, practicality, and underlying assumptions, i.e. degree of consistency with the agreement's long-term temperature goal and emission reduction objective; applicability in the financial sector, notably in terms of sectoral and geographical granularity; characteristics of mitigation strategies and input assumptions, including in relation to feasibility and uncertainty.

None of the scenarios that providers currently qualify as net zero, 1.5°C or below 2°C are assessed as fully consistent with stringent interpretations of all five criteria of the Paris-consistency framework relied on for this study. Following a relatively less stringent interpretation, only very few scenarios are assessed as fully consistent, noting that some providers do not disclose sufficient and comparable data to allow for a full assessment. The five criteria, proposed in the complementary paper "Paris-consistent climate change mitigation scenarios: A framework for emissions pathway classification in line with global mitigation objectives", ensure that temperature increase is limited to 1.5°C, with no or very limited overshoot throughout the century, with rapid peaking of GHG emissions and reaching net-zero GHG emissions in the second half of the century. Evidence from climate science highlights that such level of ambition is needed to reduce future impacts of climate change, including risks of crossing climate tipping points and, as a result, also the scale of financial losses and instability.

Current limitations and gaps in the design, scope and granularity of scenarios, mainly in terms of sector and geography, restrict their applicability in the financial sector, and can have possible unwanted portfolio allocation implications, including risks of carbon lock in. First, a complex mapping is needed to address the mismatch between economic sector classifications used in corporate and financial accounting and broad sector classifications that underpin scenario modelling. Second, pathway modelling or disclosure for several high-emitting subsectors commonly found in financial portfolios are still missing. Third, as sectoral and geographic granularity of scenarios is currently often insufficient for analyses at the level of individual financial assets, asset classes and portfolios, significant assumptions need to be made to downscale available scenario output data. In the absence of international consensus on burden sharing, such assumptions can raise further equity concerns across the jurisdictions that investors and financial institutions may be active in, including developing countries where data is more limited and hence uncertainties larger.

Ambitious scenarios imply rapid scaling-up of different mitigation options, some of which involve trade-offs, uncertainties, and feasibility challenges that the financial sector needs to understand to set targets and design transition plans, but that it cannot address on its own. This relates for instance to phasing out fossil fuels, scaling up renewable energy, and increasing energy efficiency and electrification. Furthermore, mitigation strategies and GHG emission pathways provided by climate change mitigation scenarios are determined by various socio-economic, technology and policy assumptions. For example, global scenarios either assume a uniform carbon price or only make broad differentiations between developed and developing countries, thus failing to provide a realistic proxy for overall climate policy intensity in specific jurisdictions and sectors. However, as multiple scenarios may lead to similar climate outcomes based on different mitigation options and assumptions, financial sector users of scenarios can consider the possibility of using more than one scenario as input, to capture a range of potential options and to reflect inherent uncertainties.

Climate scenario providers, financial market stakeholders and climate policy makers can contribute to the improved design and use of mitigation scenarios for climate-related target setting and alignment assessments in the financial sector. Scenario providers could standardise the formulation of climate outcomes of their scenarios, disclose scenario variables and climate outcomes, develop harmonised sets of input assumptions, and enhance the scope and granularity of their models to the extent possible with available granular data. Users of scenarios in the financial sector should select Paris-consistent scenarios and could consider the relevance of relying on more than one scenario, identify scenarios that provide the sectoral and geographical scope and granularity closest to the characteristics of specific financial assets and asset classes, as well as understand and transparently communicate climate outcomes and uncertainties of the scenarios they select. Climate policymakers can promote standardised disclosure of scenario-based targets and alignment assessments. They can also contribute to the granularity of global scenarios and data by developing national sector-specific scenario and data, as well as help to reduce scenario uncertainty by providing climate policy certainty and specificity within their jurisdiction, which could include sector-specific mitigation targets.

The feasibility of scenario outcomes and of investors' assessments and decisions based on such scenarios ultimately depends on the credibility and effective implementation of ambitious climate policies. The potential actions outlined in this paper are technical in nature but can be viewed within the broader policy and investment environment that can increase or reduce scenario uncertainty. The financial sector can proactively invest in climate solutions and the climate transition, thereby significantly contributing to the viability of more mitigation options and strategies by bringing down technology costs and increasing technology roll-out. At the same time, public policy retains a central role in increasing the overall feasibility and financial viability of the climate transition. Scenarios that keep global warming at 1.5°C (with 50% likelihood by end of century), all assume ambitious and immediate mitigation actions and entail feasibility challenges that need to be addressed with appropriate policies.



Reaching the Paris Agreement's temperature goal implies rapid and profound transformations in all economic sectors, which in turn requires actions by all economic actors, including in the financial sector (IPCC,  $2022_{[1]}$ ). On the one hand, the financial sector needs to manage potential transition risks from such transformations (TCFD,  $2017_{[2]}$ ). On the other hand, it has a major role to play in investing in and financing the required transformation and transition of the economy.

In this context, financial sector stakeholders are increasingly relying on climate change mitigation scenarios as a key forward-looking input for different climate-related analyses. There are a range of different use case (Täger and Dikau, 2023<sub>[3]</sub>), but they can be broadly summarised in two groups:

- Use cases that consider the impact of climate change mitigation-related policies and transformations on the financial sector: Climate change mitigation scenarios are used to conduct climate-related transition risk assessments and stress testing exercises at both institutional and macroprudential levels (ECB, 2022<sub>[4]</sub>; FSB, 2022<sub>[5]</sub>; TCFD, 2017<sub>[6]</sub>; Sustainable Fitch, 2023<sub>[7]</sub>). While not the primary focus of this study, these use cases play an important role in influencing financial sector investment and portfolio allocation decisions.
- Use cases that consider the role and impact of financial sector activities towards reducing GHG emissions and reaching climate mitigation policy goals: Climate change mitigation scenarios are used to develop and set GHG reduction or net-zero targets (SBTi, 2021<sub>[8]</sub>) and climate transition plans (OECD, 2022<sub>[9]</sub>), as well as to assess the extent to which such targets and plans, and progress towards them, are aligned with climate mitigation policy goals, most notably the Paris Agreement temperature goal (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Such use cases are the focus of this study and can help inform aggregate-level assessments of the contribution of the financial sector to meeting climate policy goals, including in the context of UNFCCC Global Stocktakes.

Previous research found that the selection of a mitigation scenario is a key methodological dimension influencing the results of existing methodologies to assess the alignment of financial assets and portfolios with the Paris Agreement temperature goal (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). However, they were not initially designed with the financial sector in mind. This results in challenges, for instance, in terms of matching scenario and financial data at a granular level and of understanding the implications of the assumptions and uncertainties relating to the design and use of scenarios in finance (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>).

Against this backdrop, the aim of this analysis is to contribute to bridging the potential information, co-ordination and knowledge gaps between: the climate science community developing climate change mitigation scenarios; financial market participants using such scenarios; and climate policymakers overseeing the environmental integrity of climate-related assessments of finance. To do so, and with above-mentioned focus on the role of scenarios in informing financial sector target setting and alignment assessments, the analysis covers climate change mitigation scenarios currently commonly used in the financial sector for such purpose. The analytical approach considers the following three main complementary dimensions:

• The extent to which these scenarios can be considered as consistent with the Paris Agreement temperature goal and long term GHG emission objectives. In doing so the analysis applies criteria and an analytical framework developed in a parallel paper (Pouille et al., 2023[11]).

- The applicability of the scenarios for analysing the climate mitigation performance of financial assets and portfolios, which notably implies the availability of scenario data and information for specific sectors and sub-sectors as well as specific geographics.
- The characteristics of the mitigation strategies and input assumptions that underpin the scenarios.

Across these three dimensions, the analysis identifies challenges and opportunities related to the use of climate mitigation scenarios with the aim to inform climate policy makers, climate scenario providers, climate-related assessment methodology providers and financial market stakeholders on how they each and collectively may contribute to improved design and use of mitigation scenarios in financial sector climate-related target setting and alignment assessments.

### **1.1. Context and concepts**

In 2015, amid growing awareness of the role of the financial sector in the climate transition, the Paris Agreement established a goal of "making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and climate-resilient development" (UNFCCC, 2015<sub>[12]</sub>). This formulation contributed to the development of the concept of "climate alignment" (or "misalignment") of investments and financing activities by both public and private institutions, and of transition finance. These concepts form part of broader developments of green and sustainable finance, which respectively consider other environmental priorities beyond climate change, as well as social and human rights aspects.

Since the adoption of the Paris Agreement, an increasing number of national and subnational governments, as well as financial and non-financial corporates and organisations have set goals or targets to align their activities with the Paris Agreement's climate change mitigation objectives (NewClimate Institute, 2022<sub>[13]</sub>; Jeudy-Hugo, Lo Re and Falduto, 2021<sub>[14]</sub>; SBTi, 2022<sub>[15]</sub>). In the financial sector, this is often done through international voluntary coalitions. For example, the UN-convened Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA) brings together global asset owners who commit to "*transitioning their investment portfolios to net-zero GHG emissions by 2050 consistent with a maximum temperature rise of 1.5°C*" (UNEP FI, 2022<sub>[16]</sub>). Similar coalitions to contribute to the achievement of the Paris Agreement were launched for banks (UNEP FI, 2022<sub>[17]</sub>), asset managers, insurers, and other financial market participants. In 2021, the Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ) brought together such existing and new initiatives supporting net-zero emissions in the financial sector (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>).<sup>1</sup> In the context of macroprudential stress-testing and considerations, some early regulatory efforts are also exploring recommending specific scenarios (Nieto and Papathanassiou, 2023<sub>[19]</sub>).

### 1.1.1. Methodologies for climate target setting and alignment assessment in the financial sector

Climate change mitigation scenarios provide reference pathways for target setting methodologies, notably in the context of the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi), which works with companies to define a path to reduce emissions in line with the Paris Agreement goals. Pathways used by the SBTi are "determined based on a combination of science and principled judgements that aim to steer voluntary climate action and contribute to achieving the aims of the Paris Agreement and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)" (SBTi, 2021<sub>[20]</sub>). Mitigation scenarios inform the design of targets by setting baselines to define the magnitude and timing of emissions reductions (SBTi, 2020<sub>[21]</sub>). Climate-related financial coalitions encourage their members, such as banks and asset owners, to use what they refer to (without necessarily clearly defining the terms and their implications) as "science-based" climate change mitigation scenarios

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In 2022, this included 500 financial institutions representing around 40% of global private financial assets, who have committed to the goal of net zero by 2050.

to set their long-term and intermediate targets (UNEP FI, 2021<sub>[22]</sub>; NZAOA, 2021<sub>[23]</sub>), as well as to help define how corporate strategies may respond to net-zero transformations (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[24]</sub>).

Once targets are set, actual progress by financial institutions and economic players underlying the assets they own, need to be assessed with respect to their transition towards reaching their target and alignment with the Paris Agreement goals. Assessing the alignment of a financial portfolio or asset requires making a range of methodological assumptions, including to downscale, either explicitly or implicitly, the Paris Agreement's global temperature goal to the level of financial institutions, financial assets, and the economic sectors, actors or countries underlying those assets. Since there is no agreed or unique way of doing so, financial market participants, stakeholders and researchers have developed methodologies for climate-alignment assessment.

Climate-alignment assessment methodologies provide specific indicators to assess the alignment of financial portfolios and assets (e.g. equity, bonds), based on the performance of the underlying real-economy actors and assets (e.g. companies, countries, infrastructure) with the Paris Agreement mitigation objectives (Noels and Jachnik,  $2022_{[10]}$ ). They typically calculate the current climate performance level of a given financial portfolio or asset and project it forward using the climate-related target disclosed by the financial firm or underlying economic actor. Such trajectory is then compared to the required performance level of a climate change mitigation scenario pathway, at given points in time or in cumulative.

However, there is evidence that results of climate alignment assessments vary significantly depending on the reference point, i.e. scenario used (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>; Jachnik and Dobrinevski, 2021<sub>[25]</sub>; Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[26]</sub>; Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[27]</sub>; Schwegler et al., 2022<sub>[28]</sub>). Different providers of climate-alignment assessment methodologies may choose different climate change mitigation scenarios (each coming with different underlying assumptions), as well as make different methodological assumptions and choices, including on techniques to downscale a scenario to the level of granularity needed for asset level analyses, and the year in which performance is compared. As a result, the selection and application of a given climate change mitigation scenario greatly influences the alignment result.

### 1.1.2. Climate change mitigation scenarios

Climate change mitigation scenarios translate medium- and long-term temperature and emissions goals (e.g., 1.5°C end-of-century global temperature increase, net-zero global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by 2050) into GHG reduction pathways. Different scenarios explore how different mitigation policies and strategies allow to reach GHG emissions pathways consistent with climate change mitigation goals, typically compared to so-called "business as usual" scenarios, which assume no climate policies are implemented than those already in place or about to be introduced (Riahi, 2022[29]). Starting with underlying assumptions about the development of socio-economic processes (e.g. GDP and population developments) and of technological change (e.g. solar and wind capacity developments, and their respective costs), climate change mitigation scenarios model different climate policy choices impact changes primarily in energy use, land use and GHG emissions (IPCC, 2022[30]) (see Box 1.1). In doing so, such scenarios may take either an economy-wide approach by looking at interactions and resulting emissions across all sectors of the economy (Riahi, 2022[29]), or a sectoral approach and focus on a subset of the system, for example, the energy sector and energy-related emissions as is the case for the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2021[31]). While many climate change mitigation scenarios have a global coverage, some focus on a specific country or region. Furthermore, national scenarios are regularly produced to explore how a specific country can reach its climate mitigation goals.

### Box 1.1. Scenarios, pathways and models

This paper refers to a **climate mitigation scenario** as the coherent set of quantitative projected pathways which are based on an explicit or implicit narrative describing a possible future world and translated as assumptions inputted into models. Depending on their complexity and scope, climate scenarios may include internally consistent pathways for hundreds of different variables, such as for the evolution over time of emissions by gas, energy use, energy supply, land use, economic variables such as GDP, but also water use, waste, sectoral outcomes etc.

This paper defines a **pathway** as the modelled evolution over time of a single variable. With this in mind, a GHG **emissions pathway** is the modelled trajectory of anthropogenic emissions and is therefore part of a scenario. In accordance with these definitions and for greater clarity, this paper will restrict the use of the term pathway. In this way it is considered as part of a scenario, acknowledging, however, that the term is often employed more generally in reference to a complete mitigation trajectory i.e. a mitigation scenario.

Climate change mitigation scenarios considered in this paper are the output of **models**, which are systems of equations characterising how the different elements of the economy, energy system and other systems (e.g. land, water...) interact and result in emissions. **Integrated Assessment Models (IAM)** are a common type of model used to produce climate mitigation scenarios. IAMs describe the coupled energy-land-economy-climate system and "whole system" mitigation trajectories on the long-term. Another common type of models is **energy-economy system models**. These adopt a hybrid approach, combining top-down macro-economic models and detailed bottom-up energy sectoral models.

Note: See Annex A for more definitions of and detail on scenarios, pathways, and models. Source: (Riahi et al.,  $2022_{[32]}$ ; IPCC,  $2022_{[30]}$ ).

The models used to produce climate change mitigation scenarios cannot possibly capture the full complexity and dynamics of socio-economic systems. Each climate change mitigation scenario is, therefore, underpinned by a wide range of explicit and implicit assumptions. For example, scenarios' outcomes are strongly dependent on projections of future economic and demographic growth and technological development, on the type and scope of models used to produce them, and on the formulation of a normative climate target in their design.

The development of climate change mitigation scenarios has been an on-going process for decades, undertaken by climate science academic communities (e.g. through global consortiums of research teams such as EMF, ENGAGE, COMMIT, ADVANCE<sup>2</sup>) and by institutional bodies (e.g. the International Energy Agency (IEA), the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA)). When producing scenarios, different actors typically explore specific research or policy questions. Examples of such questions include

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Energy Modeling Forum (EMF) is an international forum of academic, government and corporate bodies which has produced over 30 studies since the 1970s, supported by the production of sets of climate and energy scenarios. ENGAGE is a global consortium of research groups coordinated by the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, which explores the feasibility of pathways that can meet the objectives of the Paris Agreement. COMMIT stands for Climate pOlicy assessment and Mitigation Modeling to Integrate national and global Transition pathways. It consisted of a consortium of a large number of national research teams and aimed to improve the modelling of national low-carbon emission pathways and the analysis of country contributions to the global ambition of the Paris Agreement. The ADVANCE project (Advanced model Development and Validation for the improved ANalysis of Costs and impacts of mitigation policies) developed a new generation of IAMs to explore different climate change mitigation pathways in the context of the Paris Agreement.

comparing the policy implications of different temperature goals, understanding the trade-offs of mitigation strategies with other sustainable development goals, exploring the implications of immediate versus delayed action. Scenarios and their underlying models are constantly being refined and updated. This allows to improve modelling limitations, including the usability of scenarios depending on feedback received from users<sup>3</sup>, as well as to incorporate latest real-world developments which affect the economy and emissions, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2022 energy crisis.

Amid recent demand by the financial sector for climate change mitigation scenarios, scenarios specifically designed to be used by the financial sector have been developed. The Network for Greening the Financial Sector (NGFS) has for instance commissioned the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK), the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) and the University of Maryland (UMD) to produce a set of six climate scenarios tailored to the needs of central banks and financial supervisors (NGFS, 2022<sub>[33]</sub>). The intended use of NGFS scenarios is to understand how physical and transition risks from climate change could evolve over time, but also to allow actors from the private and public sectors to set more granular alignment targets in their transition strategies (NGFS, 2020<sub>[34]</sub>). Similarly, the United Nations (UN)-convened Net Zero Asset Owners Alliance commissioned the Institute for Sustainable Futures (ISF) to produce a set of sectoral decarbonisation pathways with a high granularity and a sector classification adapted to the needs of financial investors (Teske et al., 2020<sub>[35]</sub>). Such scenarios are developed to provide a common reference framework for scenario analyses in and by the financial sector.

### 1.1.3. Need for coordinated understanding in using climate change mitigation scenarios to inform metrics and assessments in the financial sector

Existing studies on the use of climate change mitigation scenarios in the financial sector have mostly focused on its use for financial risk assessment, risk management and stress testing (NGFS, 2020<sub>[36]</sub>; UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>; FSB, 2022<sub>[5]</sub>; ECB, 2022<sub>[38]</sub>; Banque de France, 2022<sub>[39]</sub>; Bank of Canada, 2021<sub>[40]</sub>; I4CE, 2022<sub>[41]</sub>; Colin, Vailles and Hubert, 2019<sub>[42]</sub>). Only a few studies take stock of climate change mitigation scenarios currently used by the financial sector for the purpose of analysing its possible contribution to reaching climate change mitigation policy goals, and provide some recommendations to climate modellers to support scenario use in the financial sector in this context (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>; GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>; Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Such studies acknowledge that mitigation scenarios were not originally designed for use by the financial sector and identify resulting issues and limitations.

Previous research identified downscaling as a central challenge to using climate change mitigation scenarios in climate-alignment assessment methodologies for finance (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). On the one hand, assessments of alignment with the Paris Agreement require analyses at the level of individual financial portfolios, assets, and underlying economic actors and activities, which requires some degree of sectoral and geographical granularity (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>; GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>; Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). On the other hand, there is no political or societal consensus on suitable approaches to disaggregate the global goals of the Paris Agreement to such a level of granularity.

More generally, existing studies acknowledge that financial institutions and supervisors need to better understand the characteristics, assumptions, and uncertainties of climate change mitigation scenarios (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>; Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>; Trust et al., 2023<sub>[43]</sub>). Such information also needs to be better communicated to improve the credibility, transparency and comparability of climate target setting and alignment assessments analyses. In this context, there is a need for a common language

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Climate mitigation scenario data and methodologies are often opensource, making them easily accessible to potential end-users.

between climate policy makers, climate scenario providers, climate-related assessment methodology providers and financial market stakeholders, which the present paper can contribute to.

### **1.2. Objectives and scope**

Considering the importance and challenges of using climate change mitigation scenarios for climate target setting, transition planning, and alignment assessments in finance, the general objective of the analysis is to contribute to improved use of climate change mitigation scenarios in such contexts, thereby strengthening transparency and credibility. Improved understanding of what the alignment of assets and portfolios with climate objectives means, including underlying targets for such portfolios and individual assets, is critical amidst increasing environmental integrity concerns (CPI, 2021<sub>[44]</sub>; Rogelj et al., 2019<sub>[45]</sub>), evidence of potential market integrity and greenwashing risks based on existing metrics and practices (OECD, 2022<sub>[46]</sub>), and interest in disclosure and metrics using mitigation scenarios (TCFD, 2017<sub>[6]</sub>; IFRS, 2022<sub>[47]</sub>; GFANZ, 2022<sub>[24]</sub>).

More credible scenario-based metrics and assessments can in turn support the achievement of the Paris Agreement mitigation goals by providing a sound basis for contributing to inform investors' decisions and climate policy. In contrast, inconsistency and lack of transparency and environmental integrity in alignment assessments of finance undermine both the achievement Paris Agreement goals and efficient capital reallocation towards the transition of the economy towards low GHG emissions.

Against this backdrop, this paper provides a detailed snapshot and analysis of climate change mitigation scenarios currently used in financial sector for climate-related target setting and alignment assessment. Based on a comparative analysis of the main characteristics, strengths, limitations and underlying assumptions of these scenarios, the paper pursues the following specific objectives:

- Position such scenarios against aggregate-level criteria that can be used to define consistency with the Paris Agreement ("Paris consistency" thereafter) from a climate mitigation perspective, based on a framework and criteria defined in Pouille et al. (2023[11]).
- Unpack inherent challenges in using climate change mitigation scenarios to assess the climate alignment of individual financial and real economy assets, such as downscaling scenarios to allow for an analysis of individual economic and financial assets or actors, as well as consider areas where such challenges may be overcome, how and by whom.
- Provide enhanced transparency and common understanding of the characteristics, assumptions and uncertainties associated with climate change mitigation scenarios used in the financial sector. In doing so, the analysis does not aim to rank or judge scenarios, but rather, as aforementioned, bridge the information and potential co-ordination gap between different stakeholder and policy communities.
- Identify opportunities for climate policy makers to facilitate providers of climate change mitigation scenarios to design scenarios that are not only consistent with the Paris Agreement temperature goal, but also better suited as inputs to robust and policy-relevant financial sector climate alignment assessments.
- Discuss implications for aggregate-level alignment assessments of finance (e.g. at the level of financial centres, coalitions of investors and financial institutions), including in the context of measuring progress towards the Paris Agreement goal of making finance consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient development (Article 2.1c), and as highlighted by the UNFCCC Standing Committee on Finance's most recent Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows (UNFCCC, 2021[48]).

Previous research developed guidance for the use of climate transition scenarios and pathways in the financial sector to answer questions about institutional preparedness for the low-carbon transition (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>; GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>; Colin, Vailles and Hubert, 2019<sub>[42]</sub>), This study is, however, the

first to consistently consider the use of climate change mitigation scenarios in the financial sector for target setting and alignment assessments against analytical dimensions relevant to the three stakeholder communities, i.e. the climate policy community, financial market participants (including providers of climate-alignment assessment methodologies), and the climate science community (including climate modellers). As such, the analysis contributes to developing a common language and understanding as well as bridging potential information gaps between communities, based on a novel analytical approach.

This paper builds on previous OECD analyses, which identified that climate-alignment assessments may vary depending on the reference point used, whether when considering financial portfolios and assets (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>), or real economy investments and underlying sources of finance (Jachnik and Dobrinevski, 2021<sub>[25]</sub>; Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[27]</sub>; Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[26]</sub>). Previous analyses specifically highlighted the role and impact of climate change mitigation scenarios in climate-alignment assessments and methodologies (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>; Schwegler et al., 2022<sub>[28]</sub>). Knowledge and information gaps identified in such studies are here analysed more in-depth by going into the characteristics of the climate models, scenarios and pathways, building on latest developments and updates from relevant climate mitigation scenario providers.

The Paris Agreement calls for alignment with both mitigation and resilience policy objectives. Physical risks scenarios of climate impacts can be used to identify adaptation needs in the private and financial sector (NGFS, 2022<sub>[49]</sub>; TCFD, 2017<sub>[6]</sub>), but are beyond the scope of this paper. While this paper focusses on mitigation, complementary analysis on the alignment of finance with resilience objectives is explored (Mullan and Ranger, 2022<sub>[50]</sub>).

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 takes stock of the climate change mitigation scenarios commonly used for these purposes for financial sector target setting and alignment assessments, with a focus on those qualified as "net zero", 1.5°C or below 2°C by scenarios providers, and outlines the analytical approach and key dimensions against which scenarios are analysed in the remainder of the paper.
- Chapter 3 analyses the extent to which these scenarios are consistent with the Paris Agreement, based on five concrete criteria for identifying and selecting climate change mitigation scenarios that can be considered as consistent with the Paris Agreement's temperature goal and long-term emissions objective, as proposed in Pouille et al. (2023[11]).
- Chapter 4 studies the scope and granularity of those same scenarios, with the aim of highlighting their applicability and challenges for their use in the financial sector.
- Chapter 5 explores the characteristics of the mitigation strategies and assumptions that underpin the scenarios.
- Chapter 6 summarises the current challenges, discusses areas for improvements in applying climate change mitigation scenarios for target setting and alignment assessment in finance, and suggests how climate scenario providers, users, as well as climate policy makers may contribute to such improvements.

# 2 Climate change mitigation scenarios in scope and analytical approach

An OECD stocktake on methodologies to assess the alignment of financial assets and portfolios found that these methodologies follow three approaches when selecting reference points or, more specifically, scenarios as input to their assessments (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). These approaches may also be followed for setting decarbonisation targets (SBTi, 2021<sub>[20]</sub>).

- Most methodologies select specific scenarios that they use to compare the target and/or trajectory of a financial asset with. In this context, they can use one scenario for one temperature outcome from one scenario source, or may consider multiple scenarios for different temperature outcomes from one scenario source. Alternatively, the methodologies can offer a choice of multiple scenarios from multiple scenario sources, allowing users to compare against different pathways for the same temperature outcome.
- Less frequently, methodologies calculate an average scenario across a set of scenarios selected from the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) or SR1.5 scenarios database<sup>4</sup>. For this, methodologies may select a set of scenarios from the database based on a range of criteria, such as early action and no overshoot. The mean of the selected scenarios can then be calculated for each point in time, although such use is not what individual scenarios were designed for (Huppmann et al., 2018<sub>[51]</sub>).
- A limited number of methodologies use the remaining carbon budget for a given temperature rise calculated by the IPCC, instead of a scenario. They may either build their own proprietary scenarios or develop an approach to allocate the budget to financial assets.

This paper mainly focuses on the climate change mitigation scenarios used as input by methodology providers that select specific scenarios (first approach above and most commonly used). However, the analysis, also includes considerations relevant to the other approaches, notably by positioning the specific scenarios featured in the analysis in the context of the broader AR6 scenario database and so-called scenario envelopes derived from Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>). With this in mind, this chapter presents the specific climate change mitigation scenarios in scope of the analysis (Section 2.1) and provides an overview of the approach and dimensions used to analyse and characterise these scenarios in the following chapters (Section 2.2).

### 2.1. Climate change mitigation scenarios used in financial sector climate target setting and alignment assessment

Many institutions worldwide design and provide climate change mitigation scenarios. The latest IPCC Assessment and special reports on mitigation have been accompanied by scenario databases where many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) hosts the scenarios and data used in the IPCC reports (Byers, 2022<sub>[52]</sub>). This includes the IAMC 1.5°C Scenario Explorer (Huppmann et al., 2018<sub>[51]</sub>), which covers the pathways used in the Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C (IPCC, 2018<sub>[146]</sub>).

existing scenarios provided by the research community and scientific institutions are collected and used to support the assessments. Over 3,000 of the latest generation of such scenarios were collected and made available in the context of the publication of the IPCC's AR6 (Byers, 2022<sub>[52]</sub>).

While there are a range of scenario sources that alignment methodology providers can choose from, scenarios used in current climate-alignment assessment of finance are from only four sources, representing a small subset of all existing climate mitigation scenarios. Table 2.1 lists the main climate change mitigation scenarios that have so far been chosen to underpin existing climate-alignment assessments, as identified through literature review and bilateral consultations with providers of climate-alignment methodologies<sup>5</sup> in the recent OECD stocktake (Noels and Jachnik, 2022[10]). Annex A provides a more detailed description of each of these four providers:

- The International Energy Agency (IEA): The IEA has developed global and macro-regional pathways for broad sectors, as published through its World Energy Outlook, relying on the IEA Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) (IEA, 2022[53]).
- The Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS): The NGFS' set of climate scenarios, available in a dedicated database, currently consists of six scenarios classified in three categories: orderly transition, disorderly transition, and hot house world (Bertram et al., 2021<sub>[54]</sub>). For each of the NGFS scenarios, multiple IAMs are used to provide a range of estimates and better cover the uncertainty space.
- The European Commission's Joint Research Centre (JRC): The JRC has developed its so-called POLES model, which simulates technology dynamics and is used to generate scenarios under its Global Energy and Climate Outlook (GECO) (Després et al., 2018[55]; Keramidas et al., 2021[56]).
- The Institution for Sustainable Futures (ISF): The ISF has developed the One Earth Climate Model (OECM) scenarios, adapted to produce sectoral pathways that uniquely consider sector classifications used in financial and economic accounting (i.e. GICS) (Teske et al., 2020[35]).

Climate-alignment assessment methodologies may consider scenarios for a range of temperature outcomes, including scenarios that reflect current levels of policy ambition and hence result in above 2°C temperature increase outcomes. However, with the Paris Agreement temperature goal in mind, this paper focusses on below 2°C scenarios. As these scenarios and their underlying frameworks are constantly being refined and updated, this paper focuses on the most recent iteration of each scenario (Table 2.1).

The four scenario providers provide nine different "below 2°C" scenarios, five of which aim for net-zero emissions or 1.5°C, the four other scenarios are less ambitious. The providers use six different models, including the IEA Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC, the JRC's Prospective Outlook on Long-term Energy Systems (POLES-JRC) model, ISF's One Earth Climate Model (OECM) and Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) such as the Global Change Assessment Model (GCAM).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Climate-alignment assessment methodology providers that were consulted include Arabesque, Carbon Disclosure Project, Carbon Risk Real Estate Monitor, FTSE Russell Beyond Ratings, Carbone 4, MSCI, Paris Agreement Capital Transition Assessment, right. based on science, S&P Sustainble1 (previously Trucost), Transition Pathway Initiative.

### Table 2.1. Main global climate change mitigation scenarios for below 2°C used by climate alignment assessments of finance

Scenario	Acronym used in this paper	Model	Latest publication year	Source	Previous versions
International Energy Agency	(IEA)				
Net Zero Emissions by 2050 Scenario	IEA NZE	Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) 2022	2022	(IEA, 2022 <sub>[53]</sub> )	NZE 2021 (World Energy Model)
Announced Pledges Scenario	IEA APS	Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) 2022	2022	(IEA, 2022 <sub>[53]</sub> )	
EU's Joint Research Centre	EU's Joint Research Centre (JRC)				
GECO 1.5°C	JRC GECO 1.5°C	POLES JRC 2022	2022	(Keramidas, 2022 <sub>[57]</sub> )	GECO 1.5°C uniform, GECO 1.5°C Differentiated 2021
GECO NDC-LTS	JRC GECO NDC-LTS	POLES JRC 2022	JRC 2022 2022		GECO NDC-LTC 2021
Network for Greening the Fir	ancial System (NGFS)				
NGFS3 Net-Zero 2050 (GCAM, MESSAGE, REMIND versions)	NGFS NZE 2050 G NGFS NZE 2050 M NGFS NZE 2050 R	GCAM 5.3, MESSAGEix-GLOBIOM 1.1, REMIND-MAgPIE 3.0-4.4	2022	(NGFS, 2022 <sub>[33]</sub> )	NGFS2 Net-Zero 2050
NGFS3 Divergent Net Zero Policies (GCAM, MESSAGE, REMIND versions)	NGFS DIV NZE G NGFS DIV NZE M NGFS DIV NZE R	GCAM 5.3, MESSAGEix-GLOBIOM 1.1, REMIND-MAgPIE 3.0-4.4	2022	(NGFS, 2022 <sub>[33]</sub> )	NGFS2 Divergent Net Zero Policies
NGFS3 Below 2°C (GCAM, MESSAGE, REMIND versions)	NGFS Below 2°C G NGFS Below 2°C M NGFS Below 2°C R	GCAM 5.3, MESSAGEix-GLOBIOM 1.1, REMIND-MAgPIE 3.0-4.4	2022	(NGFS, 2022 <sub>[33]</sub> )	NGFS2 Below 2°C
NGFS3 Delayed transition (GCAM, MESSAGE, REMIND versions)	NGFS Delayed G NGFS Delayed M NGFS Delayed R	GCAM 5.3, MESSAGEix-GLOBIOM 1.1, REMIND-MAgPIE 3.0-4.4	2022	(NGFS, 2022 <sub>[33]</sub> )	NGFS2 Delayed transition
University of Sydney Institut	e for Sustainable Futures	(UTS-ISF)			
UTS-ISF Net Zero	UTS-ISF OECM NZE	One Earth Climate Model (OECM)	2020	(Teske et al., 2020 <sub>[35]</sub> ; Teske et al., 2023 <sub>[58]</sub> )	OECM 1.5°C and OECM 2°C 2019

Note: Green highlights the most recent version of scenarios. All scenarios are used by current climate-alignment assessment methodologies. Some methodologies also indicated that these scenario sources may be used in the future, in which case it is unclear which specific scenario will be used.

Source: Authors. List established based on consultations with alignment methodology providers listed in footnote 5. Information source for each scenario is given in the source column.

Figure 2.1 represents GHG or  $CO_2$  emissions pathways under the scenarios highlighted in Table 2.1. While this already indicates the range of possible decarbonisation pathways that can be followed for a relatively similar level of ambition, the scope of these scenario pathways are not consistent (in terms of covered emissions sources etc, see also in Chapters 3 and 4). To address this issue, scenario variables and pathways were collected for this paper, in consultation with the scenario providers (see Acknowledgements), on a consistent basis and scope to obtain comparable data.





Scenario: IEA NZE - JRC GECO 1.5°C - NGFS NZE 2050 - NGFS Below 2°C - UTS-ISF OECM NZE IEA APS - JRC GECO NDC-LTS - NGFS DIV NZE - NGFS Delayed Transition

Note: Some scenarios do not cover all types of GHG and therefore do not have an aggregated GHG emissions pathways (left panel). The different scenarios have different scopes in terms of  $CO_2$  emissions sources, therefore the pathways displayed here are not directly comparable. NGFS emissions pathways here cover  $CO_2$  emissions from energy use, industrial processes, agriculture and land use, and waste. ISF total  $CO_2$  emissions cover energy-related emissions only. IEA pathways are for emissions from energy use and industrial processes.

Each of the four NGFS scenarios is produced using three different models, there are therefore three different pathways for each of the scenarios. GHG emissions presented here are aggregated by providers using Global Warming Potentials over 100 years (GWP<sub>100</sub>), as estimated by different IPCC assessments. ISF scenarios use GWP<sub>100</sub> values estimated by the IPCC AR4. The IEA, NGFS and JRC do not explicitly mention which IPCC assessment is relied on for GWP<sub>100</sub> values. Source: Authors.

Because of the very limited number of scenarios produced with finance as the intended use case, alignment methodology providers must mostly rely on scenarios that were built for other use cases and non-financial audiences. Annex A, which presents in more detail the listed scenarios and their respective main objectives, shows that most of the scenarios currently used for alignment assessments were not specifically produced for this use case:

- JRC produces scenarios to explore specific international mitigation issues with a climate policy perspective.
- IEA scenarios aim at proposing trajectories to decarbonise the energy sector globally and are intended to inform energy and climate policymaking.

- NGFS scenarios, while produced to be used by the financial sector, are designed for the purpose of climate-related transition risk analysis rather than alignment assessments.
- The UTS-ISF's OECM scenarios are based on country-specific energy scenarios to inform policy
  makers and the energy industry. They have been further developed for GHG target setting in the
  financial sector and for other uses that require practical pathways to achieve the Paris climate goals.

The only exception is the recent ISF Net Zero sectoral pathways, commissioned by the UN-convened NZAOA, an international group of over 30 institutional investors who have committed to transition their investment portfolios to net-zero GHG emissions by 2050 (Teske et al., 2020<sub>[35]</sub>). The ISF Net Zero scenario constitutes the first to rely on a sector classification commonly used for financial sector analysis (as further explained in Section 4.2), with the aim of describing 1.5°C-consistent sectoral pathways that can be more easily interpreted by financial market participants for net-zero analyses.

The original research questions and intended use cases influence scenarios' key design choices, including the formulation of the targeted climate outcome, the choice of modelling framework, the time horizon, the geographical and sectoral scopes, as well as socio-economic, technology and policy assumption inputs. Such design choices need to be transparent so scenarios can be applied in the most appropriate way. The fact that most scenarios are not designed for use in finance makes such need even more acute as additional assumptions and implementation choices need to be made.

### 2.2. Analytical perspectives and dimensions

Challenges to the use of climate change mitigation scenarios in the financial sector, and their implementation in financial sector climate target setting and alignment assessments, can be considered from the perspectives of three communities that interact with each other, namely climate policy makers, the financial sector stakeholders, and climate scenario modellers and providers. These three communities have different yet partly overlapping perspectives, which. this paper captures based on three complementary analytical dimensions:

- The scenarios selected for climate-related analyses in the financial sector need to have environmental
  integrity. In the context of international climate policy particularly, this relates to the Paris consistency
  of mitigation scenarios, as scenarios are used for target setting and alignment assessments of finance.
  Climate policy makers may also consider the alignment of their domestic financial market and
  consistency with national climate policy objectives. Climate policy researchers may further analyse the
  implications and interpretations of such policies.
- The applicability of mitigation scenarios in climate-related financial analysis brings different considerations when financial sector stakeholders assess financial assets and portfolios. More specifically, providers of methodologies to set climate-related targets or assess climate-alignment for individual entities or assets make use of such scenarios as input. Financial institutions and investors may use such assessments in the context of measuring progress towards their own climate-related targets, as well as to inform investment decisions. In the context of the latter, financial market participants and supervisors increasingly conduct climate transition-related risk assessments and stress testing, which involves analytical dimensions beyond the scope of this paper (see Box 2.1).
- Scientific researchers and climate modellers consider with great care the characteristics and feasibility of assumptions that underpin scenarios, scenario pathways and underlying models. In doing so, modellers consider how scenarios may reflect possible futures, while ensuring these characteristics and assumptions remain credible. In turn, such characteristics and assumptions can play an important role in informing and impacting financial sector climate-related target setting and alignment assessment.

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 23

Based on these three complementary and interlinked analytical dimensions, this paper analyses the selected scenarios across analytical dimensions, which are summarised in Figure 2.2 and further detailed in Sections 3.1, 4.1, 5.1, respectively. These dimensions entail analysing (1) the Paris consistency of the scenarios as discussed in Chapter 3, (2) the applicability of such scenarios at the level of financial sector assets and portfolios, as discussed in Chapter 4, and (3) the characteristics of the mitigation strategies and assumptions that scenarios are based on, as discussed in Chapter 5. These dimensions guide a comparative analysis across the selected scenarios, against the AR6 database and based on the wider climate change mitigation modelling literature.

### Figure 2.2. Dimensions for analysing climate change mitigation scenarios used in climate-alignment assessments of finance

Are climate change mitigation scenarios o	consistent with the Paris Agreement?
<ul> <li>Temperature outcomes <ul> <li>Median end of century (2100) and peak temperature</li> <li>Likelihood of staying below 1.5°C in end of century (2100) and during the century</li> <li>Likelihood of staying below 2°C during the century</li> </ul> </li> <li>Emissions outcomes <ul> <li>Year of peak GHG emissions</li> <li>Years of net-zero global GHG and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions</li> <li>GHG emissions in 2100</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Assessment questions What is the scenario's level of ambition? Is the scenario's level of ambition consistent with the mitigation goals of the Paris Agreement?
Are climate change mitigation scenarios fit-fo	r-purpose for use in the financial sector?
Scope and granularity • Sector • Geography • Emissions • Time	Assessment questions What is the scenario's scope? Is the scenario data granular enough to apply in net-zero analyses of finance?
What are the characteristics of mitigation s change mitigation	strategies and assumptions of climate n scenarios?
<ul> <li>Mitigation strategies <ul> <li>Energy supply decarbonisation</li> <li>Demand-side reductions</li> <li>Carbon Dioxide Removal</li> <li>Land emissions reductions</li> </ul> </li> <li>Input and modelling assumptions <ul> <li>Socio-economic</li> <li>Technology</li> <li>Policy</li> <li>Modelling characteristic</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Assessment questions What are the scenario's mitigation strategies? Are the mitigation pathways feasible? What are the scenario's underlying assumptions? What are the scenario's underlying sources of uncertainties in mitigation pathways?

### Box 2.1. Further considerations for using mitigation scenarios for risk management and stress testing

As explained in Chapter 1, the perspective of alignment and risk are closely interrelated. Therefore, there is an overlap in scenario use for both perspectives. However, some additional considerations can be made on the use of scenarios for transition risk management and climate stress testing, and related challenges. There is a growing literature available that can be drawn upon, as also mentioned in Chapter 1.

First, while for climate-alignment typically one scenario is selected, climate stress testing inherently analyses transition risks against a wider range of scenarios (Täger and Dikau, 2023<sub>[3]</sub>). For stress testing and risk management, a wide spectrum of scenario narratives is needed to avoid the accumulation of systemic risks (Baer et al., 2023<sub>[59]</sub>). This includes scenarios with abrupt changes in technological advancements and policies, and scenarios with low probability but high impact developments (Baer et al., 2023<sub>[59]</sub>; Allen et al., 2020<sub>[60]</sub>). This consideration would broaden the scope of scenarios included, such as the UN PRI Inevitable Policy Response scenario.

Second, mitigation scenario models do not account for the role of the financial sector in climate change mitigation pathways, even though there are likely important feedback loops (Monasterolo, Nieto and Schets, 2023<sub>[61]</sub>; Allen et al., 2020<sub>[60]</sub>). There is a need to link climate models to financial models in a circular way, allowing further information on financing cost across low- and high-carbon firms to inform mitigation scenarios (Battiston et al., 2021<sub>[62]</sub>). Additionally, transmission channels between climate change-related shocks and macro-financial risks need to be further identified to assess quantitatively their impacts on the financial sector (Allen et al., 2020<sub>[60]</sub>).

Finally, current scenarios will lead to an underestimation of the risk, potentially giving rise to a false sense of security on how the transition may unfold (Baer et al., 2023<sub>[59]</sub>). This is because current climate models do not adequately cover the full envelope of possible economic and financial frictions, compounding risks, volatility, and acute physical risk disruptions (Baer et al., 2023<sub>[59]</sub>).

# 3 Are climate change mitigation scenarios consistent with the Paris Agreement?

This chapter studies the degree of Paris consistency (i.e. consistency with the Paris Agreement mitigation objectives) of the level of ambition of scenarios used in the financial sector (as outlined in Chapter 2). It first briefly presents the framework used to assess the consistency of scenarios with the Paris Agreement mitigation objectives (Section 3.1), which stems from a closely-related analysis (see (Pouille et al.,  $2023_{[11]}$ )). The framework is then applied to the scenarios in use in financial sector climate target setting and alignment assessment to assess the extent to which those scenarios are consistent with the Paris Agreement's level of ambition (Section 3.2). On that basis, the broader implications for the use of these scenarios are drawn (Section 3.3).

### 3.1. Framework to assess the Paris consistency of climate change mitigation scenarios

For the purpose of environmental integrity, climate change mitigation scenarios used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessment must be consistent with the Paris Agreement temperature goal and long-term emissions objective. The formulations of this goal and objective are however not sufficiently specific to e.g. define emissions levels or benchmarks in line with its goals and is therefore susceptible to a range of interpretations (Schleussner et al., 2022<sub>[63]</sub>). Against this backdrop, Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>) provides an overview of the different ways the Paris Agreement can be interpreted and discusses the implications of these different interpretations for the choice of Paris-consistent climate change mitigation scenarios in terms of level of ambition.

The framework developed by Pouille et al.  $(2023_{[11]})$  considers aspects of both the long-term temperature goal (Article 2.1) and the emissions objective (Article 4) of the Paris Agreement and provides a set of criteria to assess the Paris consistency of scenarios' level of ambition, for two different levels of stringency (Table 3.1):

- To be in line with the Paris Agreement's Article 2.1 long-term temperature target scenarios must remain below 1.5°C by 2100 with limited overshoot (<0.1°C), with 50% chance and remain well-below 2°C throughout the century (i.e. have very high likelihoods of not exceeding 2°C);
- In addition, to be in line with Article 4 of the Paris Agreement scenarios must see an early peak in GHG emissions and reach net-zero GHG emissions in the second half of the century. A higher level of stringency filters scenarios that peak at the latest in 2025 and achieve net-zero GHG emissions in the second half of the century, and a lower level of stringency filters those scenarios that peak at the latest in 2030 and achieve close to net-zero GHG emissions in the second half of the century.

To analyse the Paris consistency of a given scenario with the Paris Agreement, data on key features of scenarios in terms of their temperature and emissions outcomes is needed, as listed in the last column of Table 3.1.

### Table 3.1. Considerations and criteria for assessing the Paris consistency of global climate change mitigation scenarios

Paris Agreemen	Paris Agreement language elements	Paris Agreement language elements Possible criteria for mitigation scenarios					
t Article	on mitigation objectives	More stringent interpretation	Less stringent interpretation	consistency assessment			
0.1	"pursuing efforts to	Crite 1.5°C i In 2100 the scenario must hold glob least <u>50%</u> chance.	r <b>ion 1</b> n 2100 al warming below 1.5°C with at	Likelihood of staying below 1.5°C in 2100 Or global warming in 2100 at the 50% likelihood level			
2.1       "pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C"       In 2100 the scenario must hold global warming below 1.5 °C with at least 50% chance.         2.1       "pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C"       In 2100 the scenario must hold global warming below 1.5 °C with at least 50% chance.         2.1       "holding the increase in global average temperature to well below 2 °C"       Criterion 3       Criterion 3         2.1       "holding the increase in global average temperature to well below 2 °C"       Vell-below 2°C throughout the century the scenario must hold global warming below 2 °C with at least a <u>90%</u> chance.       Vell-below 2 °C with at least a <u>90%</u> chance.         "aim to reach global       Criterion 4       Criterion 4				Likelihood of staying below 1.5°C during the century Or peak global warming during the century at the 50% likelihood level			
2.1	"holding the increase in global average temperature to well below 2 °C"	Criterion 3 well-below 2°C throughout the century Throughout the century, the scenario must hold global warming below 2 °C with at least a <u>90%</u> chance.	Criterion 3 well-below 2°C throughout the century Throughout the century, the scenario must hold global warming below 2 °C with at least an <u>78%</u> chance.	Likelihood of staying below 2°C during the century			
	"aim to reach global peaking of greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible	Criterion 4 peak GHG emissions The scenario must ensure that global GHG emissions peak before <u>2025</u> .	Criterion 4 peak GHG emissions The scenario must ensure that global GHG emissions peak before <u>2030</u> .	Year of peak GHG emissions			
4.1	[and] achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century"	Criterion 5 Net-zero emissions The scenario must achieve global <u>net-zero GHG</u> emissions in the second half of the 21st century.	Criterion 5 Net-zero GHG emissions The scenario must achieve global net-zero CO <sub>2</sub> -emissions, accompanied by marginal net-zero GHG emissions i.e very strong GHG emissions reductions resulting in residual net GHG emissions in 2100 of <u>5 Gt</u> or less.	Year of net-zero global GHG and CO <sub>2</sub> emissions GHG emissions in 2100			
Number	of scenarios in the IPCC AR6 database	26	55				

Source: ENV/EPOC/WPCID(2023)10/REV1.

In the context of Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>), reference envelopes of global scenarios consistent with the Paris Agreement considerations were derived by applying the criteria identified in Table 3.1 to the latest IPCC scenarios database. As part of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), the IPCC Working Group on Mitigation of Climate Change collected and assessed a large number of quantitative, model-based climate change mitigation scenarios. (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). These include over 2,200 scenarios with global coverage, submitted by over 50 scenario providers. Since the AR6 scenario database represents a large number of scenarios from the climate modelling community, it can be used as a reference point for quantitative climate mitigation-related assessments.

These capture a large spectrum of possible futures, assumptions, and trajectories towards the Paris Agreement's goals. They serve as a point of comparison for the level of ambition of scenarios used by climate-alignment assessments of finance analysed in this paper. A stringent application of the criteria to the AR6 scenarios database results in an envelope of 26 Paris-consistent scenarios. Applying a relaxed interpretation of the criteria results in an envelope of 55 scenarios. These envelopes are illustrated in Figure 3.1.





Note: Net emissions pathways for total GHG (left panel) and CO<sub>2</sub> (right panel), using harmonised values given by the IPCC AR6 database. GHG emissions are aggregated using Global Warming Potentials over 100 years as estimated by the IPCC AR6 (GWP<sub>100</sub> AR6).Pathways in green correspond to scenarios in the IPCC AR6 scenarios database that fulfil Criteria 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 (see Table 3.1). Pathways in dark green satisfy the more stringent interpretation for each of the criteria, while pathways in light green satisfy the less stringent level of interpretation of the criteria. The other pathways (in grey) correspond to all other scenarios in the IPCC AR6 scenarios database that remain below 2°C with a 50% chance throughout the century.

Source: Pouille et al. (2023[11]) and IPCC AR6 scenarios database (Byers, 2022[52]).

### **3.2. Application of the Paris consistency framework to scenarios in use in the financial sector**

Providers of scenarios used in the financial sector explain the consistency of their scenarios' levels of ambition with global climate policy goals in different ways (Annex A). In some cases, scenario providers may describe their scenario results as being in line with certain temperature outcome referring at times explicitly to the Paris Agreement. In other cases, scenario providers may also refer to net-zero emissions outcomes in some of their scenarios. A combination of these elements is seldom provided. Analysis in

Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>) showed that considering the different elements of the Paris Agreement jointly, i.e. its temperature and emissions goals, is crucial to ensure the choice of scenarios yields environmental integrity.

In this paper, such a systematic approach is, therefore, adopted to assess the Paris consistency of the different scenarios used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessment. As such, the approach goes beyond the self-assessment given by individual scenario providers.

This section applies the framework proposed in Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>) (as explained in Section 3.1) to consistently compare scenarios' temperature and emissions outcomes in the context of the Paris Agreement's global mitigation goals. Sub-section 3.2.1 gives a summary of the comparison between scenarios' characteristics and the criteria from the framework, while sub-sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 deep dive into temperature criteria 1-3 and emissions criteria 4-5 respectively (Table 3.1).

In order to assess Paris consistency using the framework, as highlighted in Table 3.1, a full set of key characteristics of emissions and temperature outcomes of scenarios in use is required. This includes end-of-the-century and peak temperatures and associated likelihoods, year of peak emissions and of net-zero GHG for all scenarios analysed. Such data is only partially available in the public domain. Surveys were carried out with scenario providers in order to collect data that is not publicly available and is provided first-hand for the purpose of the analysis undertaken in this paper (Table 3.2).

### 3.2.1. Overall assessment of Paris consistency

The data shows scenarios are designed to achieve different temperature and emissions targets even when they have the same net-zero ambition (Table 3.2). In terms of temperature outcomes, the scenarios considered are announced by scenario providers to result either in less than  $1.5^{\circ}$ C, or in below  $2^{\circ}$ C ( $1.7^{\circ}$ C to  $1.8^{\circ}$ C) of median temperature rise by the end of the century. Some scenarios result in net-zero GHG and/or net-zero CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the second half of the century, while others do not. Table 3.2 highlights in grey the scenarios that were designed by providers for a below  $2^{\circ}$ C ambition, keeping in white the scenarios that were created to achieve a  $1.5^{\circ}$ C ambition.

Evaluating the key temperature and emissions outcomes of scenarios summarised in Table 3.2 against the criteria for Paris consistency, Table 3.3 summarises the extent to which scenarios are consistent with the different criteria for Paris consistency outlined in Section 3.1. For each criterion, Table 3.3 shows whether a scenario is consistent with the stringent application (dark green), less stringent application (light green), or not consistent with either (orange). Out of the 17 scenarios considered, 2 are fully consistent with all temperature and emissions criteria (depicted by the red rectangles). In fact, these scenarios are mostly consistent with the most stringent interpretation of the Paris Agreement's objectives, apart from the fact that they do not reach net zero GHG emissions in the by the end of the century, keeping residual net GHG emissions of less 5 Gt. The criteria that are least complied with across all scenarios is the limitation of temperature overshoots of 1.5°C over the century and the well-below 2°C criteria, which are strongly correlated.

Table 3.3 also shows that several scenarios do not provide sufficient information to allow for a full assessment of their Paris consistency (grey boxes). In particular, features of GHG emissions pathways (early peak and net zero in the second half of the century) are not available for scenarios that do not model all GHGs, but are an important aspect of the Paris Agreement's emissions objectives in Article 4.1. It may also be difficult to assess whether scenarios keep temperatures well below 2°C throughout the century, because this requires information of temperature outcomes of scenarios at several levels of likelihoods, rather than the median temperature outcome only.

		Cover	red		Partia	al	Not covered			IPCC scenarios           NGFS3         Stringent envelope envelope (26 scenarios)         st (55 (57) (26 scenarios)           G: GCAM         (26 scenarios)         (57) (57)           M: MESSAGE R: REMIND         (20 scenarios)         (57) (57)           Z100         Z100         (57) (57)           Z100         Z100         (57) (57)           CO2         CO2         (57) (57)           Other         Other         (57) (57)           AFOLU         AFOLU         (57) (50%) in 2100         (104strial applicable         (77) (102-1.34)           R: 1.64°C         1.18°C         (102-1.34)         (77) (1.41-1.60)         (77) (1.41-1.60)           R: 1.76°C         (1.56°C         (1.41-1.60)         (77) (1.41-1.60)         (77) (1.41-1.60)           R: 1.76°C         (35-68%)         (20) (20)         (20) (20)         (20) (20)           G: 62%         92%         (20) (20)         (20) (20)           M: 1.75°C         (2015-2020)         (20) (20)           R: 25%         (2030)         (204) (20)           M: 1.75°C         (2035-2076)         (20) (20)           R: 2030         (2050-2089)         (20)           R: 205%         (2050-2089)         (20)	
					Scenarios					IPCC scenar	io envelopes
	IEA NZE	IEA APS	UTS-ISF NZE	JRC GECO 1.5°C	JRC GECO NDC-LTS	NGFS3 NZE 2050	NGFS3 DIV NZE	NGFS3 Below 2°C	NGFS3 Delayed transition	Stringent envelope (26 scenarios)	Less stringent envelope (55 scenarios)
						G: GCAM	G: GCAM	G: GCAM	G: GCAM		
						M: MESSAGE	M: MESSAGE	M: MESSAGE	M: MESSAGE		
Variables						R: REMIND	R: REMIND	R: REMIND	R: REMIND		
End year	2050	2050	2050	2100	2100	2100	2100	2100	2100	2100	2100
GHGs	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>
covered	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other
Emission	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy	Energy
sources	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial	Industrial
covered	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes	processes
	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU	AFOLU
Tomporaturo	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste	Waste
Announced temperature outcome	<1.5°C (50%) in 2100	1.7°C (50%) in 2100	1.5°C (67%)	<1.5°C (50%) in 2100	1,8°C (50%) in 2100	1.4°C (50%) in 2100	1.4°C (50%) in 2100	1.6°C (50%) in 2100	1.6°C (50%) in 2100	Not applicable	Not applicable
Warming in	1.36°C	1.75°C	1.47°C	1.36°C	1.79°C	G:1.51°C	G:1.44°C	G:1.74°C	G:1.64°C	1.18°C	1.24°C
2100 (50%						™:1.31°C	™:1.29°C		м: 1.43°С	(1.02-1.34)	(1.02-1.47)
likelihood)						R:1.38°C	R:1.39°C	R:1.63°C	R: 1.61°C		
Peak	~ 1.6°C	NA	1.67°C	1.72°C	1.84°C	G:1.75°C	G:1.70°C	G:1.90°C	G: <b>1.89°C</b>	1.56°C	1.57°C
warming in the century (50% likelihood)						M:1.53°C R:1.56°C	м:1.53°С к:1.56°С	in:1.63°C R:1.69°C	м: 1.75°С к: 1.76°С	(1.41-1.60)	(1.41-1.60)
Likelihood	NA	NA	NA	19%	10%	G: <b>19%</b>	G: <b>25%</b>	G: <b>10%</b>	G: <b>9%</b>	42%	40%
of staying below 1.5°C throughout the century						M: 44% R: 39%	M: 45% R: 41%	M: 31% R: 25%	M: 17% R: 25%	(35-68%)	(34-68%)
Likelihood	NA	NA	NA	80%	63%	G: <b>77%</b>	G: 82%	G: 61%	G: 62%	92%	91%
of staying						м: 92%	M: 93%	м: 85%	M: 78%	(90-99%)	(83-99%)
throughout the century						r: <b>90%</b>	r: <b>90%</b>	r: <b>82%</b>	R: <b>77%</b>		
Emissions out	tcomes			0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000		
peak GHG emissions	NA	NA	NA	2022	2023	G: 2020 M: 2015 R: 2020	G: 2020 M: 2015 R: 2020	G: 2020 M: 2015 R: 2020	G: 2030 M: 2030 R: 2020	2020 (2015-2020)	2020 (2015- 2020)
Year of net-	2050	2070	2050	2054	2075	G: 2050	G: 2049	G: 2065	G: 2054	2049	2051
zero CO <sub>2</sub> emissions						M: 2062 R: 2059	M: 2066 R: 2072	M: 2080 R: never	M: 2067 R: never	(2035-2076)	(2033- 2076)
Year of net-	NA	NA	NA	2063	never	G: never	G: never	G: never	G: never	2067	2076
zero GHG						M: never	M: never	M: never	м:2075-80	(2050-2089)	(2045-never)
emissions						R: never	R: never	R: never	R: never		
GHG	NA	NA	NA	-7,6 Gt	3.8 Gt	G: 3.3 Gt	G: 3.2 Gt	G: 5.6 Gt	G: 3.6 Gt	-4.4 Gt	-4.3 Gt
emissions						™: 5.5 Gt	⊮: 5.2 Gt	≝ 5.5 Gt	M: -1.0 Gt	(-11.9 – -0.5)	(-11.9 – 5.0)
11 2 100						R: 3.4 Gt	R: 4.2 Gt	R: 3.9 Gt	R: 9.4 Gt		

### Table 3.2. Key temperature and emissions outcomes of climate change mitigation scenarios

Note: The numbers given in the last two columns correspond to the median value, and minimum and maximum values (in parentheses) across all scenarios in the reference envelopes of scenarios.

An uncertainty range of 1Gt  $CO_2$  is used to estimate the timing of net-zero  $CO_2$  emissions for scenarios modelled with REMIND. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

### Table 3.3. Synthesis of the assessment of scenarios based on five criteria reflecting the Paris Agreement objectives

Consistent (stringent)	Consistent (less stringent) Not consistent						Insufficient information										
Criteria		Scenarios															
	IEA NZE	IEA IEA UTS- JRC JRC NGFS3 NZE APS ISF GECO GECO NZE NZE 1.5°C NDC-LTS 2050				IEA UTS- JRC JRC NGFS3 NGFS APS ISF GECO GECO NZE DIV NZ NZE 1.5°C NDC-LTS 2050			3 ZE	NGFS3 E Below 2°C			NGFS3 Delayed transitio				
						G	М	R	G	М	R	G	М	R	G	М	R
Criterion 1: 1.5°C in 2100																	
Criterion 2: limited overshoot of 1.5°C	-																
Criterion 3: well-below 2°C																	
Criterion 4: early peak GHG emissions																	
Criterion 5: net-zero GHG emissions																	

Note: The red boxes indicate the scenarios that are consistent with the less stringent interpretation of the Paris Agreement. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Indeed, the ability to consistently compare scenarios' outcomes against the Paris agreement's goals is limited by both the lack of disclosure of some information by scenario providers and differences in scopes across climate change mitigation scenarios:

- First, the temperature outcomes of scenarios may not always be communicated in a way that is consistent with scientific practices. Scenario providers typically provide information about the temperature outcome of their scenarios but may not provide specific information on both the end-of-the-century temperature or the peak temperature over the century. Overshoots of temperature thresholds during the century are, however, crucial for assessing Paris consistency and more generally for assessing the overall of mitigation ambition of a scenario. Scenario providers may also not provide information on the likelihood level for their scenarios' temperature outcomes. Direct assessments of temperature outcomes of scenarios are always probabilistic, and result in warming projections with different likelihood levels. For instance, a scenario may be consistent with limiting global warming to 1.5°C with 33% likelihood or with 50% likelihood, which are two very different outcomes. In general, scenario providers give the median temperature outcome of a scenario, that is at 50% likelihood level, but this is not always explicitly stated. Moreover, giving temperature outcomes of scenarios at several likelihood levels may be useful to compare a scenario both against the 1.5°C limit and the "well-below 2°C" limit, but this is very rarely provided by scenario modellers. Each scenario always has both an associated probability of limiting warming 1.5°C and probability of limiting it below 2°C.
- Second, when information is provided, scenarios' temperature outcomes may be difficult to compare
  because the assessment of the temperature outcome given by scenario providers can be
  calculated using different methodologies. In previous versions of these scenarios, a common way
  to assess the temperature result was to compare the scenarios' modelled cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emissions
  with carbon budgets for different temperature limits an approach that has several important limitations
  as explained in Box 3.1. More recently, the use of climate models to assess temperature outcomes

has become more common, which represents an improvement. All the temperature outcomes of scenarios in Table 3.2 were estimated using the same climate model called MAGICC<sup>6</sup>, however possibly using different versions of the model with differences in the temperature results. Considering climate uncertainties in the temperature response to GHG emissions, using newer versions of a climate model is preferable to reflect the latest understanding of the physical science. The latest versions of MAGICC and of the second climate model used by the IPCC AR6, FaIR,<sup>7</sup> which is open source, were calibrated using the latest findings from the IPCC AR6 about how anthropogenic emissions translate into global warming; they should therefore be prioritised.

### Box 3.1. Anthropogenic emissions sources of different GHGs

GHG emissions include  $CO_2$  emissions and non- $CO_2$  emissions. Main other GHGs are methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and fluorinated gases (F-gases).

Anthropogenic GHG emissions can be classified according to their sources in terms of human activities:

- Energy-related emissions, i.e. emissions from fossil fuel combustion. These are primarily emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, but also include other GHG. Energy use, in a range of sectors such as industry, transport and buildings, is the main source of emissions (Figure 3.2).
- Emissions from industrial processes. Some industrial production processes, which chemically or physically transform materials, result in GHG releases (e.g. cement production) (IPCC, 1996<sub>[64]</sub>).
- Emissions from agriculture, mainly of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O).
- Emissions from waste, which are mainly non-CO<sub>2</sub>.
- Net emissions from land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF).

### Figure 3.2. Relative weight of GHG emissions per source and gas type



Note: For Annex I countries only, in 2019. Excluding LULUCF (net negative emissions). GHG emissions are aggregated using GWP<sub>100</sub> (global warming potentials over 100 years) values from the IPCC AR4. Source: Authors based on data from (UNFCCC, 2019<sub>[65]</sub>).

Third and last, because of their intended use, scenarios in use have different coverages of gases and different scopes in terms of emissions sources, which limits the comparability of their emissions outcomes (also see Section 4.3.2). Box 3.1 provides an overview of the share of different gases and emissions sources in total global GHG emissions. While some scenarios, mostly those produced by IAMs, model all GHGs from all possible sources, others may focus on CO<sub>2</sub> emitted through energy use or energy and industrial processes and use complementary data sources for other GHG emissions. For example, JRC and NGFS scenarios cover all GHGs and all anthropogenic emissions sources; other scenarios focus on CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Scenarios that do not model all GHGs from all sources rely on different methodologies to infill missing gases using data from external sources for

<sup>6</sup> Model for the Assessment of Greenhouse Gas Induced Climate Change (MAGICC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Finite amplitude Impulse Response model.

estimating temperature outcomes, but usually give limited access to that data. GHG may also be aggregated using different aggregation metrics, limiting again the comparability of GHG pathways and outcomes such as net-zero timing across scenarios.

### 3.2.2. End of century and peak warming (criteria 1, 2 and 3 in Table 3.1)

As explained in the framework put forward in Pouille et al.  $(2023_{[11]})$  (Section 3.1), Criteria 1 and 2 translate Paris Agreement's goal of "pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C". Criterion 1 specifies that the 1.5°C target is to be met by the end of the century with a more likely than not chance of at least 50%. Aside from this end-of-century temperature target, mitigation scenarios consistent with Article 2 also limit the chance of overshooting the 1.5°C temperature target throughout the century. This is ensured by criterion 2 which limits overshoots to a maximum of 0.1°C at the 50% likelihood level. This is considered as limited overshoot in IPCC assessments (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). Criterion 3 specifies the likelihood threshold for the "well-below 2°C" objective, i.e. scenarios must have a very likely chance (i.e. 90% chance) for the more stringent set of criteria. The less stringent interpretation loosens this criterion to a lower likelihood of 78%, i.e. in between likely (67%) and very likely (90%). Criterion 2 essentially guarantees both that the 2°C temperature limit is very likely never reached over the full course of the century, and, as a corollary, that the median maximum temperature reached is well-below 2°C.



### Figure 3.3. Paris consistency of global climate change mitigation scenarios

Note: Other below 2°C scenarios in AR6 have 50% likelihood of reaching this temperature. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers, as well as using the IPCC AR6 scenarios database (Byers, 2022<sub>[52]</sub>).

Figure 3.3 shows how the scenarios in use in financial sector target setting and alignment assessments compare against the Paris agreement's temperature goal, as well as against all other below 2°C scenarios in the IPCC database. While there are 7 scenarios that limit the median temperature to 1.5°C by 2100,

only 4 do so with a limited overshoot during the century. The left panel maps all scenarios against their likelihoods of staying below 1.5°C and 2°C throughout the century. Scenarios compliant with a stringent interpretation (respectively less stringent interpretation) of the agreement's temperature goal are located in the upper right dark green box (respectively light green box). The right panel shows median (i.e. at the 50% likelihood level) temperature pathways from 2020 to 2100 corresponding to the different scenarios analysed in this paper, as well as to the Paris-consistent AR6 scenario envelopes. To be consistent with the Paris Agreement, median temperature pathways should remain below 1.6°C during the century (limited overshoot of 1.5°C), and return to 1.5°C or below by 2100.

### 3.2.3. Peak and net zero emissions (criteria 4 and 5 in Table 3.1)

Criteria 4 and 5 translate the emissions objective in Article 4.1 of aiming "to reach global peaking of GHG emissions as soon as possible" and achieving "a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century". Reducing the amount of emissions emitted before net zero through fast emissions reductions already this decade is critical for ensuring that the most dangerous impacts of climate change are avoided, notably by avoiding crossing tipping points (OECD, 2022<sub>[66]</sub>). Criterion 4, therefore, proposes that global GHG emissions peak either before 2025 in its more stringent option or before 2030 in its less stringent one. Criterion 5 additionally translates the Paris Agreement's Article 4.1's objective of reaching net-zero GHG emissions in the second half of the century, which ensures gradual decline in global temperatures in the long-term. The less stringent interpretation loosens this criterion to requiring that GHG emissions are reduced to close to zero by the end of the century, with maximum residual net GHG emissions of 5 Gt. This represents over 90% GHG emissions reductions compared with 2019 levels<sup>8</sup>.

The emissions outcomes displayed in Figure 3.4 reveal that almost all of the scenarios listed reach net-zero CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the second half of the century. This is indeed required to stabilise global temperatures at any level. The timing of net zero is however very variable across scenarios, as shown in Figure 3.4. On the other hand, not all scenarios model all GHGs, and even when they do, net-zero GHG is rarely attained, including for scenarios that reach stringent temperature limits, as shown in Figure 3.4 as well. GHG emissions on the other hand generally peak early, in the mid-2020s, in almost all represented scenarios, consistent with Criteria 4, except for a scenario explicitly exploring a delayed action trajectory (Table 3.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Total global GHG emissions were 59 ±6.6 GtCO2-eq in 2019 according to the IPCC AR6 (with emissions of GHG weighed by global warming potentials with a 100-year time horizon (GWP100) from the AR6) (IPCC, 2022<sub>[1]</sub>).



### Figure 3.4. Year of net-zero CO<sub>2</sub> and net-zero GHG emissions in scenarios used in alignment assessments of finance and in Paris-consistent envelopes

Source: Authors based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers, and the IPCC AR6 scenarios database (Byers, 2022<sub>[63]</sub>).

### 3.3. Implications for the use of scenarios in finance

Providers of financial and corporate sector target setting and alignment assessment methodologies select input scenarios based on their level of ambition. Such level of ambition can be formulated in different ways. For example, organisations supporting climate-related analyses in the financial sector have also started to recommend financial institutions to use scenarios that are 'Paris aligned', 'net zero aligned', or '1.5°C aligned' (IFRS, 2021<sub>[67]</sub>; GFANZ, 2022<sub>[24]</sub>). As shown in the analysis presented in this chapter, such general qualifications of scenarios are not concretely considering all parameters needed for assessing Paris consistency and, as such, do not represent a robust framework for selecting scenarios that can be considered as consistent with the Paris Agreement (Section 3.1, Pouille et al. (2023<sub>[11]</sub>)).

Indeed, the lack of clarity in broad qualifications of scenarios may lead financial market players to choose scenarios that could in reality be considered as inconsistent with the Paris Agreement, possibly leading to targets and progress towards those erroneously assessed as Paris-aligned and, thus, to greenwashing. Existing conceptual challenges to defining a 'Paris-aligned' scenario explain inconsistencies, both in definitions used across scenario providers and financial sector participants and stakeholders, as well as with climate science. As explained in Section 3.2, meeting the level of ambition in the Paris Agreement requires simultaneously considering all its mitigation-related provisions. This requires a robust and systematic translation of these provisions into tangible criteria for analysing and selecting scenarios, informed by the latest science, as outlined in Section 3.2.

In the context of these criteria, providers of climate change mitigation scenarios need to disclose a range of scenario parameters for potential scenario users, notably financial market players, to assess the Paris consistency of a given scenario. Notably, both end of century and peak global warming in scenarios matter for global climate change mitigation goals and climate impacts (Pouille et al., 2023<sub>[11]</sub>). At a minimum, scenario providers need to communicate which of the two they are referring to when giving results on

consistency with the 1.5°C or 2°C target, ideally both aspects would be provided. Additionally, the likelihood associated with temperature outcomes is an essential piece of information. For example, an emissions pathway in line with 1.5°C with a 50% chance is different from a pathway in line with 1.5°C with a 33% chance. In turn, alignment assessment providers should communicate any temperature outcome with the associated likelihood, following more scientific formulations of climate outcomes.

As it stands, the information required to assess the Paris consistency of a given scenario with the criteria is often not publicly disclosed by scenario providers, as shown in Section 3.2. Most scenario providers do not currently disclose the complete temperature outcome data, with associated likelihoods and information on whether it refers to peak- or end-of-the-century temperatures, for their scenarios. This challenges the comparison, robust understanding and use of their scenarios' temperature outcomes on which climate-related financial analysis relies.

Based on the framework and criteria to assess Paris consistency, as well as related needs for comprehensive and harmonised data, no scenario currently used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessment can be qualified as fully consistent with a stringent application of the Paris Agreement objectives. Further, only few scenarios are aligned with a fairly stringent interpretation, as shown by Table 3.3. Hence, in many alignment and target setting exercises, the ambition of scenarios used may not be sufficient and in line with the Paris Agreement, indicating that the financial sector needs to apply a more systematic, science-based approach in selecting climate mitigation scenarios that underpin its climate-related target, transition plans and alignment analyses.
## **4** Are climate change mitigation scenarios fit-for-purpose for use in the financial sector?

After identifying the degree of Paris consistency of scenarios at an aggregate level, understanding whether scenarios are fit-for-purpose to be used in the financial sector requires looking at their applicability (Section 4.1). This chapter does so by providing an overview of the scopes and granularity of the models behind the climate change mitigation scenarios used in the financial sector. In particular, this chapter unfolds the sectoral (Section 4.2), geographical (Section 4.3), emissions (Section 4.4) and temporal (Section 4.5) dimensions of the scenario models. It assesses whether the selected scenarios are sufficiently granular, takes stock of remaining challenges, and reflects on potential implications and solutions for improved applicability to the financial sector (Section 4.6).

#### 4.1. Considerations relating to the applicability of climate change mitigation scenarios for use in the financial sector

The scope and granularity of mitigation scenarios are determined by their underlying modelling frameworks. Previous research highlighted sectoral, geographic, emissions, and temporal scope and granularity are scenario characteristics that have a significant impact on the applicability of scenarios for financial sector target setting and alignment assessments (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sup>[10]</sup>).

Where the scenarios' scope and granularity are insufficient for financial target setting and alignment assessment at the level of financial assets, asset classes and portfolios, financial market participants need to make further methodological assumptions. Notably, as scenarios cannot be modelled at the company level, providers of target setting approaches and alignment assessment methodologies have developed several techniques to downscale scenarios to the company-level for corporate-related assessments (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Such techniques do not currently fall within the domain of scenario development, and hence are not addressed as such as part of the core analysis presented in this paper. The issue of scenario granularity, or the lack thereof is, however directly addressed in the following sub-sections and in the concluding chapter considering possible action areas.

#### 4.2. Sectoral scope and granularity

The scenarios analysed in this paper have different coverage of sectors, as summarised in Table 4.1 which groups sectors according to a sectoral classification used by the IPCC (Dhakal et al., 2022<sub>[68]</sub>). Observed differences stem from the different underlying modelling approaches. IAMs, which are used by the NGFS, follow a top-down macro-economic approach to produce global scenarios covering all sectors. ISF scenarios are built with a bottom-up energy and transport system model. The IEA's GEC model adopts a hybrid approach combining detailed bottom-up sectoral modelling, in particular of the energy system, and

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 37

top-down macro-economic modelling. There are advantages and limits both to using IAMs and bottom-up models for producing mitigation scenarios. While IAMs allow to reflect a whole system approach and the interactions between all sectors of the economy, bottom-up models have a more detailed representation of technologies and dynamics within the individual sectors they cover (IPCC, 2022<sub>[30]</sub>).

	Covered		Complementary data source		Not include	b
	IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Model coverage of IPCC standard sectors	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU	Energy system Industry Transport Buildings AFOLU
Model sectoral resolution	35+ sub-sectors	15+ sub-sectors	14 sub-sectors	10 sub-sectors	14 sub-sectors	17 sub-sectors
Sectoral granularity for emissions pathways output data	4 sectors, 11 sub-sectors	6 sectors, 10 sub-sectors (sectoral data upon request)	5 sectors, 14 sub-sectors	5 sectors, 10 sub-sectors	5 sectors, 14 sub-sectors	6 sectors, following GICS classification, 17 sub-sectors
	Energy (3) Industry (3) Transport (3) Buildings (2)	Energy (4) Industry (4) Buildings (2) Agriculture Transport Other	Energy (5) Industry (5) Transport (2) Buildings (2) AFOLU	Energy (5) Industry (4) Transport (1) Buildings AFOLU	Energy (5) Industry (5) Transport (2) Buildings (2) AFOLU	Energy (3) Utilities (3) Buildings Industrials /Transport (3) Materials (8) Consumer staples (food processing)

#### Table 4.1. Overview of sectoral scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways and model

Note: Considered models include Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) for IEA scenarios, One Earth Climate Model (OECM) for UTS-ISF scenarios, POLES model for JRC scenarios, 3 IAMs (GCAM, MESSAGEix, REMIND) for NGFS scenarios. Further details in Table A B.1. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Different sectors will follow different emissions pathways as the timing and speed of emissions reductions depends on for example the initial level of emissions, available mitigation options and marginal abatement costs, as well as distributional equity considerations in terms of which sectors need to move faster (which can also relate to geographical distributional equity considerations as explained in detail in Section 4.3.3). Therefore, for each sector they cover, scenarios are based on sectoral and technological assumptions impacting the scale and speed of emissions reductions over time (as discussed further in Chapter 5).

Granular sectoral emissions pathways are needed at the level of individual financial assets and underlying real economy asset, such as corporates, real estate and infrastructure (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Where scenarios provide insufficient granularity within sectors, the emissions pathways provided are too aggregate to inform a sufficiently specific assessment and may, thereby, increase the risk of GHG lock-in (OECD, 2023<sub>[69]</sub>). For example, in real estate, residential buildings, commercial buildings, and warehouses have different emissions profiles (Jachnik and Dobrinevski, 2021<sub>[25]</sub>). In transport, there are key difference between infrastructure and vehicles (Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[27]</sub>). Another example is industry where different sub-sectors such as manufacture of cement and steel emit more than others such as manufacture of textiles (Dobrinevski and Jachnik, 2020<sub>[26]</sub>).

#### Figure 4.1. Industry sub-sectoral energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions pathways across scenarios



Scenario: - IEA NZE - JRC GECO 1.5°C - NGFS NZE 2050 - NGFS DIV NZE - UTS-ISF OECM NZE

Panel A: Industrial CO<sub>2</sub> emissions pathways



Note: Sectors are defined by the scenario provider. Hence, the sectoral boundaries and scope may differ. Figure A C.2 provides a zoomed-in image for the UTS-ISF OECM NZE scenario pathways to better distinguish the different sector pathways. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

The selected models have broadly similar sectoral granularity for emissions pathways (Table 4.1). However, UTS-ISF's OECM provides emissions pathways for a larger number of subsectors, including for example food processing and textile manufacturing. While all selected scenario models have sectoral specificity, the level of complexity included for each sector differs. Models tend to have much more detail in their representation of energy supply, than they do for industry (IPCC, 2022<sub>[30]</sub>) Sectoral specificity is also highly dependent on the quality of the underlying input data.

Sectoral emissions pathways differ across scenario providers, as illustrated in Figure 4.1 for industry. However, sectoral pathways cannot be directly compared across providers and models. Differences in sectoral emissions pathways and decarbonisation speeds are reflective of different scenario assumptions (which are further explored in Chapter 5). Additionally, scenario providers use different sectoral classifications and boundaries.

In practical terms, there is a mismatch between sectoral classifications used in the financial sector and by scenario providers respectively. Financial sector analyses are typically based on data structured based on international sectoral classifications, such as ISIC, NACE, NAICS or GICS, used for corporate and financial accounting purposes (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). However, climate change mitigation scenarios have been developed using sector classifications defined for the purposes of tracking GHG emissions relate more closely to climate policy as these are according to combustion types, such as the IPCC sectoral classification (Battiston et al., 2022<sub>[70]</sub>; Teske, 2022<sub>[71]</sub>). The nature of corporate activities is typically better characterised based on granular (4-digit) sub-sectors, which scenario GHG data cannot match. Climate modellers, who provide climate change mitigation scenarios are currently proposing two ways to solve this limitation.

- Mappings of sectoral classifications used in scenarios and climate policy with those in corporate and financial accounting. For example, NACE codes of economic activities can be mapped into climate policy relevant sectors (CPRS) (Battiston et al., 2022<sub>[70]</sub>), such as those used by the IPCC (Figure 4.2). This approach is put forward by the NGFS for its climate scenarios.
- Start to develop scenarios based on economic classifications. This approach is used by the ISF. To
  develop scenarios for sectors classified under the GICS, ISF climate modellers significantly improved
  the technological resolution of the OECM (Teske, 2022<sub>[71]</sub>). For example, all demand and supply
  calculations had to be broken down into GICS sectors before the individual pathways could be
  developed.

A full assessment of assets within financial portfolios requires a wide coverage of granular sectoral emissions pathways. In practice, granular sectoral emissions pathways are not (yet) developed for all economic sub-sectors (see list of sub-sectors covered by scenario providers in Annex B). Notably some high-emissions sectors are not covered by current scenarios, such as mining and consumer products. On the other hand, pathways for high emitting sectors may be prioritised (Gardes-Landolfini et al., 2023<sub>[72]</sub>) and sector-agnostic pathways can be used for low-emitting sectors (SBTi, 2021<sub>[8]</sub>).

Aside from the sector classification and granularity as such, two more current corporate GHG accounting practices influence the use of scenarios. Since companies typically find themselves at a certain stage of a sectoral value chain, corporate GHG accounting considers direct and indirect emissions (i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions)<sup>9</sup> (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). The relevance of Scope 3 emissions depends on the sector and where across the value chain a company sits, and link to GHG emissions along supply chains and business relationships (Figure 4.3). Scope 3 represent close to the totality of financial sector GHG

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Scope 1 are direct emissions from owned or controlled assets, Scope 2 indirect emissions from the consumption of purchased heat, electricity or steam, and Scope 3 are indirect emissions from any other up- and down-stream activities related to the company's product (World Resources Institute & World Business Council for Sustainable evelopment, 2004<sub>[157]</sub>). These were defined via the GHG Protocol, a reference point for corporate level reporting and accounting.

emissions and are hence central to financial institutions' target setting, transition and alignment assessments.



#### Figure 4.2. Translation of economic sector NACE classification to Climate Policy Relevant Sectors

Source: Authors, adapted from (Battiston et al., 2017[73]).



#### Figure 4.3. Illustration of Scope considerations for a reporting company

Source: Authors, adapted from GHG Protocol.

Scenarios typically model direct emissions and follow a national production-based GHG accounting approach, based on the IPCC guidelines for national GHG inventories, which differs from the corporate GHG accounting approach based on GHG Scopes 1, 2 and 3, which Figure 4.3 illustrates. As a result,

users of scenarios need to make further assumptions to transform scenario pathways to be consistent with corporate emissions accounting practices. This typically implies matching different variables from climate change mitigation scenarios to get reference emissions pathways that include Scope 1, 2 and 3 for a given sector. This is both challenging due to the sectoral classification challenges discussed above and potential double counting. While these practicality issues have traditionally not been addressed in scenario development, the ISF has been the first to include emissions pathways corresponding to all three scopes for the subsectors, for which it has granular data (Teske, 2022<sub>[71]</sub>). It avoids double counting by defining, for each subsector, a primary class for the primary energy industry, a secondary class for the supply utilities, and an end-use class for all the economic activities that use the energy from the primary- and secondary-class companies.

#### Box 4.1. Using mitigation scenarios as input to non-GHG metrics of climate change mitigation performance

Climate change mitigation scenarios provide pathways for variables other than emissions. For example, they provide technology development and production pathways, which are further explored in Chapter 5. Such information can support the development of complementary metrics tor assessing the overall climate performance of financial assets.

Several metrics are being developed to track climate performance in the financial sector based on non-GHG data. For example, production outputs based on capital expenditure plans on low-carbon versus carbon-intensive technologies can link more directly to real-economy impacts of decarbonisation efforts (2DII, 2022<sub>[74]</sub>). Moreover, economic activities that do not generate high GHG emissions can be critical carbon enablers (e.g. pipelines), while climate solutions and enabling activities have no (clear) emissions pathway (e.g. renewables, IT for energy efficiency, etc.). Therefore, some initiatives focus on non-GHG pathway variables from the selected scenarios.

#### Box 4.2. Individual sector emissions pathways: example for the steel sector

As shown by Figure 4.1, the different scenario providers analysed in this paper provide different emissions pathways for the steel sector. Aside from such scenarios developed by economy-wide scenario models, different industry-led initiatives have developed bottom-up emissions pathways for the steel sector, such as (E3G, 2021<sub>[75]</sub>), (Mission Possible Partnership, 2022<sub>[76]</sub>), and (Net Zero Steel, 2021<sub>[77]</sub>)).

These different pathways aim to reflect potential ways for the steel sector to reach net-zero emissions. At the same time, these different pathways have common characteristics. For example, they tend to show that energy efficiency alone is insufficient and the need for breakthrough technologies.

Similarly to economy-wide scenarios that explicitly cover and model the steel sector, such sector-specific scenarios for the steel sector can be used as input to climate-related target setting and alignment assessments for steel companies. Where more specific and granular, such scenarios may be more appropriate to inform steel companies' climate transition plans. However, an important limitation of stand-alone sector-specific pathways is that, in contrast to sector-specific pathways in economy-wide scenarios, they cannot be tested on their Paris consistency (as explained in Chapter 3).

#### 4.3. Geographical scope and granularity

Global climate change scenarios are needed to test that mitigation pathways comply with global climate objectives in the Paris Agreement (as discussed in Chapter 3). However, exclusively relying on global mitigation pathways does not allow taking into account technical, political and social considerations at the regional and national level (Jiang, Peters and Green, 2019[78]).

For financial sector actors, geographically granular pathways may be needed to analyse the performance of financial assets and underlying real economy actors and assets (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Indeed, geographic granularity needs differ across asset classes and portfolio segments. Global pathways can be appropriate for assessments of large multinational financial and non-financial corporations. Financial asset classes and portfolio segments that are bounded within a national territory (such as sovereign bonds, infrastructure and real estate, small enterprises) need to consider pathways that account for local and regional economic development needs, priorities, and resource constraints driving country- or region- specific emission budgets (CPI, 2020<sub>[79]</sub>).

#### 4.3.1. Modelling scope and specificity

All the global scenarios considered as part of this analysis rely on global multi-regional models (Table 4.2). As such, they break down the world into a given number of regions, which are modelled individually using input data (e.g. population, GDP, energy supply etc) at the resolution of each modelled region. While all selected models have a global scope, Table 4.2 shows each has a different geographic breakdown of the world i.e. a different geographic specificity, from up to 66 regions for the POLES model (JRC) down to 11 regions for MESSAGE (NGFS). Regional specificity also differs among the models that underpin different NGFS scenarios, with GCAM having specificity for almost three times more regions in REMIND. Additionally, the models may have higher resolution input data for some of their modules, such as for fossil fuel supply which usually requires more geographic specificity to be accurately represented. For example, the IEA covers input variables such as oil or gas supply for 113 regions, but the model has overall less geographic specificity, with 26 aggregated regions (IEA, 2022<sub>[80]</sub>).

Models		IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Modelled geographic scope of input variables		Global, multi-region	Global, multi-region	Global, multi-region	Global, multi-region	Global, multi-region	Global, multi-region
Modelled geographic specificity of input variables		26 regions, of which 12 countries Higher specificity for oil and coal supply modules	66 regions, of which 54 countries Higher specificity for oil, gas and coal production modules	32 regions, of which 15 countries Higher specificity for land use module	11 regions Higher specificity for land use module	12 regions, of which 4 countries Higher specificity for land use module	10 regions + 19 countries Higher specificity for renewable resources and power supply modules
Geographic granularity for emissions pathways data (output variable)	From modelled specificity	7 regions, 26 subregions of which 6 countries	66 regions, of which 54 countries	32 regions, of which 15 countries	11 regions	12 regions, of which 4 countries	10 regions + 19 countries
	Additional granularity from ex-post downscaling	No	No	185 countries	185 countries	185 countries	No

#### Table 4.2. Overview of geographic scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways

Note: Considered models include Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) for IEA scenarios, One Earth Climate Model (OECM) for UTS-ISF scenarios, POLES model for JRC scenarios, 3 IAMs (GCAM, MESSAGEix, REMIND) for NGFS scenarios. Further details in Table A B.2. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

#### 4.3.2. Geographical granularity of GHG emissions pathways

Climate change mitigation models have mainly been developed at the global level (van Soest, den Elzen and van Vuuren, 2021<sub>[81]</sub>), including as highlighted above, the ones that underpin climate change mitigation scenarios used for financial sector target setting and alignment assessment. Going from global to regional, and even more so national mitigation scenarios is challenging (van Soest, 2022<sub>[82]</sub>). Different approaches can, however, be followed by climate modellers to obtain scenario pathways for different variables at a finer geographic resolution (Sferra, van Ruijven and Riahi, 2021<sub>[83]</sub>):

- Increase the geographic specificity of their global models. This can be done through adding more country-specific information and data for different input variables. Modelling specificity involves increasing the level of detail and complexity of a model to capture finer-scale processes and interactions that are relevant to the climate change mitigation scenarios. However, this strategy has remained difficult due to the complexity of climate change mitigation models (e.g. IAMs). Increasing modelling specificity makes a model more data-intensive, expensive and time consuming (Cradock-Henry, Diprose and Frame, 2021<sub>[84]</sub>).
- Increase geographic granularity through ex-post country-level downscaling of global model outputs (i.e. emissions pathways). To perform downscaling, researchers start with a global or regional emissions scenario generated by their model and then use bottom-up models or data to disaggregate the emissions to the national level. (van Vuuren, Smith and Riahi, 2010<sub>[85]</sub>; Fujimori et al., 2017<sub>[86]</sub>; Sferra, van Ruijven and Riahi, 2021<sub>[83]</sub>). This is the approach taken by the NGFS to obtain emissions pathways for 185 countries, downscaled from the outputs of the models used.
- Alternatively, develop regional and national scale models (rather than global ones), resulting in scenarios for specific national scopes providing high granularity. However, their application in isolation does not make it possible to shed light on whether such scenarios are in line with the global carbon budgets and the Paris Agreement temperature goal (van Soest, den Elzen and van Vuuren, 2021<sub>[81]</sub>). For the latter, global models are needed as they provide the boundary conditions in terms of global emissions and resulting temperature (Schaeffer et al., 2020<sub>[87]</sub>). This partially explains why such national scenarios are not currently used by alignment methodologies in the financial sector (Box 4.2). Another reason being that such scenarios are limited in their availability and comparability.

#### Box 4.3. Global scenarios and national scenarios

Making a link between a pathway for a given region or country and global temperature outcomes (and in turn Paris consistency) requires using pathways derived from global models (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). This is why national pathways given as part of global scenarios, or downscaled using global scenarios, are currently being used in the financial sector when assessing alignment with global climate objectives such as the 1.5°C goal.

However, besides global scenarios such as those explored in this paper, country-level scenarios are increasingly produced using national energy or integrated assessment models and used by governments to inform national policy making and long-term climate strategies (Fujimori et al., 2021<sub>[88]</sub>). Such national scenarios capture granular country- and sector-specific information and dynamics that can be important at the national or sectoral level, and that cannot be matched by global models despite efforts and improvements to increase their geographic specificity. One example of this is the United Kingdom Balanced Net Zero Pathway (Committee on Climate Chang, 2020<sub>[89]</sub>), which can inform climate change mitigation alignment assessments of real-economy investments and financing within the United Kingdom (Jachnik and Dobrinevski, 2021<sub>[25]</sub>).

However, these national scenarios are designed using individual national climate goals/targets. Making the link between a single nationally-produced scenario and global temperature outcomes is not possible (van Soest, den Elzen and van Vuuren, 2021<sub>[81]</sub>), which does not currently allow for the use of national scenarios in alignment assessments. Moreover, using national pathways to assess financial portfolios and assets would often not be appropriate given that holdings and investments by large financial institutions and investors typically span multiple countries and global regions.

The use of national scenarios in finance is also limited by the difficulty of systematically identifying their existence and accessing underlying data and information. Where they exist, many countries do not make national scenario publicly available and, when they do, information is often dispersed across governmental reports and rarely published in academic papers, (Fujimori et al., 2021<sub>[88]</sub>). There have been attempts to consistently collect national scenarios. For example, the European Scientific Advisory Board on Climate Change (ESABCC) collected national scenarios to underpin its analysis providing advice the EU 2040 climate target (ESABCC, 2023<sub>[90]</sub>). The IPCC AR6 also attempted to consistently collect regional and national scenarios, but with only limited success (Byers, 2022<sub>[52]</sub>).

Global integrated models and national models are however sometimes applied in combination to develop national-level pathways that both allow to meet global climate goals and account for national circumstances (van Soest, den Elzen and van Vuuren, 2021<sub>[81]</sub>).

The regional and national granularity of emissions pathways from the selected scenario models can differ significantly (Table 4.2). For example, NGFS scenarios provide emissions pathways for 185 countries, while IEA only does so for six. While NGFS has model specificity for 11 to 31 regions (depending on the model), NGFS has made progress to downscale emissions pathways to the national level for 185 countries. NGFS does so by downscaling energy variables to the country level based on short-term projections extrapolated of historic trends and long-term IAM benchmarks" are based on regionally aggregated IAM results, adding conditional convergence and policy adjustments (Richters et al., 2022<sub>[91]</sub>).

Different scenario providers disclose different pathways for different countries (Figure 4.4). These pathways are also not directly comparable due to different coverage of emissions sources (Chapter 3) and assumptions (Chapter 5). Figure 4.4 also shows the differences in granularity. Most scenario providers model national pathways for a handful of large countries, such as the US and China. However, few provide such pathways for a wide range of countries (typically done through ex-post downscaling). National

pathways for developing countries may differ more from one scenario to the other as illustrated for South Africa in Figure 4.4), possibly reflecting larger uncertainty in the underlying data on which it is build.



Figure 4.4. Geographically granular GHG emissions pathways for China, France, South Africa, US

Note: Emissions pathways cover all GHGs from all sources depending on the scenario coverage detailed in Table 3.2. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

#### 4.3.3. Equity considerations

Equity considerations are crucial to international mitigation efforts and international climate policy negotiations (Ganti et al., 2023<sub>[92]</sub>). Cost-effective scenarios that tap into least cost abatement options globally without considering compensation schemes to equalize the mitigation burden between countries are not designed to account for equity dimensions (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). In such scenarios, which consider a uniform carbon price globally, carbon-intensive countries are allocated more emissions reduction efforts (ibid). Carbon-intensive countries are however usually poorer, raising equity concerns (ibid). There is a

large body of literature exploring international burden sharing and emissions reductions financing regimes to accompany globally cost-effective mitigation pathways (Lecocq et al., 2022[93]). Further, while the present section focuses on equity considerations from a geographical perspective, burden sharing assumptions in relation to the contribution of different economic sectors (at global, regional, and national levels), as discussed in Section 4.2, also involve equity-related considerations and implications.

Current climate science literature considers a few potential options to include burden-sharing assumptions for allocating emissions or emissions reductions financing across geographies.

- Country-level emissions pathways can be built by allocating global emissions to countries based using an equitable effort-sharing regime (Williges et al., 2022<sub>[94]</sub>; Pan et al., 2017<sub>[95]</sub>). This approach uses global emissions pathways or the global carbon budget consistent with climate goals as starting point, and downscales these to individual countries based on the consideration of different effort-sharing principles considered (e.g. combinations of historical responsibility in past emissions, not exceeding country-level feasible emissions reductions etc) (Williges et al., 2022<sub>[94]</sub>). Such a downscaled approach usually only allows to derive an aggregate national emissions pathway for each country without having the sectoral specificity of model-based scenarios. Further, such an approach does not consider economic feasibility constraints.
- Global scenarios can maintain their cost-effective allocation of emissions reductions but add financial transfers between countries (Pachauri et al., 2022<sub>[96]</sub>). In this case, emission reductions happen where they are the least costly but are paid for by countries based on equity principles through an equitable global emission-trading scheme (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). The magnitude of transfers depends on the burden-sharing principle (ibid). In the AR6 scenarios database for instance, 70 of over 500 scenarios exploring immediate global cost-effective action consider international transfers (Byers, 2022<sub>[52]</sub>).
- Equity considerations can also be partly included into global models through geographically differentiated carbon prices (see more in Chapter 5). In that case, carbon prices are usually differentiated across regions according to their per-capita income, with developed countries having a higher carbon price and developing countries progressively catching up (for example in JRC 2021 scenarios and the ISF scenarios).
- A similar approach is to account for differentiated policies and emissions targets across countries, by using countries' NDCs as a starting point for building national scenarios or emissions pathways. This can be done with individual national models, or within global integrated models with sufficient geographic specificity. This ensures the respect of the sovereignty of countries in their mitigation efforts warranted by the Paris Agreement, although there is a debate about whether current NDCs can be considered fair (Lecocq et al., 2022<sub>[93]</sub>).<sup>10</sup> Scenarios that are built based on all current NDCs however do not allow to keep global warming below the Paris Agreement's target (Lecocq et al., 2022<sub>[93]</sub>). Bridge scenarios have recently been developed, to bridge the ambition gap between all national emissions pathways based on NDCs and global cost-effective emissions pathways consistent with international climate policy goals (Kriegler et al., 2018<sub>[97]</sub>; van Soest et al., 2021<sub>[98]</sub>). These scenarios are built with global scenarios that use NDCs as a starting point but then strengthen national NDC-based emissions reductions by introducing gradual phase-in of a range of additional national policies, rather than immediate cost-effective carbon pricing (*ibid*).

Equity considerations and burden-sharing assumptions are to a large extent not considered by the climate change mitigation models analysed in this paper. They were typically not designed to address these issues, but rather to provide cost-effective global emissions pathways to reach international climate policy goals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Examples of equity limitations in current NDCs include unsubstantiated equity statements in NDCs (Winkler et al., 2017<sub>[155]</sub>) and equity approaches based on historical emissions can lead to very stringent budgets for developing countries (van den Berg et al., 2019<sub>[156]</sub>).

Notably, all models assume a unique price, except for the OECM and the IEA, which only differentiate between developed countries and developing countries (see more in Chapter 5). For scenarios that downscale the modelled emissions pathways at the country-level (NGFS scenarios), equity considerations are only considered to the extent that country-level downscaled CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are adjusted based on current NDCs and mid-century domestic targets (Richters et al., 2022<sub>[91]</sub>). The gap between domestic emissions targets and the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions downscaled from the modelled cost-effective pathways is then bridged through assumptions on increased use of some mitigation options such as renewables (*ibid*). This approach is therefore similar to the NDC-based bridge scenario approach described above.

#### Box 4.4. Granularity across scenario dimensions

For climate-related financial analyses, granularity is needed across the different dimensions addressed in this chapter at the same time. For example, financial institutions may want information on sectoral emissions by GHG type for sectors where non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs are significant (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>). Another example is for real estate, where sectoral building pathways are needed at the national level (CRREM, 2020<sub>[99]</sub>). Such data is generally very limited across scenario providers. Sectoral specificity is also highly dependent on the quality of the underlying input data.

#### 4.4. Emissions scope and granularity

To understand global warming impacts, climate change mitigation-related analyses need to be based on total emissions across all types of GHGs (in  $CO_2$ -equivalent terms). These include long-lived GHGs with lifetimes of 100 years or more (notably  $CO_2$  and nitrous oxide) and short-lived GHGs (notably methane and some hydrofluorocarbons) (Dhakal et al.,  $2022_{[68]}$ ).

Most selected models cover all GHG emissions (Table 4.3), but some only disclose  $CO_2$  emissions pathways. Where non- $CO_2$  emissions are not disclosed, financial sector analyses of decarbonisation efforts, targets and performance need to estimate those. This is typically done by applying an average share of non- $CO_2$  emissions compared to  $CO_2$  emissions linearly (Noels and Jachnik,  $2022_{[10]}$ ). Especially for sectors where non- $CO_2$  GHGs are significant (such as, for methane, agriculture, energy and industrial processes with high fugitive emissions, and waste), this could result in inaccurate target setting and alignment assessments. Given the importance of comprehensive GHG coverage in the context of Paris consistency assessments, as detailed in (Pouille et al.,  $2023_{[11]}$ ) and illustrated here in Chapter 3), scenarios with emissions gaps cannot inform targets that aim to be aligned with the Paris Agreement.

	Fully disclosed			Data not disclosed		
	IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Disclosed	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>
emissions	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH4	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>
pathways data	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other

#### Table 4.3. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of publicly-disclosed emissions pathways

Note: Considered models include Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) for IEA scenarios, One Earth Climate Model (OECM) for UTS-ISF scenarios, POLES model for JRC scenarios, 3 IAMs (GCAM, MESSAGEix, REMIND) for NGFS scenarios. Further details in Table A B.3. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Because information on the emissions for the individual gases is required to consistently assess global warming impacts of emissions, some research further suggests that government and corporate reporting and disclosure of GHG emissions should indicate the separate contribution of each type of GHGs to total emissions in targets and measurement of progress (Allen et al., 2022<sub>[100]</sub>). In turn, this would require scenario providers to not only model all GHG emissions, but also disclose pathway data broken down for different types of GHG.

#### 4.5. Temporal scope and granularity

Credible financial and corporate sector transition plans towards aligning with the Paris Agreement need to include not only a long-term ambitious target, but also clear interim targets as well as steps and actions towards reaching those (OECD, 2022[9]). These need to be informed by pathway data for GHG and other relevant scenario output variables with both a long-term time perspective and regular time intervals.

In this context, a current challenge to using climate scenarios is that they lack a short-term perspective (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>; UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>). While available scenarios offer high-level narratives to illustrate the potential trajectories of the economy, they may be difficult to translate into near-term implications for private and public decision makers, notably in terms of transition activities, some of which that may take place at different pace and scale across geographies and sub-sector.<sup>11</sup> In this context, users may not be aware that climate models typically assume linear trajectories of change whereas in reality, transformations often follow non-linear trajectories, where exponential growth in technology may suddenly occur in response to a change in market conditions before finding a maximum rate (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>; UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>).

For the scenarios in scope of the present analysis, models differ in their temporal scope, in terms of start and end year and intermediate data points (Table 4.4). Some only have data until 2050 while others do so until 2100. A long-term horizon is needed to identify short-, medium-, and long-term changes consistent with a long-term climate objective (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>). However, the further into the future, the more uncertainty there is around a given datapoint. Further, most models have a modelling start year at or before 2010, meaning that recent years are already projections from an earlier point in time. Only the UTS-ISF OECM model has a more recent start date, meaning it includes more recent information on emissions-relevant variables.

	IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Temporal scope of disclosed emissions pathway data	2010-2050	1990-2070	2005-2100	1990-2100	2005-2100	2019-2050
Temporal granularity (interval) of disclosed emissions pathway data	10 years	10 years	5 years	5 years (1990-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	5 years (2005-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	5 years (2019-2040), 10 years (2040-2050

#### Table 4.4. Overview of temporal scope and granularity of publicly-disclosed emissions pathways

Note: Considered models include Global Energy and Climate Model (GEC) for IEA scenarios, One Earth Climate Model (OECM) for UTS-ISF scenarios, POLES model for JRC scenarios, 3 IAMs (GCAM, MESSAGEix, REMIND) for NGFS scenarios. Further details in Table A B.4. Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This was also one the key takeaways from an OECD workshop on Climate Transition Scenarios: Integrating models into risk assessment under uncertainty and the cost of delayed action organised on 6 July 2022.

The selected models have information on emissions pathways at a five-to-ten-year interval (Table 4.4). Intermediate data points such as 5-year granularity can be helpful as investors need intermediate reference points against which to compare short-term and intermediate targets. Previous research showed that the level of emissions at intermediate points can have a significant impact on alignment assessments of finance (Noels and Jachnik,  $2022_{[10]}$ ). Especially, short-term scenario emissions levels are needed for financial sector analyses of net zero and for making short-term financing decisions. In addition, net-zero analysis of finance may need to compare climate performance of financial assets over a time period. In this case the scenarios' emissions pathways need to be allocated over several years, which now requires interpolation of scenario data points between the provided intervals, and makes the begin and end-year as well as the implied pace of decarbonisation highly impactful.

#### 4.6. Implications for the use of scenarios in the financial sector

While the mitigation scenarios currently used in the financial sector are created at a global level, financial institutions and investors need disaggregated scenarios to set climate targets for and assess the climate performance of financial assets, asset classes and portfolios (Noels and Jachnik,  $2022_{[10]}$ ). However, there is no agreed approach to downscale global scenarios, due to the absence of political consensus on burden sharing. On the other hand, the alternative solution of increasing the specificity of global models leads to increased complexity, data needs (difficult to fulfil in many geographies) and computing power demands. Hence, there may be a trade-off between granularity and practicality. Still, scenario providers have made progress on sectoral, geographic, emissions and temporal granularity, although further developments are needed as shown in this chapter.

As the speed of decarbonisation will differ across sectors, financial and non-financial corporates should set targets based on and assess alignment against sectoral or sub-sectoral level emissions pathways. As shown in Section 4.2, providers of global scenarios have made progress in providing more granular sectoral pathways. They also started providing pathways using economically relevant sector classifications or translations. Further developments to enhance sectoral granularity can, to the extend made possible by available granular data, address needs to match fine sectoral granularity in financial and corporate accounting. This would allow target setting and assessment of alignment with a sectoral pathway more relevant for a given financial asset, as well as more tailored client engagement and improved transition risk assessments.

Financial institutions typically work with a sector-based pathways approach (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>). While stand-alone sector-specific pathways are increasingly being put forward by industry initiatives, it is challenging to link these to global carbon budgets and hence to assess their Paris consistency (see Box 4.2). On the other hand, sectoral pathways do not always exist in global models or are not publicly available for every sector. Such lack of granularity in global scenarios and coverage gaps for specific sectors or sub-sectors prevents a complete analysis of a portfolio, both for alignment assessments and transition risk analyses. While sector-agnostic pathways could be considered for certain low-emissions sectors, emissions pathways for several emissions-intensive sectors are still missing. Addressing shortcomings with respect to sectoral, but also geographical, granularity in global emissions pathways are important to address risks of carbon lock-in in transition finance, as credible transition finance often depends on the use of granular emissions pathways (OECD, 2023<sub>[69]</sub>).

Geographically granular pathways are especially relevant for sovereign bonds, real estate and private equity of smaller companies, but also large listed companies with regional activities, such as electric utilities, as explained in 4.3. Different approaches can be used to obtain scenario pathways for different variables at a finer geographic resolution, including increased modelled geographic specificity, ex-post country-level downscaling, and developing regional and national scale models. The latter approach, which remains underdeveloped, however does not allow to assess consistency of a national pathway with a

global temperature without making explicit equity considerations relating to burden sharing. Scenario providers are increasingly providing national pathways through the former two approaches, allowing more tailored climate-related financial analyses. The detailed underlying data needed as inputs to the models on a wide range of socio-economic, technological and policy information by country is not always available, especially in the case of developing countries. Therefore, there may be large uncertainties left in their use.

Granular information gaps for developing countries and an absence of equity considerations in scenarios may have unintended and undesirable implications in terms of portfolio allocation (investment and divestment decisions) when such scenarios are used in target setting, transition planning and alignment assessments. Current climate change mitigation scenarios provide limited granular information for developing countries, many of which are treated as part of broader regions and not explicitly modelled, partially due to limitations in the underlying input data. Moreover, there is limited consideration of equity at the scenario level because these global scenarios are not designed to answer such questions (as explained in Section 4.3.3). Indeed, such questions need to be informed by international policy. Still, applying an equity framework when downscaling the scenarios can at least partially address this concern.

Gaps in scenario data in terms of emissions scope result in providers of target setting and alignment assessments methodologies having to design and implement their own assumptions (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Some scenario providers do not cover all GHG emissions, as shown in Section 4.4. Partial coverage of GHGs in a climate model means that the full warming impact cannot be assessed. Hence, partial emissions pathways are not well placed to inform targets and alignment assessments. On the other hand, some scenario providers indeed cover all types of emissions, with disaggregated information by type. Such comprehensive coverage can inform comprehensive GHG reduction targets and allows transition plans to detail non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs reduction actions in sectors where non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHG emissions are large.

The scope and design of climate change mitigation scenarios implies that they are not suitable inputs to assess some elements commonly put forward in financial and corporate sector GHG targets and transition plans, resulting in misuses and greenwashing if they are. In particular, mitigation scenarios are not designed to assess the extent to which a financial institution or corporation may credibly make use of offsets while maintaining environmental integrity. As scenarios are already designed to optimise costs and emissions reductions across sectors and regions, the emissions pathways reflect the actual emissions reductions that need to happen in the associated sector and region.

Aside from informing long-term GHG reduction, greater temporal granularity in emissions pathways can support better short-term private sector decision making. In the context of transition plans, which need to identify actions towards GHG reductions over time, investors are increasingly demanding short-term interim targets to assess much needed early action. Concrete scenario information with regular intervals is needed to inform such targets. While some scenario providers are already providing information at five-year intervals, more short-term information is relevant to influence short-term decision-making. In this context, steps taken by some scenario providers to increase the temporal granularity of their models (including more regular time intervals), as shown in Section 4.4 is a step in the right direction.

Progress by scenarios providers also resulted in the availability of a range of scenarios for the same sector or country, and sectors can be defined differently by different providers for different use cases. Different assumptions made for obtaining higher-resolution data may lead to different pathways and mitigation strategies to reach a certain target. The use of multiple pathways can contribute to capturing the range of possible outcomes. However, this requires a good understanding of the scenario characteristics and assumptions, which the next chapter further explores.

# 5 What are the characteristics of mitigation strategies and assumptions of climate change mitigation scenarios?

This chapter analyses the underlying mitigation strategies and input assumptions to achieve the scenario ambition (Chapter 3) given its scope and granularity (Chapter 4). By gaining insights into these dimensions, financial institutions can identify potential inconsistencies between their climate change mitigation scenarios and financial models, assess uncertainties and sensitivities if certain scenario assumptions do not materialise, and enhance their engagement practices. Indeed, as financial institutions engage with investees and borrowers, they may want to understand how far these scenarios are based on plausible mitigation strategies towards achieving their level of ambition. Such information can also inform investment priorities.

In this context, this chapter first provides an overview of dimensions relating to mitigation strategies and assumptions of relevance to characterising scenarios and their mitigation pathways (Section 5.1). It then analyses the mitigation strategies that are followed by scenarios currently used for financial sector target setting and alignment assessments, how they differ across scenarios and which feasibility concerns they entail (Section 5.2). This chapter then dives into the assumptions that underlie the scenarios' mitigation strategies (Section 5.3). In doing so, it seeks to highlight uncertainties in resulting pathways (Section 5.4).

#### 5.1. Overview of key dimensions of mitigation strategies and assumptions

Mitigation scenario providers aim at providing feasible and credible mitigation pathways to reach a given climate change mitigation goal. Each scenario projects one possible **mitigation strategy** i.e. one possible combination of required short-, medium- and long-term transformations and associated GHG emissions reductions to reach a given climate target (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). The IPCC AR6 shows that all pathways in the literature that achieve stringent emissions reductions to likely limit warming to 2°C or below rely on a combination of energy supply decarbonisation, energy demand reductions, land emissions reductions and use of CDR (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). The overall mitigation strategies in climate change mitigation scenarios used by the financial sector can, therefore, be understood by analysing their reliance on different combinations of these mitigation options, acknowledging that there are many other dimensions of mitigation strategies in scenarios.

As a point of comparison for mitigation strategies of scenarios, this chapter relies on the IPCC AR6's **Illustrative Mitigation Pathways (IMPs).** These are a set of five climate change mitigation scenarios that were selected from the IPCC scenarios database to each illustrate and explore a critical mitigation strategy: heavy reliance on renewables (IMP-Ren), strong emphasis on energy demand reductions (IMP-LD), extensive use of CDR in the energy and the industry sectors to achieve net negative emissions (IMP-Neg),

mitigation in the context of broader sustainable development (IMP-SP), and the implications of a less rapid and gradual strengthening of near-term mitigation actions (IMP-GS). The IMPs are important points of reference because they are representative of the scenario space, showing the range of possible mitigation strategies that can achieve stringent mitigation goals (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>).

Different mitigation strategies are associated with different **feasibility challenges**. The IPCC AR6 provides a framework for assessment of the feasibility of mitigation scenarios, which can serve as a second point of reference. Feasibility analyses evaluate the plausibility of what can be achieved given societal capacities to change within a given period (Brutschin et al., 2021<sub>[101]</sub>; Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). The IPCC framework identifies key feasibility indicators and their low, medium, and high concern thresholds based on the latest scientific literature (as listed in Annex C). The indicators capture the scale and disruptiveness of transformative change implied by scenarios' mitigation strategies (IPCC, 2022<sub>[30]</sub>). For example, the literature has found that a scale up of solar by 20 percentage points per decade may be technologically challenging (Brutschin et al., 2021<sub>[101]</sub>).

While this paper adheres to the general definitions and frameworks relating to the feasibility of mitigation strategies in the literature and notably of the IPCC, it is important to acknowledge that those definitions and frameworks often rely on historical trends to assess what is feasible in the future. As such, they may underestimate the potential of systems to undergo disruptive changes. Enhanced understanding of the potential for disruptive and rapid changes through less conservative approaches to assess feasibility may shed light in potential ways forward or achieving deeper and earlier mitigation.

The mitigation strategies projected by scenarios to achieve emissions reductions ultimately depend on key scenario **input and modelling assumptions**. Indeed, scenarios each rely on different assumptions and modelling frameworks, which reflect technological and socioeconomic uncertainties (Guivarch et al., 2022<sub>[102]</sub>). Understanding the key input and model assumptions is crucial to understand what drives different scenario results and analyse the sources of uncertainty in scenarios' mitigation pathways. Plausibility in the mitigation pathways can be reached by robust choices of realistic assumptions and improvements of models to overcome their limitations, with the aim to lower the uncertainty of the proposed mitigation strategy.

There are three main types of input assumptions that drive mitigation scenarios.

- Socio-economic assumptions: Assumptions on future socio-economic trends such as population growth and economic activity, measured through GDP, can influence the modelled use of energy and land, and consequently are key drivers of emissions trajectories in scenarios.
- Technological assumptions: Assumptions about technology costs, both initial costs and costs over time, and technology availability, determine mitigation technology deployment in scenarios. Models make such assumptions on many different technologies, including wind, solar, nuclear, fossil fuel power plants, electric vehicles, CCS among others (IPCC, 2022[30]; Giannousakis et al., 2021[103]). This paper focuses on assumptions for solar, wind and biomass.
- Policy assumptions: For most scenarios this comes down to the carbon prices, which are often assumed to be uniform. Other scenarios model more detailed and heterogeneous policies as currently implemented by countries.

Other model assumptions which can highly influence scenario outcomes and add uncertainty to these results include whether the model considers climate impacts feedback loops or how far the model considers all possible mitigation measures (IPCC, 2022<sub>[30]</sub>). These determining modelling characteristics and limitations of the different models used to produce scenarios in use in the financial sector will therefore also be qualitatively discussed in this paper.

All mitigation scenarios necessarily rely on such input assumptions, which means scenario outcomes are inherently uncertain, especially the medium- and longer-term outcomes. It is therefore important to understand these sources of uncertainty when using the scenarios. Few points of comparison for the

underlying assumptions exist. For socio-economic assumptions, the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs) can be used, which represent a common set of harmonised socio-economic data across five qualitative narratives (van Vuuren et al., 2017[104]). The SSPs were developed by the modelling community and the IPCC to standardise socio-economic drivers of emissions across climate change mitigation scenarios<sup>12</sup>. Further, sensitivity analyses evaluate differences in scenario outcomes subject to changes in assumptions (IPCC, 2022[30]). Sensitivity analyses can therefore help identify and quantify the impact of individual assumptions on scenario results such as emissions outcomes. However, sensitivity analyses for climate change mitigation scenarios remain rare in the literature and are usually focused on understanding sensitivities in one specific model, generally an IAM (IPCC, 2022[30]).

The main dimensions relating to mitigation strategies and underlying assumptions are summarised in Figure 5.2, together with possible points of reference for analysing feasibility and uncertainty respectively. In the following two sections of this chapter, these dimensions are explored for the most ambitious scenarios of the selected scenario providers (See Chapter 2), namely the JRC's GECO 1.5°C scenario, the IEA's NZE 2050 scenario, the NGFS' NZE 2050 and Divergent NZE scenarios, and the UTS-ISF's OECM NZE scenario.





Source: Authors, using (Riahi et al., 2022[32]; IPCC, 2022[30]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The five qualitative narratives of the SSPs are: SSP1 Sustainability, SSP2 Middle of the Road, SSP3 Regional Rivalry, SSP4 Inequality, SSP5 Fossil-fuelled Development.

#### **5.2. Mitigation strategies in climate scenarios and associated feasibility considerations**

The different climate change mitigation scenarios used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessments each explore a different mitigation strategy relying on different combinations of key mitigation options to achieve a given level of ambition (Figure 5.2). As points of comparison, Figure 5.2 displays four IMPs with focus on different mitigation options. Three of them allow to keep temperatures below 1.5°C with limited overshoot (IMP-Ren, IMP-LD, IMP-SP).

Overall, all scenarios that achieve stringent climate goals imply rapid scale-up and large-scale deployment of new technologies and mitigation options, with trade-offs between the different options. The speed and scale of these transformations are associated with different feasibility concerns, as introduced in Section 5.1. The different scenarios face different types and levels of feasibility challenges (Table 5.1).

**Decarbonising energy supply** is a first essential aspect of all mitigation scenarios that limit global warming. All scenarios considered in this paper see a significant decrease in fossil fuel energy supply, and large increases in renewable energy sources (Figure 5.2, Panel A shows the levels reached in 2050). The OECM Net Zero, IEA Net Zero and GECO 1.5°C scenarios, which have more ambitious mitigation objectives, rely heavily on higher rates of deployment of renewable energy by 2050. The OECM in particular is very ambitious on renewable scale-up and sees non-biomass renewables reach over 75% of total energy supply by 2050, exceeding the level in IMP-Ren (65%), but remaining within the technical potentials evaluated by the literature (Table 5.1). Some research has even found that it can be technologically and economically viable to achieve even 100% renewables in the energy supply mix by mid-century (Diesendorf and Elliston, 2018<sub>[105]</sub>; Brook et al., 2018<sub>[106]</sub>), as renewable technologies have seen rapid recent drops in costs. However, this possibility depends on many assumptions on energy systems and prices made in scenarios and is still debated in the literature (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). As a result, the rapid scale-up of wind and solar technologies relied on by many of the scenarios explored raises feasibility concerns, which medium and high feasibility challenge ratings in Table 5.1 reflect.

Some scenarios maintain a higher reliance on fossil fuels, with a large deployment of CCS technologies in fossil fuel power plants (Figure 5.2, Panel B shows the levels reached in 2050). Several NGFS scenarios rely on higher levels of CCS deployment, thereby more similar to the IMP-Neg, which explores a focus on net negative emissions. Also the IEA NZE scenario relies more heavily on CCUS for remain coal and natural gas use. While the scale-up of CCS in fossil fuel in most selected scenarios does not necessarily go beyond what is deemed theoretically feasible according to the literature (at least until 2050 and where data is available, see Table 5.1), widespread commercial deployment of CCS technologies continues to be uncertain (Gambhir et al., 2017<sub>[107]</sub>; Budinis et al., 2018<sub>[108]</sub>). Still, unabated fossil fuel use, in particular unabated coal energy, are typically completely phased out by 2050 (Figure 5.2, Panel B). Only JRC's GECO 1.5°C scenario retains a higher reliance on unabated natural gas compared to other scenarios. Nuclear power can also be part of the mitigation strategies, but none of the scenarios considered in this paper explore high-nuclear energy mixes, consistent with such option being seldom explored in the literature (Riahi et al. (2022<sub>[32]</sub>), Figure 5.2).

**Demand-side mitigation levers** are a second mitigation strategy dimension, which all scenarios considered in this paper rely on and that the broader literature explores. These include gains in energy efficiency as well as electrification of energy use across sectors (including transportation, industry and buildings), and for some models, other demand-side interventions leading to behavioural and lifestyle changes and reduced energy demand.



#### Figure 5.2. Mitigation strategies across scenarios

Note: the IEA numbers for renewables include biomass.

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Scenarios differ in the scale and pace of these demand-side changes (Figure 5.2, Panel C). The IEA NZE and UTS-ISF's OECM NZE scenarios see higher decreases in energy demand, with higher energy efficiency gains and electrification of energy use. Such decreases are comparable to the IMP-LD with very low demand for energy based on and less energy-intensive lifestyles. The UTS-ISF's OECM NZE relies on very rapid energy efficiency gains and electrification of energy use, even more so than the IMP-LD, which already assumes energy efficiency improvement rates far above historic values. While the feasibility of a profound decoupling of energy demand and economic growth is debated in the literature (Kemp-Benedict, 2018[109]), the IPCC AR6 assesses considerable potential for demand-side mitigation to reduce emissions (Riahi et al., 2022[32]). Overall, the energy demand changes in the selected scenarios hold limited feasibility concerns according to thresholds proposed by literature (Table 5.1).

The model type used by the different scenario providers partially explains the differences in the use of demand-side levers. The IEA and ISF scenarios show higher energy efficiency gains and electrification of energy use than GECO and NGFS scenarios. This can in part be attributed to their use of more detailed bottom-up models of different energy demand sectors, that allow them to represent demand-side interventions and behavioural changes in more detail. IAMs, which are also relied on by the NGFS, have on the other hand often been criticised for their less detailed demand-side mitigation options representation and their limited use of demand-side mitigation potential (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>; Grubler et al., 2018<sub>[110]</sub>). These models lack demand-side options other than energy efficiency gains, and especially fail to consider behavioral changes.

**Carbon dioxide removals (CDR)**<sup>13</sup> is a third mitigation strategy dimension most scenarios assessed in the IPCC AR6 rely on to reach stringent mitigation goals. Negative emissions achieved through CDR can play an important role in accelerating emissions reductions in the medium-term to lower peak warming. They also allow reaching long-term net negative emissions to ensure a long-term decline in temperatures (Riahi et al., 2022<sub>[32]</sub>). In scenarios that achieve stringent temperature limits, CDR deployment supplements rather than replaces substantial emissions reductions in all other sectors and can compensate for residual emissions in hard-to-abated sectors.

Overall, all scenarios show a limited reliance on CDR in the first part of the century (0-7Gt in 2050), but some scenarios largely rely on negative emissions thereafter, as is the case for GECO and NGFS delayed transition scenarios (Figure 5.2, Panel D). These go beyond the CDR reliance considered by IMP-SP and IMP-Neg. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) and afforestation/reforestation are the most common CDR solutions in the considered scenarios (Figure 5.2, Panel D), consistent with the broader scenarios literature. Direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) is more rarely considered by scenarios, as only the IEA and JRC include it in their models (Annex C), but this technology is increasingly being incorporated by different providers.

The selected scenarios do not tend to go beyond high feasibility concern thresholds considered by the current literature except for a limited number of scenarios specifically for limitations relating to biomass potential and BECCS technology scale-up (Table 5.1). However, there are major concerns about the technical, economic, political feasibility of deployment of CDR, as well as major concerns with regards to broader sustainability implications (Strefler et al., 2018<sub>[111]</sub>). In particular, there is a fervent debate in the scientific community about the feasibility and sustainability challenges associated with large-scale deployment of BECCS (Fuss et al., 2014<sub>[112]</sub>; Anderson and Peters, 2016<sub>[113]</sub>; Strefler et al., 2021<sub>[114]</sub>). The DACCS technology, on the other hand, has not been tested at large scale (Realmonte et al., 2019<sub>[115]</sub>; Gambhir and Tavoni, 2019<sub>[116]</sub>). Current progress in innovation and deployment of CDR technologies is in any case largely below what is required in scenarios that rely on such technologies (Minx et al., 2018<sub>[117]</sub>; Fuss et al., 2018<sub>[118]</sub>) and the urgency to address this gap is not reflected in policies (Nemet et al., 2018<sub>[117]</sub>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CDR refers to "anthropogenic activities removing CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere and durably storing it (...) but excludes natural CO<sub>2</sub> uptake not directly caused by human activities." (IPCC, 2022<sub>[148]</sub>)

In contrast, limited reliance on CDR, such as in the OECM net zero, requires a more rapid and larger transition in other sectors, with quick and deep emission reductions that are also assessed as technically infeasible and associated with higher transitional challenges associated with fossil fuel phase-out and renewable scale-up. Indeed, scenarios with limited reliance on negative emissions through CDR require very rapid declines in emissions in the near term and rely on faster transformation of the energy sector, with larger demand-side measures, electrification, and energy efficiency, and faster scale-up in energy supply decarbonisation through renewables deployment. This is especially the case for the ISF Net zero scenario, which as a design choice, does not rely on BECCS at all.

Level of feasibility challenge		Lo	W	Medium High		Insufficient data or not applicable					
				Er	nergy supp	ly			Demand	CDR	Land
		Wind potential	Solar potential	Wind scale up	Solar scale up	luclear scale up	Fossil CCS scale up	Energy demand decline	Biomass	SECCS scale up	Forest cover increase
	Time period							ш		ш	
IEA NZE	2020 - 2030										
	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
JRC GECO 1.5°C	2020 - 2030										
	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
NGFS NZE 2050	2020 - 2030										
GCAM	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
NGFS NZE 2050	2020 - 2030										
MESSAGE	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
NGFS NZE 2050	2020 - 2030										
REMIND	2030 - 2040										
	2040 – 2050										
NGFS DIV NZE	2020 - 2030										
GCAM	2030 – 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
NGFS DIV NZE	2020 - 2030										
MESSAGE	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
NGFS DIV NZE	2020 – 2030										
REMIND	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										
UTS-ISF OECM	2020 – 2030										
NZE	2030 - 2040										
	2040 - 2050										

#### Table 5.1. Feasibility assessment of scenarios' mitigation strategies

Note: This table shows how feasible the mitigation strategies on which the different scenarios rely are. It does so by comparing the size of the changes in different mitigation strategy indicators (such as wind scale up) to reference thresholds found in the current literature, as summarised by the IPCC. An overview of the feasibility thresholds for each indicator can be found in Table A C.3.

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Agricultural and land use emissions reductions are a further mitigation strategy dimension that is, however, not considered by all selected scenarios. Indeed, as shown in Chapter 4, most models used in the considered scenarios do not cover the agricultural and land use sector (Table 4.1). For models that do include it, agricultural and land use change emissions reductions can be achieved through many different mitigation options, including reduced deforestation, methane reductions in rice production, introduction of new agricultural practices to enhance soil carbon, agroforestry, restoration of wetlands, as well as demand-side measures with dietary changes and food waste reduction. In addition, reforestation/afforestation is a land-based CDR option that allows to achieve negative emissions. Scenarios that provide data on land use change rely on forest cover increase for negative emissions and are all associated with medium to high feasibility challenges (Table 5.1).

#### Box 5.1. Mitigation scenarios and sustainability goals

#### Synergies and trade-offs of climate change mitigation scenarios with SDGs

Article 2 of the Paris Agreement places climate change mitigation and resilience objectives "in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty". Climate change mitigation comes with a range of synergies and trade-offs with other societal goals, which are usually not considered in the design and modelling of mitigation scenarios. Understanding the degree of desirability of scenarios in terms of adequation with sustainability goals will prove increasingly important to align financial flows with those broader sustainability and ESG goals, beyond climate.

Trade-offs and synergies between climate mitigation and other sustainability goals can be analysed on a range of issues and SDGs, including energy access, air pollution and health, water, hunger, and biodiversity. While some scenarios directly provide quantitative variables relevant to the analysis of sustainability – e.g. water consumption, inequalities, air pollution and associated premature deaths, air quality, mineral resources, food prices, population at risk of hunger – most models do not have a comprehensive coverage of SDGs, if any. In particular, the scenarios used in finance do not provide coverage of SDGs. Ex-post analysis of the potential trade-offs and synergies for some scenarios have been analysed in ad-hoc studies (Bertram et al., 2018<sub>[120]</sub>; Jakob and Steckel, 2016<sub>[121]</sub>).

#### Development of integrated sustainable development scenarios: opportunities for the financial sector

The scenario scientific community has recently developed the modelling of integrated "sustainable development pathway" (SDP). This is an integrated scenario of climate mitigation covering all SDGs by combining IAMs and other models (Soergel et al., 2021<sub>[122]</sub>). There is now ongoing development of the next generation of integrated SDP scenarios (IASA conference) thanks to recent methodological advances in integrated SDG modelling.

#### 5.3. Underlying assumptions and uncertainties in mitigation scenarios

Emissions pathways and mitigation strategies provided by climate mitigation scenarios, as discussed in Chapter 4 and Section 5.2, are heavily influenced by the assumptions that are inputted in models that produce these scenarios. This includes assumptions on future socio-economic trends, policies, and technological characteristics.

#### 5.3.1. Socio-economic assumptions

Projections of global economic growth and population are the two main socio-economic trends, on which scenario models rely. Using external data sources<sup>14</sup> such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the United Nations (UN), most scenarios analysed in this paper assume a GDP and population growth close to the "middle of the road" SSP i.e. SSP2, where population stabilises after 2050 (Figure 5.3). Over 90% of scenarios collected in the AR6 scenarios database, and therefore of the scenarios analysed in this paper, rely on the SSP2 for their socio-economic input assumptions. NGFS even directly uses the SSP projections as its socio-economic input assumptions. In contrast, ISF and IEA scenarios rely on population and GDP projections that lie at the higher end of the range of projections used by other scenarios.



#### Figure 5.3. Socio-economic assumptions in selected scenarios

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Using different sets of socio-economic assumptions, for example different SSPs, has a direct impact on the ability of meeting a given climate target and the potential pathways to it (UNEP FI & CICERO,  $2021_{[37]}$ ). This is not surprising as higher GDP and population can potentially lead to higher modelled energy consumption, and hence higher modelled emissions. Sensitivity analyses have shown that assumptions about future economic growth are a main driver of emissions outcomes in scenarios, while population assumptions have a lower impact (Marangoni et al.,  $2017_{[123]}$ ). Using different GDP projections indeed significantly affects the emissions outcomes of scenarios. A sensitivity analysis looking at IAMs showed that shifting from a "middle of the road" (SSP2) to a SSP3 projection of GDP has up to a 20% impact on cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emissions until 2050, depending on the model (Marangoni et al.,  $2017_{[123]}$ ). For other types of models, this relationship may be less straightforward. For example, while IEA scenarios use population and economic growth projections that are on the high-end of projections in SSPs, modelled energy demand remains lower, based on the assumption that other measures, notably energy efficiency on the demand side, have the potential to counteract the impact of high socio-economic assumptions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Different scenario developers use different external sources to input socio-economic projections into their models. Common data sources for population and GDP growth are the projections made by the UN, IMF, OECD and IEA.

#### 5.3.2. Policy assumptions

Scenarios take different approaches to policy assumptions, most notably, as summarised in Table 5.2, in terms of speed of action and policy implementation, extent to which they differentiate carbon pricing in different geographies, and whether policies other than a carbon price are represented, such as net-zero and decarbonisation targets, targets for access to energy, renewable energy shares, electrification, and buildings renovation. All the selected scenarios that achieve 1.5°C by the end of the century<sup>15</sup> apply immediate optimal action (Table 5.2, first column), assuming carbon pricing or other mitigation policies are implemented immediately. Pathways with delayed action cannot comply with 1.5°C. Less ambitious scenarios, such as the IEA APS and GECO NDC-LTS, consider delayed action until 2030, potentially taking into account current national policies and pledges until 2030. These scenarios project the consequences of current national emissions policies, targets and pledges, but it has been shown that current national climate targets are ambiguous and could lead to a range of outcomes in terms of emissions (Rogelj et al., 2023<sub>[124]</sub>).

	Assumed timing of global action	Carbon pricing: geographic differentiation assumption	Additional policy assumptions
IEA NZE	Immediate	Differentiated	Yes
IEA APS	Delayed, preceded by NDCs	Differentiated	Yes
JRC GECO 1.5°C	Immediate	Uniform	No
JRC GECO NDC-LTS	Delayed, preceded by NDCs	Uniform	No
NGFS3 NZE 2050	Immediate	Uniform	Yes
NGFS3 DIV NZE	Immediate	Uniform	Yes
NGFS3 Below 2°C	Immediate	Uniform	No
NGFS3 Delayed transition	Delayed, NDCs not considered	Uniform	No
UTS-ISF OECM NZE	Immediate	Differentiated	No

#### Table 5.2. Policy assumptions in selected climate change mitigation scenarios

Note: Immediate action = before 2030. Delayed action = after 2030. IEA differentiates its carbon price between advanced / emerging with net-zero pledges / other emerging economies. UTS-ISF's OECM differentiates its carbon price between OECD countries and other countries. Additional regional and sectoral policies can take the form of net-zero and decarbonisation targets, targets for access to energy, renewable energy shares, electrification, and buildings renovation.

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Most scenarios use a globally uniform carbon price (Table 5.2, second column), which can vary widely across scenarios (Figure 5.4). Only the IEA and the UTS-ISF's OECM are built on carbon prices that are differentiated across regions. The carbon price in UTS-ISF's OECM for developed countries is only slightly higher than for developing countries. In the IEA scenarios, the carbon price in advanced economies is more than double that for developing countries in 2030 (Figure 5.4).

While carbon prices vary across scenarios, it can be misleading to directly compare them. Carbon prices across scenarios are sensitive to whether the models consider other policy assumptions or not. In most scenarios, carbon prices are the only form of policies included (Table 5.2, last column). In such cases, the carbon price is used as a proxy for overall climate policy intensity and as a modelling parameter to reach the required climate goal. The carbon prices can in this case best be understood as an indicator of the overall policy intensity, rather than the actual expected price of carbon (NGFS, 2022<sub>[33]</sub>). Scenarios that exclusively rely on carbon pricing are not designed to inform on which exact policies should be implemented to achieve emissions reductions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> With 50% likelihood or more.

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 61



#### Figure 5.4. Carbon prices in selected scenarios

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

A few other scenario providers include other policy assumptions (Table 5.2, last column). For example, the IEA scenarios combine carbon prices for electricity and industry with emissions standards for the transport sector, amongst many other policies (IEA, 2022<sub>[53]</sub>). When other policies, such as fuel taxes, subsidies, standards, capacity targets, R&D, and feed-in-tariffs, are not modelled, it can limit the comparability of scenario results (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>). The mix of climate policy instruments used has an impact on how emissions reductions take place across sectors and countries, and hence can change the shape of the emissions pathways.

#### 5.3.3. Technological assumptions

Assumptions about technology characteristics, including resource potential, capacity (or availability), capital costs, operating and maintenance (O&M) costs, conversion efficiency and lifetime, are key components of models used to produce climate change mitigation scenarios (Krey et al., 2019<sub>[125]</sub>). The selected scenario providers tend to share data on key assumptions for power sector technologies, such as capital costs of solar photovoltaics (PV) by region (Figure 5.5). Data on technology assumptions for other key sectors, such as industry and AFOLU are scarcer.



#### Figure 5.5. Assumptions on capital costs for solar PV in the EU

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Technology costs assumptions are a large driver of uncertainty in climate models, as small changes in technology cost assumptions can have significant effects on modelled technology and emissions pathways (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>). Sensitivity analysis of scenarios produced by an IAM<sup>16</sup> to technology costs shows that input assumptions about energy supply costs for different technologies as well as about carbon dioxide removal (CDR) availability have a large impact on emissions and other mitigation outcomes. The biggest impacts were due to assumptions on CCS, biomass and wind costs, and on low-carbon vehicles costs (Giannousakis et al., 2021<sub>[103]</sub>). However, IAMs have also systematically underestimated cost reductions in solar, as integrating policy support, non-monetary consumer and industry preferences, and technological learning is challenging (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>).

While capital costs can vary significantly across models (Figure 5.4), it is difficult to compare them (Krey et al., 2019<sub>[125]</sub>). Different models apply different approaches in projecting technology characteristics. For example, costs are endogenous in some models, while they are exogenous in others. Further, the relative differences between different technologies in the same model have more impact than the differences of the same technology across models, as the former drive the technology choice.

#### 5.3.4. Other modelling assumptions

Further underlying model assumptions and model characteristics can increase uncertainty in modelling results and limit comparability of results, in particular discount rates. In climate models that optimise costs, future costs are discounted to compute the net present value. Cost-benefit IAMs have been heavily criticized for using high discount rates, which means that future climate damages are reduced relative to the cost of mitigating those damages today (UNEP FI & CICERO, 2021<sub>[37]</sub>). However, discount rates can impact on the timing and choice of mitigation measures. A lower discount rate will bring mitigation forward in time, which translates into less need for carbon dioxide removal later (Emmerling et al., 2019<sub>[126]</sub>). Similarly, a higher discount rate pushes mitigation further into the future and therefore places a higher burden on future generations. The discount rate therefore represents a value-laden assumption. Information on the discount rates used by models is rarely accessible (indeed, none of the selected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> REMIND

scenario providers disclose the discount rate used), and there is arguably too little sensitivity analysis of how the discount rate affects modelled outcomes.

Other modelling characteristics influence scenario results and add uncertainties. One of the main blind spots of current models used to produce climate change mitigation scenarios such as the ones considered in this paper is that these models do not consider climate impacts already occurring below 1.5°C to 2°C of global warming. Recently, the research community has begun to combine mitigation pathway analysis with ex-post analysis of associated climate impacts and the benefits of mitigation (Drouet et al., 2021<sub>[127]</sub>). The NGFS scenarios, in particular, are assessed against a wide range of climate impacts to derive the magnitude of physical risks under the different scenarios. The scenarios are inputted into climate impacts feedback loops are rarely represented directly at the scenario modelling stage. Another important blind spot is precisely that the financial sector relies on scenarios produced by models that do not account for the financial system and its role in the transition. Thus, the feedback loop between the financial sector and mitigation pathways is not taken into account (Battiston et al., 2021<sub>[62]</sub>).

The availability of critical minerals, which are critical to the large-scale deployment of a number of low-GHG technologies (IEA, 2021<sub>[128]</sub>), could further constraint mitigation models (Wang et al., 2022<sub>[129]</sub>). Interactions between climate objectives, energy transitions, and critical minerals have not been fully integrated in climate change mitigation models. The more stringent the temperature objective the higher mineral demand. However, such materials are exposed to specific supply-side risk and demand-induced pressure (Miller et al., 2022<sub>[130]</sub>). Production capacity expansion below anticipation, limited economic mineral reserve, and potential geo-political constraints may derail humanity from a more sustainable trajectory towards 1.5°C target (Wang et al., 2022<sub>[129]</sub>).

#### 5.4. Implications for the use of scenarios in finance

Climate-alignment assessment and target setting methodologies can choose from a range of scenarios with different mitigation strategies. It is not clear how such methodologies currently prioritise scenarios with different mitigation strategies, but they could explore multiple scenarios with different mitigation strategies as these face different feasibility challenges. As shown in Section 5.2, the ambitious scenarios by the different providers tend to follow different mitigation strategies and some follow relatively well certain IMPs. For example, the OECM NZE scenarios and IMP Ren both rely heavily on renewables. Alignment assessments of finance indeed have started to use scenarios of multiple providers (Noels and Jachnik, 2022[10]), but have not yet started to communicate the different mitigation strategy narratives that these may follow. Qualitatively highlighting the mitigation strategies as done in the IMPs allows to more easily understand the characteristics of targets and assessments based on specific scenarios.

Financial sector climate transition risk management and stress testing exercises already rely on multiple scenarios by nature. However, the scenarios currently used in finance have an incomplete representation of mitigation options. As explained in Section 5.2, most pathways exclude many granular demand-side and land-based mitigation options. A more comprehensive understanding of the different mitigation strategy options available and the different mitigation strategies followed by the scenario used can inform priorities and shed light on blind spots for financial institutions and investors. This in turn can enhance their client engagement, both to help drive actual GHG emissions reductions and in the context of their portfolio allocation and investment decisions.

The financial sector is also considering scenario pathways of different elements of their mitigation strategies, such as energy technology mix information, to develop complementary metrics of climate performance. For example, PACTA uses scenario projections of capacity and production volumes of different technologies to relate to corporate capital expenditures (2DII, 2022<sub>[74]</sub>). Such information can contribute to the design of real-economy transition metrics, e.g. capital invested committed toward

transition and transition-enabling activities or capital deployed toward managed phase out schemes as proposed by GFANZ (2022<sub>[24]</sub>), thereby complementing GHG-based metrics.

As scenario analysis inherently comes with uncertainties, stakeholders using them for financial sector target setting or transition and alignment assessments may want to communicate those with users. However, such uncertainties are rarely specified (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). This can be explained by the fact that uncertainty analysis of scenarios is highly complex. As discussed in Section 5.3, there are remaining technical and practical challenges to comparing the underlying assumptions of scenarios that drive scenario emissions pathways and mitigation strategy options. On the one hand, underlying assumptions cannot always be compared as model approaches may differ. On the other hand, data and information on those assumptions is not always available or disclosed in a comparable way.

There is indeed a rising demand from the financial sector to improve the comparability of climate scenario analyses and results (Monasterolo, Nieto and Schets, 2023<sub>[61]</sub>). In this context, differences in assumptions, especially on technology costs and characteristics, may significantly affect scenario outcomes, as shown by existing sensitivity analyses (Section 5.3), making comparisons between scenarios that rely on different assumptions difficult. NGFS scenarios were designed to provide a common set of scenarios, promoting some harmonisation in scenario assumptions, for example through the use of the SSPs, while using multiple models (NGFS, 2021<sub>[131]</sub>). This has allowed certain users in the financial sector to use several scenarios for more robust analysis. Further harmonisation efforts of assumptions (SSPs, SPAs) (Giarola et al., 2021<sub>[132]</sub>) can be relied on to standardise input assumptions and make scenarios outcomes more comparable. However, there is a trade-off between standardisation and the ability to reflect uncertainty. While standardised assumptions imply better comparability of alignment assessments across scenarios used, it also implies a smaller range of uncertainties and of possible socio-economic, technological and political developments is covered.

There is also a need to improve the transparency of model assumptions, both to compare scenarios and to understand whether climate scenarios' assumptions are consistent with financial models (GFANZ, 2022<sub>[18]</sub>). As explained in Section 5.3, scenario providers do not always disclose comparable data on underlying assumptions. This may limit the ability of scenario users to understand what drives scenario results and their key uncertainties, as well as to compare scenarios from different providers. Further, sensitivity studies could help enhance scenario users' understanding of model behaviour and drivers of change in scenarios. In doing so, users of scenarios can better characterise drivers behind scenario results and uncertainties, keeping in mind that scenarios relying on very different underlying assumptions and model approaches are difficult to compare.

Climate alignment assessments and transition analysis of finance tend to update their scenarios as they are improved and updated (Noels and Jachnik, 2022<sub>[10]</sub>). Although challenging, input assumptions and socio-economic projections in models should aim to reflect the latest technological developments, policies, and knowledge of mitigation options and to take stock of the most up-to-date projections and real-world developments. For example, the latest iteration of NGFS scenarios updated socio-economic assumptions to reflect the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Such updating of scenario assumptions and further scenario development more broadly are regularly undertaken in the scenario modelling community through so-called inter-model comparison projects.<sup>17</sup> Such projects encourage the transparent disclosure of data and improved comparability of models, which several of the scenario providers explored in this paper participate in.

Scenarios do not currently model the financial sector, and what drives investors' decisions, and the ability to finance the climate transition. Some, however, give an indication (typically partial) of investment needs. Such scenario information can also be used to identify investment opportunities and financing contributions for the financial sector. Further, investments can bring down the feasibility challenges and technology cost

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Examples include IIASA, IPCC, EMF, ADVANCE.

characteristics described in this chapter. In addition, alignment with these scenarios cannot be achieved if policy makers do not address the challenges associated with financing of the transition and put in place the adequate policy landscape to allow redirection of financial flows. Investors' decisions ultimately depend on the credibility of climate policies. While scenario models do not aim to prescribe the exact mix of climate fiscal and regulatory policies that can be and are implemented by governments, they all assume strong and immediate action to reach 1.5°C, as discussed in Section 5.3. Notably, policymakers have a crucial role to play to bring down feasibility challenges found in ambitious scenarios (Section 5.2) to improve the viability of more options and strategies for financial and non-financial corporates to transition.

## **6** Conclusions and recommendations

Financial institutions and investors are increasingly relying on climate change mitigation scenarios for climate-related analyses and various decision-making processes, increasingly encouraged by voluntary frameworks supporting net-zero emissions. The choice of mitigation scenario on which they base their assessment has a significant influence on the results of climate alignment and transition risk assessments of financial assets, asset classes and portfolios. In this context, and as explored in this paper, there are concerns relating to the environmental integrity, applicability, and uncertainty associated with currently used scenarios and underlying assumptions. Building on the analysis of climate change mitigation scenarios currently used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessments presented in the previous chapters, this concluding chapter summarises current practices and remaining challenges, as well as suggests recommendations for the improved design and use of scenarios in the financial sector.

#### 6.1. Bridging information gaps: current practices and challenges

This study develops an analytical approach to examine climate change mitigation scenarios commonly used in the financial sector for climate-related financial analyses, acknowledging that most scenarios were not initially designed for that purpose. These scenarios originate from four scenario providers, namely the IEA, ISF, JRC, and NGFS. Specifically, the approach analyses common practices, challenges and needs in developing and using scenarios across three stakeholder communities, namely the climate policy community, financial market participants and stakeholders, and scenario modellers. The three analytical dimensions are: (i) the degree of Paris consistency (i.e. consistency with the Paris Agreement's long-term temperature goal and emission reduction objective), (ii) the applicability of the scenarios in the financial sector, and (iii) the characteristics of underlying mitigation strategies and input assumptions.

None of the scenarios that providers qualify as net zero, 1.5°C or below 2°C currently used by the financial sector to set targets and assess alignment are assessed as fully consistent with stringent interpretations of all five criteria of the Paris-consistency framework relied on for this study. Only two are aligned with all criteria when considering a slightly less stringent interpretation. Hence, target setting and alignment approaches based on these scenarios may underestimate the needed efforts for aligning with the Paris Agreement.

The lack of specificity, comparability and transparency in qualifying the temperature outcomes of scenarios across scenario providers and stakeholder communities raises further challenges to the environmental integrity of target setting and alignment assessments in the financial sector. The information required to assess the Paris consistency of a given scenario is not always disclosed by scenario providers. Given that the formulation of the Paris Agreement mitigation-related provisions leaves some room for interpretation, there is a need for scenario providers to be more transparent in communicating in a clear and comprehensive manner the peak and end-of-century temperature outcomes of their scenarios and associated likelihoods, as well as aggregate GHG emissions. In turn, to enhance transparency, users of scenarios should refer to the specific elements of the temperature outcome of scenarios rather than using loose, vague and at times opaque scenario labels, such as "net zero" or "below 2°C".

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 67

Current scope limitations in scenario models restrict both the ability of potential users to conduct a comprehensive assessment of the scenarios' climate outcome, and of their applicability to climate-related analyses in the financial sector. Climate change mitigation models selected and used by the financial sector do not always match the full scope of GHGs, emissions sources, and sectors relating to the range of assets typically found in financial portfolios. As a result, methodologies to set targets and assess alignment need to rely on complementary assumptions to fill in coverage gaps in scenario data. Further, some scenarios currently used in financial sector target setting and alignment assessments have an incomplete representation of mitigation options as they tend to omit many granular demand-side and land-based mitigation options.

Limited sectoral and geographical granularity of emissions pathways provided by scenarios may restrict their applicability for financial sector climate-related target setting and alignment assessments, as well as have undesirable portfolio allocation and investment implications, including risks for carbon lock in. Scenario providers are making progress on enhancing the granularity of their scenarios, including on pathways for emissions and other variables, which is critical for climate-related analyses of financial assets. Still, geographical disaggregation remains insufficient, especially for developing countries where data is more limited. Further, pathways or data for several high-emitting subsectors are still missing, while pathways for technologies and solutions enabling the climate transition across sector are not clear. There are also several challenges in matching sectoral classifications of climate-policy relevant sectors used in scenarios with economically-relevant sectors used in financial analyses. Additionally, providers could consider disclosing a five year or more frequent data interval where that is not the case yet to better match the need for and help inform short-term climate transition planning and decision making in the financial sector.

Differences between scenarios and financial and corporate GHG accounting imply that scenarios cannot be used to assess if and to what extend the intended reliance on offsets in financial and corporate sector climate transition and alignment plans is consistent with the Paris Agreement mitigation-related objectives. Corporate GHG targets and transition plans often rely on offsets, despite best practice in target-setting calling for offsets to only be considered to finance additional emission reductions beyond an entity's own target. Targets that include a reliance on offsets cannot be compared to climate change mitigation scenarios. Mitigation scenarios optimise emissions reductions across sectors. Hence, any sectoral pathway within such scenarios shows actual emissions reductions, already reflecting cost optimisation beyond the sectoral value chain.

The range of global, sectoral and national scenario pathways reflect that there are different possible pathways and mitigation strategies to reach a certain climate outcome, leaving room for choice in climate-related target setting and alignment assessment. At the same time, scenarios cannot be directly compared due to differences in scope and modelling approaches. In this context, it is not clear how providers currently prioritise and select scenarios with different mitigation strategies.

While global climate change mitigation scenarios are not designed to address burden sharing across countries nor to model in detail policy action and investments, these issues will however be important determinants of the real-economy transition. While scenario models do not aim to prescribe the exact mix of policies that can be implemented by governments, pathways assessed as Paris consistent all assume strong and immediate action. Moreover, while scenarios may partly model and estimate investment needs, they are not designed to address constraints relating to mobilising and accessing the financing needed, nor who finances what.

In updating and further developing climate change mitigation scenarios, there will always be trade-offs between complexity and practicality. Furthermore, climate change mitigation scenario development is a dynamic field. Scenario models are frequently updated and are increasingly taking into account the needs of different types of scenario users, including financial sector ones.

#### 6.2. Potential actions for improved scenario design and use for the financial sector

Different stakeholder communities can take actions and collaborate to enhance the use of climate change mitigation scenarios in climate-related analyses in the financial sector. Based on the challenges and gaps identified in this paper, this section puts forward suggestions to inform climate scenario providers, financial market stakeholders (including climate-related assessment methodology providers), and climate policy makers on how they may contribute to improved design and use of mitigation scenarios in financial sector analyses, notably climate-related target setting and alignment assessments.

**Providers of climate change mitigation scenarios** can facilitate an accurate use and interpretation of the scenarios they develop, as well as address information needs from the financial sector. To do so, they could:

- Standardise the disclosure used for characterising scenarios and disclose scenario variables and climate outcomes: Instead of using different qualifiers of scenario ambitions, scenario providers can adopt a more coordinated approach to formulate scenario ambition, for instance based on frameworks such as the one proposed in Pouille et al. (2023[11]). This can increase clarity and comparability for users of such scenarios. Further, scenario providers often follow different scopes, units and measures to disclose emissions pathways and underlying assumptions. Increased standardisation in the disclosure of such scenario variables can facilitate the use of scenarios in the financial sector as well as by other economic actors. One way of doing this in practice is through submitting scenarios to IPCC coordinated efforts to collect and assess existing scenarios. This can enable comparability as well as scientific peer review. Additionally, scenario providers could also qualify their reliance on different mitigation strategies, building on the Illustrative Mitigation Pathways.
- Develop and use harmonised sets of input assumptions: Building on the experience of harmonising socio-economic data across standardised qualitative narratives (SSPs), harmonised qualitative narratives could also be created for other input assumptions, including for technology and policy. This can improve scenario transparency and comparability, as well as create easy-to-understand narratives. In doing so, there will be a trade-off between developing harmonised and simplified narratives, on the one hand, and reflecting the range of uncertainties, on the other hand.
- Increase the transparency and comprehensiveness of the disclosure of climate change mitigation scenario data: First, all scenario providers would ideally produce and report a complete temperature assessment of their scenarios, using the most recent versions of climate models. In particular, they could disclose more complete temperature outcome data, with peak and end-of-the-century temperatures associated with several likelihoods. Second, scenario providers can increase the transparency of country-level and sectoral-level specificity in their models. Third, they could increase the transparency of input and modelling assumptions, providing data on more variables and increasing model documentation.
- Expand the scope of scenario models: While this may be constrained by existing models, scenario
  providers should in particular aim to include all GHGs and emission sources beyond energy-related
  emissions. Scenarios can also improve their scope by including AFOLU and a wider range of mitigation
  options, in particular on the demand-side.
- Enhance the granularity of scenario output variables to the extent possible based on available granular data: Improved granularity in emissions pathways is needed both for geographical, sectoral, emissions and temporal dimensions, as well as across those different dimensions. Priority areas include pathways for large developing countries and for high-emitting sectors, such as mining. Further, increased granularity in pathways of other output variables, such as technology deployment, can inform the development of complementary non-GHG metrics in the financial sector. However, the need for increased granularity may be constrained by model design and data availability, as well as should be

carefully balanced with the risks of increasing rather than decreasing uncertainty by making assumptions (including equity-related ones) at highly disaggregated levels.

**Users of climate change mitigation scenarios in the financial sector** need to accurately account for and communicate gaps, limitations and uncertainties in their scenario-based targets and assessments. While the diversity of available mitigation scenarios helps reflect the range of possible pathways to net-zero emissions, they should also ensure that the scenarios they select are both Paris consistent and provide at least some of the granularity needed to assess specific financial assets and asset classes. More specifically, users of scenarios in the financial sector could:

- Select high-ambition Paris-consistent scenarios for climate target setting and alignment assessments: Providers of target setting and climate-alignment assessments in finance should prioritise scenarios with high levels of ambition in temperature and emissions outcomes. This entails selecting scenarios that avoid or have limited overshoot of 1.5°C, maintain a very high likelihood of staying below 2°C, peak emissions early, and achieve net-zero GHG emissions. Aligning with ambitious scenarios is needed in the face of high climate uncertainties.
- Select scenarios that are comprehensive in scope and granular in the output data they provide: Providers of target setting and climate-alignment assessments in finance should prioritise scenarios that account for all emissions sources and all GHGs. The sectoral and geographical granularity of scenarios should be evaluated against the needs relating to different financial assets, asset classes and portfolio sectoral segments. Where gaps in granular output variables remain, scenario users should communicate to scenario providers their priorities in seeing those gaps being filled.
- Make use of multiple scenarios to better reflect diversity and uncertainty in mitigation strategies and assumptions: Recognising the inherent uncertainties in scenarios' climate outcomes and in their proposed mitigation strategies and underlying assumptions, financial stakeholders can consider a range of scenarios. This could entail considering scenarios with different assumptions, models, and mitigation strategies to account for different future real economy developments, as different mitigation strategies face different feasibility challenges.
- Transparently communicate climate outcomes, likelihoods, and uncertainty when disclosing scenario-based targets and alignment assessments results. Such information should further include the critical difference between peak and end-of-century temperatures. In this context, standardised and transparent disclosure should be used to express the level of climate ambition associated with alignment results or net-zero targets, building on practices from climate modellers.
- Communicate narratives and uncertainties of mitigation strategies and assumptions: Building
  on enhanced harmonisation of narratives on mitigation strategies and assumptions by scenario
  providers, scenario users in the financial sector can qualify their targets and assessments using such
  harmonised narratives. This can also contribute to shed light on associated uncertainties and feasibility
  challenges.
- Apply scenarios taking into account design characteristics: An improved understanding of design characteristics and limitations, as well as the inherent differences between GHG accounting in scenarios and GHG accounting in the financial sector, can prevent their misuse and reduce greenwashing. For example, targets relying on offsets cannot be compared to climate change mitigation scenarios.
- Make use of non-emissions data and pathways provided by scenarios: Scenarios provide a
  wealth of variables of how to achieve mitigation across emitting sectors, other than GHG emissions
  pathways. Such variables can be used by the financial sector to develop complementary metrics tor
  assessing the overall climate performance of financial assets.

**Climate policymakers** can further enable accurate use of mitigation scenarios and support their development. To do so, they could:

- Promote standardised disclosure of climate outcomes of targets and alignment assessment, grounded in the latest science: This can be done through encouraging a consistent interpretation of the Paris Agreement, as well as standardised data disclosure across scenario-based financial analyses, in particular in terms of temperature and emissions outcomes. This will increase consistency and comparability across different scenario-based analyses in the financial sector, as well as across jurisdictions.
- Support improved availability of granular input data for scenarios: Policymakers can provide
  mechanisms to support the availability of geography and sector specific input data to inform the design
  of global scenarios. For example, they can support improved data disclosure in national energy
  accounts and support data collection in developing countries. Access to granular and accurate data is
  essential for scenario development and analysis in the financial sector.
- Contribute to reduced scenario uncertainty and increased scenario granularity, while maintaining international comparability: Climate policy makers can contribute to reducing scenario uncertainty by ensuring climate policy certainty and specificity within their jurisdiction, which could include sector-specific climate change mitigation targets. Developing a range of national-level sector-specific scenarios, reflecting planned and potential policies, would go even further in informing the development of global scenarios more reflective of geographical specificities and circumstances. Combining this with standardised disclosure of climate outcomes and scenario information would allow maintaining international comparability.
- Make use of enhanced scenario information and applications for assessing progress towards Article 2.1c of the Paris Agreement: Harmonised scenario disclosure, information and data, as well as improved granularity, comprehensiveness and applicability of scenarios can better inform climate policy makers when tracking progress on aligning financial activities with climate policy goals, i.e. both investments into economic sectors of their national economy, as well as capital stock and new investments by investors and financial institutions domiciled within their jurisdiction. Such efforts could in turn contribute to informing aggregate-level assessments of progress, including under the UNFCCC (e.g. Global Stocktake and Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows).

The potential actions outlined in this chapter are technical in nature but can be viewed within the broader policy and investment environment that can strongly impact scenario uncertainty and viability. While the financial sector can proactively invest in climate solutions and the climate transition, thereby also contributing to the viability of more mitigation options and strategies by bringing down technology costs and increasing technology commercialisation and roll-out, public policy retains a central role in increasing the overall feasibility and financial viability of the climate transition. Scenarios that keep global warming at 1.5°C (with 50% likelihood by end of century), all assume ambitious and immediate policy action. As such, the feasibility of scenario outcomes and of investors' decisions based on such scenarios ultimately depend on the credibility and effective implementation of ambitious climate policies.

### References

2DII (2022), Heading North? Assessing the Alignment of Norway's Financial Sector with the Paris Agreement.	[74]
Acharya, V. et al. (2023), Climate stress testing, https://doi.org/10.3386/w31097.	[153]
Allen, M. et al. (2022), "Indicate separate contributions of long-lived and short-lived greenhouse gases in emission targets", <i>npj Climate and Atmospheric Science</i> , Vol. 5/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41612-021-00226-2</u> .	[100]
Allen, T. et al. (2020), <i>Climate-Related Scenarios for Financial Stability Assessment: An Application to France</i> , Banque de France Working Paper No. 774, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3653131">http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3653131</a> .	[60]
Anderson, K. and G. Peters (2016), "The trouble with negative emissions", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 354/6309, pp. 182-183, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah4567</u> .	[113]
Baer, M. et al. (2023), <i>Toward A Framework For Assessing And Using Current Climate Risk Scenarios Within Financial Decisions</i> , UK Centre for Greening Finance and Investment (CGFI), <u>https://www.cgfi.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/CGFI-Scenario-paper.pdf</u> .	[59]
Bank of Canada (2021), Using Scenario Analysis to Assess Climate Transition Risk, https://www.bankofcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/BoC-OSFI-Using-Scenario- Analysis-to-Assess-Climate-Transition-Risk.pdf.	[40]
Banque de France (2022), <i>Climate scenario analysis to assess financial risks: some encouraging first steps</i> , <u>https://publications.banque-france.fr/sites/default/files/medias/documents/bdf241-1_climate-scenario.pdf</u> .	[39]
Battiston, S. et al. (2017), "A climate stress-test of the financial system", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 7/4, pp. 283-288, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3255</u> .	[73]
Battiston, S. et al. (2021), "Accounting for finance is key for climate mitigation pathways", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 372/6545, pp. 918-920, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf3877</u> .	[62]
Battiston, S. et al. (2022), "The NACE – CPRS – IAM mapping: A tool to support climate risk analysis of financial portfolio using NGFS scenarios.", <i>SSRN Electronic Journal</i> , <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4223606</u> .	[70]
Bertram, C. et al. (2021), NGFS Climate Scenario Database: Technical Documentation V2.2, http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/id/eprint/17511/1/ngfs_climate_scenarios_technical_documentation_p hase2_june2021.pdf.	[54]
Bertram, C. et al. (2018), "Targeted policies can compensate most of the increased sustainability risks in 1.5 °C mitigation scenarios", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 13/6, p. 064038, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aac3ec</u> .	[120]
---	-------
Brook, B. et al. (2018), "Silver Buckshot or Bullet: Is a Future "Energy Mix" Necessary?", Sustainability, Vol. 10/2, p. 302, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10020302</u> .	[106]
Brutschin, E. et al. (2021), "A multidimensional feasibility evaluation of low-carbon scenarios", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 16/6, p. 064069, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abf0ce</u> .	[101]
Budinis, S. et al. (2018), "An assessment of CCS costs, barriers and potential", <i>Energy Strategy Reviews</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 61-81, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2018.08.003</u> .	[108]
Byers, E. (2022), AR6 Scenarios Database hosted by IIASA, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5886912</u> .	[52]
Colin, A., C. Vailles and R. Hubert (2019), <i>Understanding transition scenarios: Eight steps for reading and interpreting these scenario</i> , I4CE, <u>https://www.i4ce.org/wp-content/uploads/I4CE-ScenariosTransition-Rapport-complet-VA.pdf</u> .	[42]
Committee on Climate Chang (2020), <i>The Sixth Carbon Budget: The UK's path to Net Zero</i> , <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-Net-Zero.pdf</u> .	[89]
CPI (2021), <i>Private Financial Institutions' Commitments to Paris Alignment</i> , Climate Policy Initiative, <u>https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/CPI_Private-FI-</u> <u>Commitments-Tracking-1.pdf</u> .	[44]
CPI (2020), A Proposed Method for Measuring Paris Alignment of New Investment, https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/2A-Proposed-Method- for-Measuring-Paris-Alignment-of-New-Investment-3.pdf.	[79]
Cradock-Henry, N., G. Diprose and B. Frame (2021), "Towards local-parallel scenarios for climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerability", <i>Climate Risk Management</i> , Vol. 34, p. 100372, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2021.100372</u> .	[84]
CRREM (2020), From global emission budgets to decarbonisation pathways at property level: CRREM downscaling and carbon performance assessment methodology, <u>https://www.crrem.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CRREM-downscaling-documentation-and-assessment-methodology.pdf</u> .	[99]
Després, J. et al. (2018), <i>POLES-JRC model documentation, EUR 29454 EN</i> , Publications Office of the European Union, <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/814959</u> .	[55]
Dhakal, S. et al. (2022), <i>Emissions Trends and Drivers</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.004</u> .	[68]
Diesendorf, M. and B. Elliston (2018), "The feasibility of 100% renewable electricity systems: A response to critics", <i>Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews</i> , Vol. 93, pp. 318-330, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.05.042</u> .	[105]

Dobrinevski, A. and R. Jachnik (2020), "Exploring options to measure the climate consistency of real economy investments : The manufacturing industries of Norway", <i>OECD Environment Working Papers</i> , No. 159, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1012bd81-en</u> .	[26]
Dobrinevski, A. and R. Jachnik (2020), "Exploring options to measure the climate consistency of real economy investments: The transport sector in Latvia", <i>OECD Environment Working Papers</i> , No. 163, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/48d53aac-en</u> .	[27]
Drouet, L. et al. (2021), "Net zero-emission pathways reduce the physical and economic risks of climate change", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 11/12, pp. 1070-1076, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01218-z</u> .	[127]
E3G (2021), Decarbonizing the steel sector in Paris-compatible pathways, https://www.e3g.org/wp-content/uploads/1.5C-Steel-Report E3G-PNNL-1.pdf.	[75]
ECB (2022), 2022 climate risk stress test, European Central Bank, https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/ecb/pub/pdf/ssm.climate_stress_test_report.20220 708~2e3cc0999f.en.pdf.	[38]
ECB (2022), 2022 climate risk stress test, European Central Bank, https://doi.org/10.2866/97350.	[4]
Emmerling, J. et al. (2019), "The role of the discount rate for emission pathways and negative emissions", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 14/10, p. 104008, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab3cc9</u> .	[126]
ESABCC (2023), Scientific advice for the determination of an EU-wide 2040 climate target and a greenhouse gas budget for 2030–2050, <u>https://doi.org/10.2800/609405</u> .	[90]
FSB (2022), Climate Scenario Analysis by Jurisdictions: Initial findings and lessons, Financial Stability Board, <u>https://www.fsb.org/wp-content/uploads/P151122.pdf</u> .	[5]
Fujimori, S. et al. (2021), "A framework for national scenarios with varying emission reductions", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 11/6, pp. 472-480, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01048-z</u> .	[88]
Fuss, S. et al. (2014), "Betting on negative emissions", Nature Climate Change, Vol. 4/10, pp. 850-853, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2392</u> .	[112]
Fuss, S. et al. (2018), "Negative emissions—Part 2: Costs, potentials and side effects", Environmental Research Letters, Vol. 13/6, p. 063002, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748- 9326/aabf9f</u> .	[118]
Gambhir, A. et al. (2017), "Assessing the Feasibility of Global Long-Term Mitigation Scenarios", <i>Energies</i> , Vol. 10/1, p. 89, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en10010089</u> .	[107]
Gambhir, A. and M. Tavoni (2019), "Direct Air Carbon Capture and Sequestration: How It Works and How It Could Contribute to Climate-Change Mitigation", <i>One Earth</i> , Vol. 1/4, pp. 405-409, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.11.006</u> .	[116]
Ganti, G. et al. (2023), "Uncompensated claims to fair emission space risk putting Paris Agreement goals out of reach", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 18/2, p. 024040, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acb502</u> .	[92]

Gardes-Landolfini, C. et al. (2023), Activating alignment: Applying the G-20 Principles for Sustainable Finance Alignment with a Focus on Climate Change Mitigation, <u>https://www.imf.org/external/np/g20/pdf/2023/091323.pdf</u> .	[72]
GFANZ (2022), 2022 Progress Report, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/10/GFANZ-2022-Progress-Report.pdf.	[135]
GFANZ (2022), <i>Financial Institution Net-zero Transition Plans</i> , <u>https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/06/GFANZ_Recommendations-and-Guidance-on-Net-zero-Transition-Plans-for-the-Financial-Sector June2022.pdf</u> .	[24]
GFANZ (2022), Guidance on Use of Sectoral Pathways for Financial, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/06/GFANZ_Guidance-on-Use-of-Sectoral- Pathways-for-Financial-Institutions_June2022.pdf.	[18]
Giannousakis, A. et al. (2021), "How uncertainty in technology costs and carbon dioxide removal availability affect climate mitigation pathways", <i>Energy</i> , Vol. 216, p. 119253, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.119253</u> .	[103]
Giarola, S. et al. (2021), "Challenges in the harmonisation of global integrated assessment models: A comprehensive methodology to reduce model response heterogeneity", <i>Science of</i> <i>The Total Environment</i> , Vol. 783, p. 146861, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146861</u> .	[132]
Grubler, A. et al. (2018), "A low energy demand scenario for meeting the 1.5 °C target and sustainable development goals without negative emission technologies", <i>Nature Energy</i> , Vol. 3/6, pp. 515-527, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0172-6</u> .	[110]
Guivarch, C. et al. (2022), "Using large ensembles of climate change mitigation scenarios for robust insights", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 12/5, pp. 428-435, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01349-x</u> .	[102]
Huppmann, D. et al. (2018), "A new scenario resource for integrated 1.5 °C research", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 8/12, pp. 1027-1030, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0317-4</u> .	[51]
I4CE (2022), Scenario Analysis of Transition Risk in Finance: Towards strategic integration of deep uncertainty, Institute for Climate Economics, <u>https://www.i4ce.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/I4CE_2022_Scenario-analysis-of-transition-risk-in-finance.pdf</u> .	[41]
IEA (2022), Global Energy and Climate Model Documentation, <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/2db1f4ab-85c0-4dd0-9a57-</u> <u>32e542556a49/GlobalEnergyandClimateModelDocumentation2022.pdf</u> .	[80]
IEA (2022), World Energy Outlook.	[53]
IEA (2021), Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/c8328405-en</u> .	[31]
IEA (2021), The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions, IEA, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-critical-minerals-in-clean-energy-transitions.	[128]
IEA (2021), World Energy Outlook 2021, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/14fcb638-en.	[137]

IEA (2020), <i>Energy Technology Perspectives 2020</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/d07136f0-en">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/d07136f0-en</a> .				
IEA (2020), World Energy Outlook 2020, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/557a761b-en.	[138]			
IEA (2019), <i>World Energy Outlook 2019</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/caf32f3b-en</u> .	[139]			
IEA (2017), Energy Technology Perspectives 2017: Catalysing Energy Technology Transformations, International Energy Agency, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/energy_tech-2017-en</u> .	[140]			
IFRS (2021), Climate-related Disclosures Prototype, https://www.ifrs.org/content/dam/ifrs/groups/trwg/trwg-climate-related-disclosures- prototype.pdf.	[67]			
IFRS (2022s), [Draft] IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures Appendix B Industry-based disclosure requirements, <u>https://www.ifrs.org/content/dam/ifrs/project/climate-related-disclosures/issb-exposure-draft-2022-2-appendix-b.pdf</u> .	[47]			
IIGCC (2020), Net Zero Investment Framework for Consultation, <u>http://www.iigcc.org</u> (accessed on 31 August 2020).	[150]			
IPCC (2022), Annex III: Scenarios and modelling methods, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.022</u> .	[30]			
IPCC (2022), Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/.	[134]			
IPCC (2018), Global Warming of 1.5 °C, https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15.	[146]			
IPCC (1996), IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Reference Manual.	[64]			
Jachnik, R. and A. Dobrinevski (2021), "Measuring the alignment of real economy investments with climate mitigation objectives: The United Kingdom's buildings sector", <i>OECD</i> <i>Environment Working Papers</i> , No. 172, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/8eccb72a-en</u> .	[25]			
Jakob, M. and J. Steckel (2016), "Implications of climate change mitigation for sustainable development", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 11/10, p. 104010, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/10/104010</u> .	[121]			
Jean-Charles Hourcade, P. (2021), Les modèles intégrés économie-climat : quels usages pour quelles décisions?.	[142]			
Jeudy-Hugo, S., L. Lo Re and C. Falduto (2021), "Understanding countries' net-zero emissions targets", OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2021/03, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/8d25a20c-en</u> .	[14]			
Jiang, X., G. Peters and C. Green (2019), "Global Rules Mask the Mitigation Challenge Facing Developing Countries", <i>Earth's Future</i> , Vol. 7/4, pp. 428-432, <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018ef001078</u> .	[78]			

Kemp-Benedict, E. (2018), "Dematerialization, Decoupling, and Productivity Change", <i>Ecological Economics</i> , Vol. 150, pp. 204-216, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.04.020</u> .	[109]
Keramidas, K. (2022), Global Energy and Climate Outlook 2022: Energy trade in a decarbonised world, <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/863694</u> .	[57]
Keramidas, K. et al. (2021), <i>Global Energy and Climate Outlook 2021: Advancing towards climate neutrality</i> , Publications Office of the European Union, <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/410610</u> ,	[56]
Keramidas, K. et al. (2020), <i>Global Energy and Climate Outlook 2020: A New Normal Beyond Covid-19</i> , Publications Office of the European Union, <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/608429</u> .	[141]
Krey, V. et al. (2019), "Looking under the hood: A comparison of techno-economic assumptions across national and global integrated assessment models", <i>Energy</i> , Vol. 172, pp. 1254-1267, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.12.131</u> .	[125]
Kriegler, E. et al. (2018), "Short term policies to keep the door open for Paris climate goals", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 13/7, p. 074022, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-</u> <u>9326/aac4f1</u> .	[97]
Lecocq, F. et al. (2022), <i>Mitigation and development pathways in the near- to mid-term</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.006</u> .	[93]
Magar, V. (ed.) (2017), "Downscaling Global Emissions and Its Implications Derived from Climate Model Experiments", <i>PLOS ONE</i> , Vol. 12/1, p. e0169733, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169733</u> .	[86]
Marangoni, G. et al. (2017), "Sensitivity of projected long-term CO2 emissions across the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 7/2, pp. 113-117, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3199</u> .	[123]
Masson-Delmotte, V. (ed.) (2021), <i>Global Carbon and other Biogeochemical Cycles and Feedbacks</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.007</u> .	[143]
Miller, H. et al. (2022), <i>The stumbling block in 'the race of our lives': transition-critical materials, financial risks and the NGFS climate scenarios,</i> <u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/publication/the-stumbling-block-in-the-race-of-our-lives-transition-critical-materials-financial-risks-and-the-ngfs-climate-scenarios/</u> .	[130]
Minx, J. et al. (2018), "Negative emissions—Part 1: Research landscape and synthesis", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 13/6, p. 063001, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-</u> <u>9326/aabf9b</u> .	[117]
Mission Possible Partnership (2022), <i>Making net-zero steel possible: An industry-backed, 1.5°C-aligned transition strategy</i> , <u>https://missionpossiblepartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Making-Net-Zero-Steel-possible.pdf</u> .	[76]
Monasterolo, I., M. Nieto and E. Schets (2023), The Good, the Bad and the Hot House World: Conceptual Underpinnings of the NGFS Scenarios and Suggestions for Improvement, Banco	[61]

Espana Working Paper No. 2302, <u>https://doi.org/10.53479/29533</u>.

Mullan, M. and N. Ranger (2022), "Climate-resilient finance and investment: Framing paper", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 196, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/223ad3b9-en</u> .	[50]
Nemet, G. et al. (2018), "Negative emissions—Part 3: Innovation and upscaling", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 13/6, p. 063003, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabff4</u> .	[119]
Net Zero Steel (2021), Global facility level net-zero steel pathways: Technical report on the first scenarios of the net-zero steel project, <u>http://netzerosteel.org/wp-content/uploads/pdf/net_zero_steel_report.pdf</u> .	[77]
NewClimate Institute (2022), Net Zero Stocktake 2022: Assessing the status and trends of net zero target setting across countries, sub-national governments and companies, NewClimate Institute, Oxford Net Zero, Energy & Climate Intelligence Unit and Data-Driven EnviroLab, <a href="https://zerotracker.net/analysis/net-zero-stocktake-2022">https://zerotracker.net/analysis/net-zero-stocktake-2022</a> :	[13]
NGFS (2022), NGFS Scenarios for central bank and supervisors.	[33]
NGFS (2022), Physical Climate Risk Assessment: Practical Lessons for the Development of Climate Scenarios with Extreme Weather Events from Emerging Markets and Developing Economies, <u>https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/media/2022/09/02/ngfs_physical_climate_risk_assess_ment.pdf</u> .	[49]
NGFS (2021), NGFS Climate Scenarios for central banks and supervisors, https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/media/2021/08/27/ngfs_climate_scenarios_phase2_jun e2021.pdf.	[131]
NGFS (2020), <i>Guide to climate scenario analysis for central banks and supervisors</i> , Network for Greening the Financial System, <a href="https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/ngfs_guide_scenario_analysis_finalpdf">https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/ngfs_guide_scenario_analysis_finalpdf</a> .	[36]
NGFS (2020), NGFS Climate Scenarios for central banks and supervisors.	[34]
Nieto, M. and C. Papathanassiou (2023), "Financing the orderly transition to a low carbon economy in the EU: the regulatory framework for the banking channel", <i>Journal of Banking Regulation</i> , <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41261-023-00219-6</u> .	[19]
Noels, J. and R. Jachnik (2022), "Assessing the climate consistency of finance: Taking stock of methodologies and their links to climate mitigation policy objectives", <i>OECD Environment Working Papers</i> , No. 200, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/d12005e7-en</u> .	[10]
NZAOA (2022), UN-convened Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance Target Setting Protocol, NZAOA.	[149]
NZAOA (2021), Inaugural 2025 Target Setting Protocol, <u>https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-</u> content/uploads/2021/01/Alliance-Target-Setting-Protocol-2021.pdf.	[23]
O'Neill, B. et al. (2013), "A new scenario framework for climate change research: the concept of shared socioeconomic pathways", <i>Climatic Change</i> , Vol. 122/3, pp. 387-400, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0905-2</u> .	[144]
OECD (2023), <i>Mechanisms to Prevent Carbon Lock-in in Transition Finance</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/d5c49358-en</u> .	[69]

OECD (2022), Climate tipping points: insights for effective policy action.	[66]
OECD (2022), "ESG ratings and climate transition: An assessment of the alignment of E pillar scores and metrics", OECD Business and Finance Policy Papers, No. 06, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/2fa21143-en</u> .	[46]
OECD (2022), OECD Guidance on Transition Finance: Ensuring Credibility of Corporate Climate Transition Plans, Green Finance and Investment, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/7c68a1ee-en</u> .	[9]
P.R. Shukla, J. (ed.) (2022), <i>Summary for Policymakers</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.001</u> .	[1]
P.R. Shukla, J. (ed.) (2022), <i>Mitigation pathways compatible with long-term goals</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.005</u> .	[29]
P.R. Shukla, J. (ed.) (2022), <i>Mitigation pathways compatible with long-term goals</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.005</u> .	[32]
Pachauri, S. et al. (2022), "Fairness considerations in global mitigation investments", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 378/6624, pp. 1057-1059, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adf0067</u> .	[96]
Pan, X. et al. (2017), "Exploring fair and ambitious mitigation contributions under the Paris Agreement goals", <i>Environmental Science &amp; amp; Policy</i> , Vol. 74, pp. 49-56, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.04.020</u> .	[95]
Pouille, C. et al. (2023), "Paris-consistent climate change mitigation scenarios: A framework for emissions pathway classification in line with global mitigation objectives", <i>OECD Environment Working Papers</i> , No. 222, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/0de87ef8-en</u> .	[11]
Realmonte, G. et al. (2019), "An inter-model assessment of the role of direct air capture in deep mitigation pathways", <i>Nature Communications</i> , Vol. 10/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10842-5</u> .	[115]
Reinders, H., D. Schoenmaker and M. van Dijk (2023), <i>Climate Risk Stress Testing: A Conceptual Review</i> , <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4362342</u> .	[154]
Riahi, K. et al. (2017), "The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview", <i>Global Environmental Change</i> , Vol. 42, pp. 153-168, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.05.009</u> .	[145]
Richters, O. et al. (2022), NGFS Climate Scenario Database: Technical Documentation V3.1	[91]
Rogelj, J. et al. (2019), "Estimating and tracking the remaining carbon budget for stringent climate targets", <i>Nature</i> , Vol. 571/7765, pp. 335-342, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1368-z</u> .	[45]
Rogelj, J. et al. (2023), "Credibility gap in net-zero climate targets leaves world at high risk", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 380/6649, pp. 1014-1016, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adg6248</u> .	[124]
Rogelj, J. et al. (2013), "Probabilistic cost estimates for climate change mitigation", <i>Nature</i> , Vol. 493/7430, pp. 79-83, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11787</u> .	[152]

SBTi (2022), Science Based Targets initiative annual progress report 2021: Scaling Urgent Corporate Climate, Science Based Targets initiative, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTiProgressReport2021.pdf.	[15]
SBTi (2021), Pathways to Net-Zero: SBTi Technical Summary Version 1.0, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Pathway-to-Net-Zero.pdf.	[20]
SBTi (2021), SBTi Corporate Manual Version 2.0, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTi-Corporate-Manual.pdf.	[8]
SBTi (2020), Science-Based Target Setting Manual Version 4.1, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/legacy/2017/04/SBTi-manual.pdf.	[21]
Schaeffer, R. et al. (2020), "Comparing transformation pathways across major economies", <i>Climatic Change</i> , Vol. 162/4, pp. 1787-1803, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02837-9</u> .	[87]
Schleussner, C. et al. (2022), "An emission pathway classification reflecting the Paris Agreement climate objectives", <i>Communications Earth &amp; Communications Earth &amp; Communications Earth &amp; Communications and Communications</i>	[63]
Schwegler, R. et al. (2022), <i>Portfolio Climate Alignment: Understanding unwanted disincentives</i> <i>when using climate alignment methodologies</i> , Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), <u>https://www.bafu.admin.ch/dam/bafu/de/dokumente/klima/externe-studien-</u> <u>berichte/Report_Portfolio%20Climate%20Alignment_Infras_HSG_22.06.2022.pdf.download.p</u> <u>df/Report_Portfolio%20Climate%20Alignment_Infras_HSG_22.06.2022.pdf.</u>	[28]
Sferra, F., B. van Ruijven and K. Riahi (2021), <i>Downscaling IAMs results to the country level – a new algorithm</i> , IIASA Report. IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria, <u>https://pure.iiasa.ac.at/17501</u> .	[83]
Soergel, B. et al. (2021), "A sustainable development pathway for climate action within the UN 2030 Agenda", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 11/8, pp. 656-664, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01098-3</u> .	[122]
Strefler, J. et al. (2021), "Carbon dioxide removal technologies are not born equal", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 16/7, p. 074021, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac0a11</u> .	[114]
Strefler, J. et al. (2018), "Between Scylla and Charybdis: Delayed mitigation narrows the passage between large-scale CDR and high costs", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 13/4, p. 044015, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aab2ba</u> .	[111]
Sun, T. et al. (2021), "Path to net zero is critical to climate outcome", <i>Scientific Reports</i> , Vol. 11/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-01639-y</u> .	[147]
Sustainable Fitch (2023), Increasing Reliance on Climate Scenarios Comes with Challenges for Investors, <u>https://www.sustainablefitch.com/banks/increasing-reliance-on-climate-scenarios-</u> <u>come-with-challenges-for-investors-26-04-2023</u> .	[7]
Täger, M. and S. Dikau (2023), Purposeful scenario analysis: A framework to guide central banks and financial supervisors in the selection and design of climate scenarios, <u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/publication/purposeful-scenario-analysis-a- framework-to-guide-central-banks-and-financial-supervisors-in-the-selection-and-design-of- climate-scenarios/.</u>	[3]

TCFD (2017), Final Report: Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, <u>https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2020/10/FINAL-2017-TCFD-Report-11052018.pdf</u> .	[2]
TCFD (2017), The Use of Scenario Analysis in Disclosure of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities, <u>https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2021/03/FINAL-TCFD-Technical-Supplement-062917.pdf</u> .	[6]
Teske, S. (ed.) (2022), <i>Achieving the Paris Climate Agreement Goals</i> , Springer International Publishing, Cham, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-99177-7</u> .	[71]
Teske, S. (ed.) (2019), <i>Achieving the Paris Climate Agreement Goals</i> , Springer International Publishing, Cham, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05843-2</u> .	[133]
Teske, S. et al. (2020), Sectoral pathways to net zero.	[35]
Teske, S. et al. (2023), "Net-zero 1.5 °C sectorial pathways for G20 countries: energy and emissions data to inform science-based decarbonization targets", <i>SN Applied Sciences</i> , Vol. 5/9, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-023-05481-x</u> .	[58]
Trust, S. et al. (2023), <i>The Emperor's New Climate Scenarios: Limitations and assumptions of commonly used climate-change scenarios in financial services</i> , nstitute and Faculty of Actuaries & University of Exeter, <u>https://actuaries.org.uk/media/qeydewmk/the-emperor-s-new-climate-scenarios.pdf</u> .	[43]
UNEP FI (2022), Commitment Document for Participating Asset Owners, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/AOA-COMMITMENT-DOC- 2022.pdf.	[16]
UNEP FI (2022), Net-Zero Banking Alliance Frequently Asked Questions, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/FAQ-General_public-facing- 1.pdf.	[17]
UNEP FI (2021), Guidelines for Climate Target Setting for Banks, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/UNEP-FI-Guidelines-for- Climate-Change-Target-Setting.pdf.	[22]
UNEP FI & CICERO (2021), Pathways to Paris: A practical guide to climate transition scenarios for financial professionals, UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative, <a href="https://www.unepfi.org/industries/banking/pathways-to-paris/">https://www.unepfi.org/industries/banking/pathways-to-paris/</a> .	[37]
UNFCCC (2021), <i>Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows</i> , <u>https://unfccc.int/topics/climate-finance/resources/biennial-assessment-and-overview-of-climate-finance-flows</u> (accessed on 9 August 2023).	[48]
UNFCCC (2019), Greenhouse Gas Inventory Data - Flexible Queries Annex I Parties.	[65]
UNFCCC (2015), The Paris Agreement, <a href="https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement">https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement</a> , <a href="https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement">https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement</a> , <a href="https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement">https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement</a> , <a href="https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement">https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement</a> .	[12]
van den Berg, N. et al. (2019), "Implications of various effort-sharing approaches for national carbon budgets and emission pathways", <i>Climatic Change</i> , Vol. 162/4, pp. 1805-1822, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02368-y</u> .	[156]

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 81

van Diemen, R. (ed.) (2022), <i>Annex I: Glossary</i> , Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.020</u> .	[148]
van Soest, H. (2022), <i>Mind the Gap : Applying Integrated Assessment Models to Inform</i> <i>International and National Climate Policy on Bridging the Emissions Gap</i> , Utrecht University, <u>https://doi.org/10.33540/1311</u> .	[82]
van Soest, H. et al. (2021), "Global roll-out of comprehensive policy measures may aid in bridging emissions gap", <i>Nature Communications</i> , Vol. 12/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26595-z</u> .	[98]
van Soest, H., M. den Elzen and D. van Vuuren (2021), "Net-zero emission targets for major emitting countries consistent with the Paris Agreement", <i>Nature Communications</i> , Vol. 12/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22294-x</u> .	[81]
van Vuuren, D. et al. (2017), "The Shared Socio-economic Pathways: Trajectories for human development and global environmental change", <i>Global Environmental Change</i> , Vol. 42, pp. 148-152, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.10.009</u> .	[104]
van Vuuren, D., S. Smith and K. Riahi (2010), "Downscaling socioeconomic and emissions scenarios for global environmental change research: a review", <i>Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change</i> , Vol. 1/3, pp. 393-404, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.50</u> .	[85]
van Vuuren, D. et al. (2020), "The costs of achieving climate targets and the sources of uncertainty", <i>Nature Climate Change</i> , Vol. 10/4, pp. 329-334, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0732-1</u> .	[151]
Wang, P. et al. (2022), "Critical mineral constraints in global renewable scenarios under 1.5 °C target", <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , Vol. 17/12, p. 125004, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aca4ea</u> .	[129]
Williges, K. et al. (2022), "Fairness critically conditions the carbon budget allocation across countries", <i>Global Environmental Change</i> , Vol. 74, p. 102481, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2022.102481</u> .	[94]
Winkler, H. et al. (2017), "Countries start to explain how their climate contributions are fair: more rigour needed", <i>International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics</i> , Vol. 18/1, pp. 99-115, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-017-9381-x</u> .	[155]
World Resources Institute & World Business Council for Sustainable evelopment (2004), <i>GHG</i> <i>Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard</i> , https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/ghg-protocol-revised.pdf.	[157]

# Annex A. Description and objectives of scenarios used in climate-related analyses in the financial sector

## Table A A.1. Description and objective of scenarios in use in finance alignment assessments

Scenario	Provid er	Definition and overview	Objective
Net Zero Emissions 2050 (NZE)	IEA	"The Net Zero Emissions by 2050 (NZE) Scenario maps out a way to achieve a 1.5 °C stabilisation in the rise in global average temperatures, alongside universal access to modern energy by 2030" "It sets out a comprehensive and detailed view of how the energy sector could respond coherently to the challenges of climate change while taking account of concerns about energy security and affordability. "	To "provide projections for energy markets and energy security through scenarios and examines what those outlooks imply for energy-related emissions and achievement if the world's sustainable goals
APS	IEA	"The Announced Pledges Scenario (APS) assumes that all aspirational targets announced by governments are met on time and in full, including their long-term net zero and energy access goals." "To show the trajectory and energy transition implied by the full achievement of all climate pledges."	
GECO 1.5°C	JRC	"The 1.5°C Scenario outlines a cost-efficient pathway for limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°C by the end of the century."	"to provide a global picture of energy markets as they transform over the next
GECO NDC- LTS	JRC	"This scenario considers the policies of NDCs in the medium term and the LTSs in the longer term. This scenario assumes that the objectives in the NDCs (including conditional objectives) are reached in their relevant target year (2030 in most cases). [] Beyond 2030, the objectives of the countries' LTS, where they exist, are pursued."	decades, under the simultaneous interactions of economic development, technological innovation and climate policies."
Net Zero 2050	NGFS	"Net Zero 2050 is an ambitious scenario that limits global warming to 1.5 °C through stringent climate policies and innovation, reaching net zero $CO_2$ emissions around 2050. Some jurisdictions such as the US, EU and Japan reach net zero for all greenhouse gases by this point. This scenario assumes that ambitious climate policies are introduced immediately. CDR is used to accelerate the decarbonisation but kept to the minimum possible and broadly in line with sustainable levels of bioenergy production. Net $CO_2$ emissions reach zero around 2050, giving at least a 50 % chance of limiting global warming to below 1.5 °C in earlier years"	"NGFS scenarios' objective is to provide a common and up-to-date reference point for
Divergent Net Zero Policies	NGFS	"Divergent Net Zero reaches net-zero by 2050 but with higher costs due to divergent policies introduced across sectors and a quicker phase out of fossil fuels. This scenario differentiates itself from the Net Zero 2050 by assuming that climate policies are more stringent in the transportation and buildings sectors. This mimics a situation where the failure to coordinate policy stringency across sectors results in a high burden on consumers, while decarbonisation of energy supply and industry is less stringent. Furthermore, the availability of CDR technologies is assumed to be lower than in Net Zero 2050. Emissions are in line with a climate goal giving at least a 50 % chance of limiting global warming to below 1.5 °C by the end of the century, with no or low overshoot (<0.1 °C) of 1.5 °C in earlier years."	(physical risk) and climate change (physical risk) and climate policy and technology trends (transition risk) could evolve in different futures. Each scenario was chosen to show a range of higher and lower risk outcomes."
Below 2°C	NGFS	"Below 2 °C gradually increases the stringency of climate policies, giving a 67 % chance of limiting global warming to below 2 °C. This scenario	

		assumes that climate policies are introduced immediately and become gradually more stringent though not as high as in Net Zero 2050. CDR deployment is relatively low. Net-zero $CO_2$ emissions are achieved after 2070."	
Delayed Transition	NGFS	"Delayed Transition assumes global annual emissions do not decrease until 2030. Strong policies are then needed to limit warming to below 2 °C. Negative emissions are limited. This scenario assumes new climate policies are not introduced until 2030 and the level of action differs across countries and regions based on currently implemented policies, leading to a "fossil recovery" out of the economic crisis brought about by COVID-19. The availability of CDR technologies is assumed to be low pushing carbon prices higher than in Net Zero 2050. As a result, emissions exceed the carbon budget temporarily and decline more rapidly than in Well-below 2 °C after 2030 to ensure a 67 % chance of limiting global warming to below 2 °C."	
UTS-ISF OECM 1.5°C	ISF	"The 1.5°C scenario aims to achieve a global energy-related CO2 emission budget of around 450 Gt, accumulated between 2015 and 2050. The 1.5°C Scenario requires immediate action to realize all available options. It is a technical pathway, not a political prognosis. It refers to technically possible measures and options without taking into account societal risks or barriers. Efficiency and renewable potentials must be deployed even more quickly than in the 2.0°C Scenario."."	"This research aimed to develop practical pathways to achieve the Paris climate goals based on a detailed bottom-up
UTS-ISF OECM 2°C	ISF	"This scenario aims to achieve an ambitious emissions reduction to zero by 2050 and a global energy-related CO2 emissions budget between 2015 and 2050 of around 590 Gt The 2.0°C Scenario represents a far more likely pathway than the 1.5°C Scenario, because the 2.0°C case takes into account unavoidable delays due to political, economic, and societal processes and stakeholders."	sector, in order to avoid reliance on net negative emissions later on."
ISF Net Zero	ISF	"Sectoral pathways for five key high-emitting sectors, on a global level and for two regions (Europe and North America), to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, and to inform the development of sector-based targets for decarbonization."	"The Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance commissioned the [] ISF to apply their model to sectors as defined by sector classification schemes commonly used in finance (GICs, BICs, and NACE). The aim was to develop sectoral pathways to net zero by 2050 with carbon emissions (scope 1-2) and energy intensity and carbon intensity (scope 1-2) milestones in 5-year intervals for agreed high emitting sectors. "A 1.5°C pathway to support [the Alliance's] 5-year intermediary target setting commitment described in the initial Alliance 2025 Target Setting Protocol. [] Describe in decision-useful terms for financial actors sectoral pathways."

Source: (IEA, 2022[53]; IEA, 2021[31]; Keramidas, 2022[57]; NGFS, 2021[131]; Teske, 2019[133]; Teske, 2022[71]).

# Annex B. Scope and granularity of emissions pathways and underlying model resolution of scenario models currently relied on in climaterelated analyses in the financial sector

This annex provides further detail on the Annex B. Scope and granularity of emissions pathways and underlying model resolution of scenario models currently relied on in climate-related analyses in the financial sector, as discussed in Chapter 4.

Table A B.1 clarifies further the information provided in Table 4.1. The information summarised in the table may be open to some interpretation as the level of granularity may differ between model variables. The interpretation in this table aims to include the highest level of granularity found for at least one variable.

Model	Indicator	Information
IEA GEC 2022	Number of modelled sectors	<ul> <li>3+ energy sub-sectors: energy supply (oil, natural gas, coal, bioenergy), electricity generation and heat production, other energy transformation</li> <li>27 industry sub-sectors: <ul> <li>heavy industries:</li> <li>Chemicals and petrochemicals: high value chemical production, methanol production, ammonia production, other chemical production</li> <li>Iron and steel: material and fuel preparation, iron production, steel production, semi-finishing and finishing processes.</li> <li>Non-metallic minerals: raw material and fuel grinding, clinker production, finished cement, other non-metallic mineral production,</li> <li>Non-ferrous metals: Alumina refining, aluminium production, finishing, other nonferrous metal production,</li> <li>Paper, pulp and printing: pulp production, paper production, printing and finishing processes,</li> </ul> </li> <li>Iight industries: transport equipment, machinery, mining and quarrying, food and tobacco, textile and leather, wood and wood products, construction, non-specified industry</li> <li>transport sub-sectors: road (scrappage functions are extended across all vehicle types to improve sectoral representation), aviation, navigation, rail, other (includes pipeline and non-specified transport)</li> <li>buildings sub-sectors: residential, services. (Note that energy demand is further subdivided into six standard end uses in buildings, namely space and water heating, appliances (divided into four different categories: refrigeration – fridge and freezer; cleaning – washing, drying machines and dish washers; brown goods – TVs and computers; and other appliances), lighting, cooking and space cooling – air conditioners and fans.)</li> </ul>
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways	<ul> <li>3 energy sub-sectors: combustion activities, electricity and heat sectors, other energy sector</li> <li>3 industry sub-sectors: Iron and steel, chemicals, cement</li> <li>3 transport sub-sectors: road (passenger cars, heavy duty-trucks), aviation, shipping</li> <li>2 buildings sub-sectors: residential, services</li> </ul>

#### Table A B.1. Sectoral scope and granularity for emissions pathways

POLES-JRC 2022	Number of modelled sectors	<ul> <li>4+ energy transformation sub-sectors: electricity sector, heat production, hydrogen, synthetic liquids, other transformation and losses</li> <li>4 industry sub-sectors: iron and steel, chemicals, non-metallic minerals (cement, lime, glass, ceramics, other non-metallic minerals), other industry (other manufacturing, mining and construction)</li> <li>2 buildings sub-sectors: residential, commercial</li> <li>4 transport sub-sectors: road (cars, motorcycles, buses, light trucks, heavy trucks), rail, air and water transport</li> <li>Agriculture (no sub-sectors)</li> </ul>		
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways	Energy transformation, industry, buildings, agriculture, transport, other		
NGFS GCAM	Number of modelled sectors	<ul> <li>5 energy sub-sectors: electricity, gases, heat, liquids, solids</li> <li>5 industry sub-sectors: steel, chemicals (1 sub-sector: Ammonia), cement, non-ferrous metals, other</li> <li>2 transport sub-sectors: freight, passenger</li> <li>2 buildings sub-sectors: residential, commercial</li> <li>AFOLU (no sub-sector)</li> </ul>		
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways	Idem		
NGFS REMIND	Number of modelled sectors	5 energy sub-sectors: electricity, gases, heat, liquids, solids 4 industry sub-sectors: steel, chemicals, cement, other 4 transport sub-sectors: aviation-passenger, maritime-freight, rail (2 sub-sectors: freight, passenger), road (3 sub-sectors: freight, passenger-bus, passenger-LDV) Buildings (no sub-sector) ADOLU (no sub-sector)		
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways (outputs)	Idem		
NGFS MESSAGE	Number of modelled sectors	5 energy sub-sectors: electricity, gases, heat, liquids, solids 4 industry sub-sectors: steel, high-value chemicals, cement, non-ferrous materials 1 transport sub-sector: aviation Buildings (no sub-sector) AFOLU (no sub-sector) AFOFI (no sub-sector)		
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways	Idem		
UTS-ISF OECM	Number of modelled sectors	<ul> <li>6 GICS sectors: Energy; Utilities; Buildings; Industrials (Transport); Materials; Consumer Staples</li> <li>24 GICS subsectors: <ul> <li>Energy: Coal; Oil; Gas;</li> <li>Utilities: Power Utilities; Gas Utilities; Water Utilities ;</li> <li>Industrials (Transport): Aviation; Shipping; Road;;</li> <li>Materials: Fishing Industry; Forestry &amp; Wood Products; Chemical Industry; Textile &amp; Leather; Aluminium Industry; Steel; Iron &amp; Steel; Cement;</li> <li>Consumer Staples (Agriculture, Food Processing &amp; Tobacco): no sub-sector Buildings: no sub-sector</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
	Number of disclosed sectoral emissions pathways	- Idem		

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information (including (IEA, 2022[80])) of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Table A B.2 provides further detail on the information summarised in Table 4.2.

Scenario model	Indicator	Information	
IEA GEC 2022	Number of modelled regions	<ul> <li>7 regions: North America, Central &amp; South America, Europe, Africa, Middle East, Eurasia, Asia Pacific</li> <li>26 sub-regions including 12 individual countries</li> <li>Several supply-side input variables have higher regional granularity:</li> <li>32 regions of which 19 countries for coal supply module</li> <li>113 regions of which 102 countries for oil and gas supply module</li> </ul>	
	Number of disclosed emissions pathways	<ul> <li>7 regions: North America, Central &amp; South America, Europe, Africa, Middle East, Eurasia, Asia Pacific</li> <li>8 sub-regions including 6 individual countries: USA, Brazil, EU, Russia, China, India, Japan, Southeast Asia</li> </ul>	
POLES-JRC 2022	Number of modelled regions	66 regions, including 54 individual countries	
	Number of disclosed emissions pathways	66 regions, including 54 individual countries	
NGFS GCAM	Number of modelled regions	32 regions: Africa (Eastern), Africa (Northern), Africa (Southern), Africa (Western), Argentina, Australia & New Zealand, Brazil, Canada, Central America and the Caribbean, Central Asia, China, Columbia, EU-12, EU-15, European Free Trade Association, Europe (Non-EU), India, Indonesia, Japan, Mexico, Middle East, Pakista Russia, South Africa, South America (Northern), South America (Southern), South A Southeast Asia, South Korea, Taiwan, USA	
	Number of disclosed emissions pathways	32 regions: same as above 185 countries	
NGFS MESSAGE	Number of modelled regions	11 regions: Sub-Saharan Africa; Centrally Planned Asia; Central and Eastern Europe; Former Soviet Union; Latin America and the Caribbean; Middle East and North Africa; North America; Pacific OECD; Other Pacific Asia; South Asia; Western Europe	
	Number of disclosed emissions pathways	11 regions: same as above 185 countries	
NGFS REMIND	Number of modelled regions	12 regions: CAZ (Canada, Australia and New Zealand); China; European Union; India; Japan; Latin America; Middle East and North Africa; non-EU member states; other Asia; reforming countries; Sub-Saharan Africa; United States	
	Number of disclosed emissions pathways	12 regions: same as above 185 countries	
UTS-ISF OECM	Number of modelled regions	10 regions 19 countries: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, South Korea, Turkey, UK, US	
	Number of disclosed	10 regions	
	emissions pathways	19 countries: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, South Korea, Turkey, UK, US	

# Table A B.2. Geographic scope and granularity of models used

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

#### Table A B.3 provides further detail on the information summarised in Table 4.3.

Covered			Not fully disclosed			
	IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Model	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>
resolution	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH4	CH4	CH4
	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other
Disclosed	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>
emissions	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CH4	CH4	CH4
pathways	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other

#### Table A B.3. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

Table A B.4 provides further detail on the information summarised in Table 4.4.

#### Table A B.4. Overview of emissions scope and granularity of disclosed emissions pathways

		IEA GEC 2022	POLES-JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
Model	Temporal scope	1970-2050	1990-2070	2005-2100	1990-2100	2005-2100	2005-2050
resolution	Temporal granularity	Annual	Annual	5 years	5 years (1990-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	5 years (2005-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	Annual (2005-2025) 5 years (2025-2050)
Disclosed	Temporal scope	2010-2050	1990-2070	2005-2100	1990-2100	2005-2100	2019-2050
emissions pathways	Temporal granularity (interval)	10 years	10 years	5 years	5 years (1990-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	5 years (2005-2060), 10 years (2060-2100)	5 years (2019-2040), 10 years (2040-2050)

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

# Annex C. Additional figures and tables

# Table A C.1. Socio-economic assumption sources

Models	Population projection source	GDP projection source
IEA 2022	medium variant of the United Nations projections (UN DESA, 2019)	IEA analysis based on Oxford Economics (2022) and IMF (2022)
NGFS3	SSP2 standard societal assumptions	SSP2 standard societal assumptions, adjusted for COVID-19 impact
GECO 2022	Eurostat, 2021 and JRC-IIASA projections (Lutz, Goujon, Kc, Stonawski, & Stilianakis, 2018)	2022 summer forecast (European Commission, 2022) and 2021 Ageing Report for the EU (European Commission, 2021) for the EU; for the rest of the world, the IMF World Economic Outlook (IMF, 2022) and the OECD CIRCLE project (OECD, 2018)
UTS-ISF OECM	UNDP Population projections 2017 (to 2050) – medium variant	GDP development projections based on average annual growth rates for 2015–2040 from IEA (WEO 2016a, b) and on IEA extrapolations

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

#### Table A C.2. CCS and CDR options represented by models

	IEA GEC 2022	POLES JRC 2022	NGFS GCAM	NGFS MESSAGE	NGFS REMIND	UTS-ISF OECM
CCS (energy, industry)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
DACCS	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No
BECCS	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Reforestation/afforestation	No	Yes	Yes, but no data	Yes	Yes	Yes
Other land sinks	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.

#### Table A C.3. IPCC framework for assessment of the feasibility of mitigation scenarios

Feasibility dimensions, associated indicators and thresholds for the onset of medium and high concerns about feasibility

Indicators	Computation	Medium	High	Source
Solar potential	Total primary energy generation from solar in a given year	1600 E I	50 000 E I	Rogner et al. (2012);
		1600 E3		Moomaw et al. (2011)
Wind potential	Total secondary energy generation from wind in a given year	830 E I	2 000 E I	Deng et al. (2015);
		000 L0	2 000 LJ	Eurek et al. (2017)
Nuclear scale up	Decadal percentage point increase in the nuclear share in			Brutschin et al. (2021);
	electricity generation	500	10pp	Markard et al.
		эрр төрр		(2020); Wilson et al. (2020)
Wind/solar scale up	Decadal percentage point increase in the wind/solar share in	10	20.22	Brutschin et al. (2021);
-	electricity generation	торр	Zupp	Wilson et al. (2020)

#### ENV/WKP(2023)15 | 89

Fossil CCS scale up	Amount of CO <sub>2</sub> captured in a given year	3.8 GtCO <sub>2</sub>	8.8 GtCO <sub>2</sub>	Budinis et al. (2018)
Energy demand decline	Decadal percentage decrease in demand	10%	20%	Grubler et al. (2018)
Biomass potential	Total primary energy generation from biomass in a given year	100 EJ	245 EJ	Frank et al. (2021); Creutzig et al. (2014)
BECCS scale up	Amount of CO <sub>2</sub> captured in a given year	3 GtCO <sub>2</sub>	7 GtCO <sub>2</sub>	Warszawski et al. (2021)
Forest cover increase	Decadal percentage increase in forest cover	2%	5%	Brutschin et al. (2021)

Source: (IPCC, 2022[30]).

### Figure A C.1. Sectoral CO<sub>2</sub> emissions pathways across scenarios



Note: Energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions only.

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.



# Figure A C.2. UTS-ISF OECM NZE industrial sub-sector emissions pathways

Source: Authors' analysis based on publicly-available information of and bilateral consultations with scenario providers.